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Monday, February 18, 2007


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:33 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Millar.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.


We're going to get back in the EnergyLink and bill insert cross‑examination, but there are a couple of preliminary matters.


One actually deals with a document that is sought to be filed in confidence by Mr. Warren, and I note he is not here yet, but he sent me an e‑mail hoping to get this dealt with.  This is the report filed by Mr. Bower on behalf of CCC, Schools, VECC and IGUA.  He would like to just ascertain if this will be granted confidential status, or not.  So I thought we could try and deal with that here.  


I note he is not here, but members certainly of VECC and Schools are here, and they may be able to speak, if there are any objections.  There are no objections from Board Staff.  I don't know if there are objections from any other party.  If there are not, I would suggest we could perhaps grant this confidential status now and be finished with it.


MR. KAISER:  Any objections?


MR. MATTHEWS:  I have one question, Mr. Chair, for Direct Energy.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, sir.


MR. MATTHEWS:  In some discussions with Mr. Warren, there was an indication that EGD, Enbridge, had a concern with Direct Energy seeing some of this material and therefore it was not circulated to us.  


Our concern is that if ‑‑ I have signed the confidentiality undertaking and I believe our counsel has, as well.


On that basis, I would assume that at least our counsel would see that document and be able to talk to us so we could participate in the hearing.


MR. KAISER:  I would have thought so.  Any problem, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Matthews spoke to us just before the Board came in about this issue.  I'm sorry, I'm not familiar with what the concerns might be in relation to the material and what might be seen by Direct Energy.


I don't have a concern with what Mr. Matthews has described, but that is subject to the qualification that I am not even sure what the underlying issue is with respect to Direct Energy seeing material.


MR. KAISER:  Was the objection from Mr. Warren, as opposed to EGD?


MR. MATTHEWS:  I think Mr. Warren indicated or it was his understanding that EGD had a concern.  He didn't express a concern himself.  We weren't members of the consultative.


MR. KAISER:  I know.  Maybe you could sort it when Mr. Warren gets here.  It sounds like it is just an oversight.  Is that sufficient?


MR. MILLAR:  That is.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, Mr. Battista reminds me that there is in fact a second document for which confidentiality status has been requested and the Board hasn't dealt with.


This was an Enbridge finance plan that was filed on behalf of the company on January 19th, a letter from Mr. Stevens.  It was actually mentioned last week, but there hasn't been a ruling by the Board yet, so I don't know if the parties are prepared to deal with that.  In fact, I don't know if there are any objections.  There are no objections from Board Staff.


If possible, I thought we could get that out of the way right now, as well.


MR. KAISER:  I think this is what Mr. Shepherd was referring to in part of his examination.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I think actually Mr. Warren was referring to it.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  He may have a view on whether it should be confidential, so I wonder if we could put that down until ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we could put that off until he arrives, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Where are we with all of these outstanding undertakings, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cass is here, so we can ask him what is outstanding and when it might be filed.


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I'm sorry, I don't have a list of all of those that are outstanding.


There was a group of undertaking responses that was submitted.  I believe, if I have the date correctly, it was February 16th, so I think that was on Friday.  I won't read out all the numbers of them, but these were undertakings covering days 3 to 7 of the hearing; again, not all of the undertakings from those days, but without reading the numbers, they start in the three series and they up to the seven series, so that is days 3 to 7 of the hearing.


There was one difficulty that Mr. Bourke brought to my attention.  I believe it is a response to undertaking J4.7.  It refers to another undertaking response, J5.2.  In fact, J5.2 was not part of the package.  I think it's in preparation, but it has not actually been completed for filing yet.  So there was that oversight in the package that was sent out on Friday.


MR. KAISER:  I had asked one of your witnesses for J10.7.  Is that part of the package?


MR. CASS:  No.  J10.7, is that an EnergyLink ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I know that Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward has been working away on several responses, but I don't believe she has been able to complete them.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  There was a work sheet she said she would have.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  If I may, was that the undertaking with respect to the market penetration, how we got the volumes?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, he forecasted volumes of 10 million cubic metres and the forecasted participants.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  That -- we do anticipate we'll be in a position to file that today.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.  Why don't we ‑‑ do we need to give these an exhibit, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  I don't think so, sir, because they already have their undertaking numbers.


MR. KAISER:  Let's distribute them, anyway.  Do we have them?  Yes.  That is this package, is it?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, there are two other items I assume are in your package that I wanted to address.  They don't have undertaking numbers.


MR. KAISER:  All right, go ahead.


MR. CASS:  First -- the first one bears the heading "Transcript Clarification Day 9, Transcript 172 and 173."  That was a question you asked, Mr. Kaiser, regarding a letter that Mr. Hoey had written to the Board, and it was not given an undertaking number, but the response to your question about the letter is in the document that has that heading on it.  And that, I think, should be given an exhibit number.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have that, Mr. Millar?  I don't have it.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I have it here, Mr. Chair.  If you don't have copies, we can bring them up.  Unless there is any objections to it being granted an exhibit number, it will be K11.1.  Mr. Cass, there is also a second one, as well.


EXHIBIT NO. K11.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "TRANSCRIPT 
CLARIFICATION, DAY 9, TRANSCRIPT 172 AND 173." 

MR. CASS:  Yes, there is.  I was going to address that one next.  The second one is in a quite different category.  It bears the heading "Transcript Clarification, Day 7, Transcript 93."  This is a clarification that Mr. Boyle has provided.  Upon reviewing the transcript, he's realized that he needs to clarify the answer he gave when, as the Board will recall, there was a discussion about the effect of changes in accounting depreciation on how those would flow through to revenue requirement.  


Mr. Boyle has provided this clarification in that regard after having reviewed what he said on the transcript.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Any objection to that, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. MILLAR:  K11.2.  And I will bring them up, Mr. Chair.


EXHIBIT NO. K11.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "TRANSCRIPT 


CLARIFICATION, DAY 7, TRANSCRIPT 93."

MR. KAISER:  Okay, thank you.


MR. CASS:  That's all I had by way of preliminary matters, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Where were we on the examination of this panel?


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure who is next.  We're still finishing up the EnergyLink issues, and then we're getting to bill inserts, I believe.  Mr. Buonaguro, are you up first?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I can go on EnergyLink.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we should just check who is left.  Board Staff has a few questions on EnergyLink, and I believe there may be one or two other parties in addition to VECC.  Anyone else?


MR. MATTHEWS:  I think the last day we were here, we were ready ‑‑ I think we were on deck, but I am in your hands who should go first here.  We had a few clean-up questions on EnergyLink and a few clarification questions on inserts and we'll be 15, 20 minutes.


MR. KAISER:  All right, go ahead.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 7 (resumed)


Paul Green; Previously Sworn


Wendy Cain; Previously Sworn


Kerry Lakatos-Hayward; Previously Sworn 


Stephen McGill; Previously Sworn

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MATTHEWS:

MR. MATTHEWS:  Good morning, panel.  Why don't I start with the questions on the inserts, and then, as you are aware, Mr. Chair, Direct Energy has signed the partial agreement on inserts and so these questions are presented to assist the Board in clarifying the proposal and what's before the panel.


The way I looked at the insert proposal was that it was a proposal to allow the continuation of inserts on, I would call it, a trial basis, but on a continuing basis, such that ratepayers could continue to benefit and industry could continue to access the envelope.  Is that a fair understanding of what the proposal does?  


MR. GREEN:  That's correct.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  And in the proposal, the ratepayer benefits are approximately half a million dollars, on an annual basis?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  If you refer to the updated JT5, table 8, the updated forecast total revenues costs and earnings from third-party bill inserts services.  The anticipated ratepayer benefit -- and we had, for the purposes of the forecast, assumed two bill inserts per month, ratepayer benefit was 484,573.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you.  If the inserts’ capability was used to its fullest capacity, I believe that is seven inserts, what would the ratepayer benefit be under that scenario?  Approximately.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  I think that the answer really is predicated on what assumptions you make.  As you may recall, that part of the proposal was allowing the third-party user to bid in what postal codes or region that they wished to take.  


So we would certainly be happy to take this as an undertaking.  However, I did do a calculation here and assuming that if all seven slots in a month were used every single month, three of them had taken $1.6 million, two took about half a million, and two, if you recall we had reserved those for small users who only wanted a couple of postal codes, but if we assume that two were willing to bid in for 10,000 customers, the expected ratepayer benefit would be about a million dollars.  And I can, subject to check, and if its helpful, I can file that as an undertaking.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  No, I think that's fine.  The use of the envelope, though, if it was used to its fullest capacity and you had full bidding across the franchise for five of those slots, would that number be considerably higher, that $1 million?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, it would be.  It would be higher, yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  It could be $3 million or $4 million?
MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We would have to take an undertaking to look at that.  In terms of the ratepayer benefit.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Can we get an undertaking, then?  


MR. MILLAR:  J11.1.  Mr. Matthews, would you please restate the undertaking.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  The undertaking would be to calculate the maximum ratepayer benefit that could occur from fully utilizing the envelope as proposed under the proposal.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.1:  to calculate the maximum 
ratepayer benefit that could occur from fully 
utilizing the envelope as proposed under the proposal

MR. MATTHEWS:  That's the partial settlement proposal.  


Now, with respect to the previous use of the envelope, could you confirm the capacity there?  It's my understanding that that was about two to three inserts for Direct Energy and about three to four for the company.  So the maximum in the past was normally around seven inserts, six to seven inserts.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, that would sound reasonable, that on any given month, that the company would have between two to three inserts.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Now, under your current interim program where you're having pilots run for inserts, you are using a bidding process to allocate space for those envelopes?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  We believe that that is the fairest and most equitable way to allocate those spaces.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  In the proposal, there are five slots that would be allocated on competitive bidding and two that would be allocated on a different type of competitive bidding?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  The five slots would be allocated on to those parties who were willing to bid the maximum amount for that space.  So that would be a combination of the price per bill insert, times the number of -- or customers they were seeking to target.  The last two slots would be reserved for those parties who would be willing to pay the highest price per bill insert, but that took away the volume part in the equation.  So, again, we think that that would help to increase access for the smaller users.  


As an example, if we had a small retailer-contractor who only serviced the Peterborough area, for example, and were willing to pay 10 to 15 cents per bill insert but only wanted to reach 10,000 customers, if that ten cents was the highest price per bill insert, they would be successful in achieving that spot.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you.  Now, the proposal -- partial settlement proposal also contains a dispute resolution process.  Is that correct?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, it does.  On page 3 of Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, paragraph 9 that problem-resolution paragraph sets out that if the bidding and allocation processes restrict access in three consecutive months or the number of customer complaints increases significantly in the first two months of operation, the stakeholder committee would be convened to address the concern and, if the problem cannot be resolved within two additional months, that aspect of the insert service would be discontinued until the problem is resolved.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  So the objective of that item in the proposal is to deal with customer confusion and overloading of the envelope and any potential bidding problems with the process that's been proposed by the company?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  The intention is to work through any issues that arise collaboratively with the stakeholder committee.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Very good.  Okay I just have a couple of more questions.  They relate to EnergyLink, and due to the diligence of Mr. Shepherd and Ms. Crain, the questions that we had are quite limited.  The first one deals with the proposal itself, the EnergyLink proposal.  We would like to know what sort of planning, long-term planning has gone into that program.  And I guess the leading question would be:  What's this program look like in five years?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I was just conferring with my colleague.  It sounded like a job interview, what job do you want in five years.  But I think perhaps the best way to answer that is to really think about the outcome of what this program is trying to achieve.  And it really is to increase the -- our market penetration with natural gas throughput and with DSM opportunities as well.  


So in that regard, where do we want to be in five years?  It would be certainly to increase the market penetration and in the water heaters, to overcome some of the threats that we see with electric fireplaces, and to increase the penetration rates with respect to ranges, dryers and to start getting some inroads in the lifestyle products as well.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  I think this question was asked before but I will ask it again.  


The incremental nature of this and why did you think this had to be done?  Why did you think that the marketplace wasn't doing this?  Like, companies like Direct Energy that are out there spending money on brand and the same type of penetration that you are talking about.  Why did you think that EnergyLink was required?  


[Witness panel confers]


MS. CAIN:  Mr. Matthews, it really does go back to those 25,000 plus customers that consistently and continually phone us each and every year.  As with places like Toronto Hydro Energy Services, customers phone the electric utility.  


When it comes to natural gas, there is always going to be a segment of the population that will continue to call their gas utility, and we need to make sure that we have a mechanism in place whereby we can ensure that those customers are dealt with with pre-screened contractors.


MR. MATTHEWS:  In the past ‑‑ how long have you been at the company, Ms. Cain?


MS. CAIN:  I have been with the company just under five years.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And were you aware that referrals used to be given to the ‑‑ back to the industry when those calls came into the company?


MS. CAIN:  In my tenure at the gas company, no.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Is anyone else on the panel ‑‑


MS. CAIN:  In my tenure, it's always been go to the Yellow Pages or contact the HRAI.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Is anyone else on the panel aware of referrals that went back to the industry when those calls came into the utility?


MR. GREEN:  In my 30 years in the industry, Mr. Matthews; I was at Enbridge Gas Distribution, or back at that time when it was called Consumes Gas, where there was an Authorized Dealer Network at that time.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Now, back to the five-years plan.  I mean, that ‑‑ we heard last week that retailers were going to be added to EnergyLink.  Are there any other changes that are planned for the program going forward?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  The scope of the EnergyLink program is with respect to the HVAC contractors and the retailers for the other natural-gas appliance products.


MR. MATTHEWS:  That includes manufacturers, then, as well?


MR. GREEN:  I'm not sure how you mean "manufacturers", Mr. Shepherd ‑‑ excuse me, Mr. Matthews.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So the manufacturers are not included at all, then, in this EnergyLink program?  Like, there is no product approval here?


MR. GREEN:  The only way that the manufacturers have been involved is (a) from an information perspective, and (b) currently on the website where a customer may be looking for a specific piece of equipment or an appliance.  If you're looking at the bottom of those pages, if it's furnaces and boilers, or whether you are looking for a range or a dryer, there are manufacturer website links.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay, thank you.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Sorry, if I could just perhaps add with respect to the manufacturers, we have indicated in previous days of testimony that EnergyLink is not about recommending product and not recommending price.  And going forward, that will continue to be a principle for the program.


To that extent, I think manufacturers see the value of that and that some of them are recommending the program to their specific contractors and dealers and see the value.


So to the extent that we can make information available to customers to help them make wise choices, we will.  As we go forward with this program, we will, you know, continue to learn or take the learnings and refine the program accordingly.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you.  Is there any intention to ‑‑ right now, let me just confirm this.  The program is free?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So contractors can use this program, and they get the benefit of the brand and the co‑op advertising for free?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  There is no charge for contractors to use this program.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  In the future, are you considering a pay-for-service approach; in other words, a payment for referrals, for instance?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Initially, in the design of EnergyLink - and at the time it was known as Project Atocha - that was one of the considerations that we looked at, would we charge for the service.  We have ruled that out.  We believe that it's best served that this is a free service for contractors and for customers.  


Again, what we're trying to do is connect customers with the pre-screened contractors and retailers.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Why was pay-for-service ruled out?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I tried to elaborate in my last answer, but, again, we want to make sure that there's the maximum uptake by contractors and by customers.  We don't want this to be a barrier of entry for contractors and other participants who wish to join the program.  That's really not where we see the value.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Just a minute, please.


Is there any consideration given to what's being considered, I think by the CRTC now, to allow more favoured access, better strikes on the web page through pay-for-service on that basis?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  This panel is unaware of the CRTC ruling, so that hasn't factored into --


MR. MATTHEWS:  Sorry, maybe I shouldn't have mentioned that.  It was just something that is on the radio this morning.  It hasn't been proposed yet by the CRTC.  What they're considering is, on the Internet, allowing certain companies to pay for better access to get more referrals through their web pages, and a similar approach could be used for referrals for EnergyLink.  


Is anything like that being considered?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, again, I think it would be very speculative and conjecture if it is something that is just part of a new story this morning.  Again, I think it would be highly speculative.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So you didn't consider anything like that for EnergyLink?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  With respect to rebates and incentives, the company has had some history with providing incentives and rebates for programs to induce certain behaviour.


Are similar things being considered under EnergyLink?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  As you indicated, Enbridge Gas Distribution has had numerous rebate and incentive programs and will continue to have those.  What the EnergyLink program does provide is another cost‑effective mechanism that complements rebates and incentives to help drive the growth results we're looking for.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So the access to these incentives and the rebate programs is not limited to EnergyLink users, is it?


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think in that regard, that hasn't been determined.  What we would like to do is there will be, I think, various rebate and incentives that will be offered for all of the -- all of the contractors and channel partners. 


But as we did talk about, there are, contemplated in the design of EnergyLink, exclusive sales campaigns.  So we do wish to have, if the situation is correct, the ability to have specific offers for those EnergyLink participants.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So there would be some programs that were incented by ratepayer dollars that would have special access for EnergyLink program users only?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's a possibility.  Again, what we need to keep in mind here is that these are rebate and incentives to drive results with respect to added load.  So they do help to lower overall distribution rates.


MR. MATTHEWS:  We heard last week again, I think, that there was no tie to the financing program and no special treatment for people that were on EnergyLink or contractors who just wanted to use the financing program.  Now we're hearing there may be some other incentive or financial programs that would have special treatment.  Why is there a difference?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, I just want to make sure we're not confusing the issue here.  


Last week, when we were talking about the financing program, that -- the settlement agreement did not put any limitations with respect to EnergyLink participation.  So that's very different than incentives or rebate offers.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  So is there an understanding that by incenting EnergyLink-authorized contractors, you expect to get more throughput than you do from incenting HVAC contractors?  Or somebody like Direct Energy?  Is the throughput any different than you get from those two people?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I would agree that the throughput is the same wherever we get it.  I think the objective and the strategy here is to create an incented channel and this is part of a channel partnership strategy, where we're trying to use the resources as effectively as possible to achieve the maximum results with respect to natural-gas throughput.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  So I guess the question I would have is that you think that this incentive channel is more productive on a per-dollar-invested basis for your rebates than the other channel, than any other channel in the industry?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We believe that it complements the existing channels.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  Those are my questions. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Matthews. Mr. Buonaguro.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  I want to limit my questions right now to EnergyLink and talk about inserts in a while.  


First of all, as I understand it, one of the main reasons or one of the driving forces behind doing something along the lines of EnergyLink is the 25,000 or so unbid referrals that you get every year, or request for referrals; is that correct?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That certainly is a key driver with respect to the customer service.  In the examination- in-chief, we did talk a number of the key drivers with respect to market stagnation - the loss of water-heater load and penetration, some of the challenges we were facing in the fireplace market, and just the overall stagnation we were seeing in the penetration of other burner-tip applications.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that.  But the truth is in addition to all of that, you have 25,000 calls per year, people looking for some kind of referral and you need to be able to do something or you want to be able to do something with those people.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  For clarification, is any part of the 25,000 referral base connected to people looking for Direct Energy-related service with respect to water-heater rentals?  


 [Witness panel confers]


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That number is, I'll say, clean of any Direct Energy calls or anything like that.  These are 25,000 customers looking for information on natural-gas appliance products.  And as we've talked about, these customers want to connect with the utility and look for their assistance and education on, you know where should they turn. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  So on top of the 25,000, would be people who have called Enbridge by mistake for service on their rental water heater?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably that 25,000 call base would be as a result of some of the feeling people have about Enbridge.  I relate you back to your survey information, for the reference sake, it is D1, tab 11, schedule 14, which is your EnergyLink survey which shows that 46 percent of people would call Enbridge if they want a service, and I think it is 19 percent would call Enbridge if they want referral for an appliance or of some sort.  And I think it also says that 70 percent of people would rely on Enbridge for a good referral or for information relating to service or appliances.  That would be the reason people were calling in the first place and that's why you would generate 25,000 calls a year?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that would be a fair characterization.  Customers are -- want to connect with their utility and we are an objective, unbiased energy source.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, when was the last time Enbridge actually serviced an appliance or was -- actually dealt with appliance installation?  


MR. McGILL:  It probably would have been in September of 1999.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So actually it's been almost, it's been seven, eight years since Enbridge has had anything to do with the business, presumably hasn't advertised it is in that business, because it's not; and still you get these 25,000 calls per year.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that's correct, that, again, customers are looking to the utility to provide that kind of -- that kind of information service.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you were just answering some questions having to do with rebates and incentives.  As I understood your earlier evidence, part of the EnergyLink proposal is not any kind of price regulation.  Is that correct?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you don't delve into what prices these EnergyLink partners or proposed partners are going to charge, or how to negotiate with the customer in the house on a particular appliance?  


MS. CAIN:  That's correct.  We absolutely do not.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you are, it appears, going to be offering rebates and incentives to EnergyLink partners or that is part of the plan, to, I guess, bundle with their negotiation with the customer.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  That's part of the, I think, the longer-term proposal.  


And I should clarify that for 2007 and beyond, there is no limitation on rebates and incentives.  What I'm trying to say is that we do not want to rule this out in the future.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So what you'll have is EnergyLink-approved contractors in the house with EnergyLink-specific rebates or incentives they can offer the customer, such that the customer may feel they're getting a special deal.  But since you don't actually regulate the price, the total price which the rebater incentive is being applied to, there is no guarantee that the customer is going to get any particular good deal from the contractors.  Is that a fair line of logic?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, I think that we would have to look at the current rebates and incentives and that logic would still apply.  We have no way of knowing the end price that the customer and the contractor ends up negotiating, and similarly, in EnergyLink we would have no knowledge and no influence on the price between that contractor and the customer.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But in the case of EnergyLink, these are rebates or offers that they can hold out as EnergyLink specific as opposed to a general industry-wide rebate or incentive that's available.  Right?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, that's correct.  And I would also like to add that there are, again, no price for contractors to join EnergyLink, and no restrictions, other than the minimum business, I'll call business practices that Mr. Shepherd took us through at a fair length the other day.  


So in that regard, we would have to look at:  What are the barriers of entry for contractors and other participants to join EnergyLink.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Back to the 25,000 referrals.  I guess in thinking about it, I guess there is only a couple of things you could do.  You could actively campaign to stop people from calling Enbridge; right?  I'm not suggesting you want to do that, I'm just saying it's theoretical.  If you want to deal with the referrals, you could actively tell them to:  Stop call calling us, we can't refer you out to anybody.  


MR. McGILL:  In the early part of the decade, shortly after, we did move the retail businesses out into Enbridge Services Inc. at the time.  We did actively communicate with customers, by way of bill inserts and newspaper advertisements, to clarify what the role of the company was going to be, and, for certain types of service, they needed to call different industry participants, other than the utility.


And to some extent, that kind of education activity has gone on -- off and on over the last six or seven years.  And despite that, we still get these kinds of calls.


And I think there is a good reason for that, in that customers are aware that the utility is responsible for the safe use of natural gas.  They look at us as a source for reliable, unbiased information.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess one of the other options is what you're proposing as EnergyLink, but somewhere in between the two, I would expect there is an option of providing referrals without any type of quote/unquote branding associated with it, so you could create a list of contractors that meets your standards, but without having to advertise them in a general sense.  That would be a possibility?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, I think I would agree that is a possibility.  However, I think it's deficient on a couple of aspects.


First and foremost, you know, your own words, you're saying that Enbridge is still ‑‑ I think you kind of struggled with it -- in creating this list, that we need to do some kind of pre-screening.


So in that regard, we are making -- you know, we are taking the contractors through that same process that we are today.  And customers' expectation is that these contractors ‑‑ we're referring them to these partners.  So whether you have the brand on, or not, I think is going to be immaterial in the customer's mind.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions on EnergyLink.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Mr. Millar?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  If there is no one else, I have a couple of questions, thank you, Mr. Chair.


Good morning, panel.  I wanted to look ‑‑ I wanted to make sure I have the costs of the program correct.  If we look first at ‑‑ you can find this in Exhibit K6.3 at page 3, if you have that.  This is Mr. Klippenstein's book of documents, I believe, but the evidentiary reference is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 25, page 3 of 3.  It's on the screen now.


Under EnergyLink - that's number 13 at the bottom - I see the program costs for 2007 are shown as 1.036 million; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct, with just a clarifying comment that that does not include the overheads associated with the program.


MR. MILLAR:  Where can we find those overheads?  Are they recorded anywhere?  I was going to take you next ‑‑ I don't know if this helps or not, but in the prefiled, the 2007 budget, the O&M budget is shown as 1.3 million.  I'm sorry, it's an interrogatory response, Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4, page 11.


In there, we see - it's on your screen - the 2007 budget for O&M is 1.3 million.  Is that inclusive of overheads?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So does this chart need to be ‑‑ table 1, if we can go back to the previous exhibit, are all of the calculations there based on the 1.036 million, for example, the net present value?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Subject to check, the line we have less the overheads...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Microphone on.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Sorry.  Subject to check, with this exhibit, the overheads are combined together for all of the residential market programs, the life and PV of negative 2.49, TRC negative 2.49 ‑‑ well, across the board, negative 2.49.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure that answered the question.  Maybe it did, but does the net present value calculation -- is that based on 1.036 million or -- it looks like it is.  Is it or should it be based on the 1.3 million, which is inclusive of overheads?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  The net present value calculations was based on the 1.036, and the remainder, to make up to the 1.3 million, is combined in the overheads in the line below.


MR. MILLAR:  But just for EnergyLink itself, it doesn't include all of the O&M costs, the net present value; is that fair to say?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.  Again, I just want to point out that with this exhibit, it takes a one‑year snapshot of activity for 2007 and takes that over the life of the program benefit.  So it doesn't take into account all of the future years, what is the activity in 2008, what is the activity in 2009, et cetera.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, this calculation doesn't include capital costs either, does it?  It's just the O&M?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We would have to take an undertaking on that.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, just let me ‑‑ I will ask you to take that undertaking, but just let me ask a couple of more questions to make sure we get it all.


What I will probably be asking you to do is, after you can check ‑‑ first check if the capital is in or not.  I'm hoping you can rerun the net present value to be -- for the EnergyLink program to be inclusive of the overheads and of capital.  Could you do that, as well, please?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, we could.


MR. MILLAR:  That's undertaking J11.2.  Just to summarize it, that is to update the net present value found in, for EnergyLink in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 25, page 3 of 3, to be inclusive of overheads and capital expenditures.


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.2:  TO UPDATE NET PRESENT VALUE 


FOR ENERGYLINK IN EXHIBIT I, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 25, PAGE 


3 OF 3 TO INCLUDE OVERHEADS AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURES.

MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  And certainly I can confirm that through the undertaking.  I was just quickly looking at something else, and I do believe that the net present value is inclusive of the capital expenditures, but, again, I will confirm that.


MR. MILLAR:  So you can confirm that as part of the undertaking response.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  While we're speaking of capital, I just want to make sure we have our capital numbers straight, as well.  If we look at Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4, page 11?  We were looking at that just a minute ago.


I see here that it is showing capital for 2006 is about $3.3 million and for 2007 about 2.7 million; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, if we turn to the business case upon which the EnergyLink program is based, that's another undertaking response ‑‑ or interrogatory response, I'm sorry.  Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 10.  It's marked as attachment, but I don't see an attachment number.  And then page 10 of 17.


I'll give that reference again.  It's Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 10, page 10 of 17.  It's on the screen if you are having difficulty pulling it up.  


Now, these numbers at the bottom are a little hard to see.  They have been blown up a little.


I see -- if we look to the line marked "Less: Capital Investment", I see numbers there of 3.3 million for 2006, and then for 2007 I see 1.076 million.


So are we talking about the same numbers here?  Obviously they're different, but are they meant to reflect the same thing?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, they're not.  Maybe I can help clarify this.


This business case takes more of a -- I'll call it a project finance approach, rather than what I tried to explain, the previous Pollution Probe exhibit was really looking at.  This is the 2007 activity or the results that we're going to generate, and then take that specific activity over the length of the measure.


What this business case reflects is the -- an overall, What are the total results that we anticipate to achieve over the program over a ten‑year basis.


If I can help clarify the situation, as well, that in the same exhibit, schedule 10, the actual -- not the attachment but the actual exhibit, we did -- page 1, we did update the net present value and the IRR to be consistent with Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4.  


And the 10-year net present value of the program is 4.1.  So that is based on the 2.6 million capital and 1.3 O&M.  And the associated IRR is 19 percent. 


MR. MILLAR:  So just to make sure I'm entirely clear, I'm not sure I understood all of that and I'm not sure I have to, but just to ensure the Board has its numbers correct.  The correct capital numbers are the ones found in Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  Those are the ones that are used or will be used in the undertaking for the net present value calculation?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And that's also true of the O&M numbers?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  


I would like to explore a little bit exactly what the $1.3 million, the O&M expenses cover.  


I've just got a list of things I will go through and maybe you can confirm that these are included in that $1.3 million or you can tell me they're not.  


I just heard you say that the general overheads are included in that 1.3 million?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  What types of things would be in general overheads, is this floor space and stuff like that?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  This is a utility service.  So we would -- I mean to the extent that, if we had to, to build some new offices certainly would include it, but, no this is -- we're using our existing space.  So this is for staff in the opportunity development area.  


MR. MILLAR:  So these are all staff costs?  The general overheads would just be staff costs?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Would these just be for new staff or for staff that are already employed, but are now spending some of their time on EnergyLink?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  These are incremental costs.  Again, this is a utility service, so these are incremental costs associated with new staff adds. 


MR. MILLAR:  Just new staff?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  So the total new staff are only about -- I guess it is from 1.036 million to 1.3 million, the total new staff are captured in that $300,000?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I apologize.  Could you repeat the question, please?  


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  When we switched from the 1.036 million, that was the original figure and then you said that wasn't inclusive of overheads.  So to get to 1.3 million it is about another $300,000, a little bit less than that; that covers all of the new staff?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And is any portion of your salary or any of the members of the panel included in these general overheads, any allocation from the work that you do?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  Again, this is a utility service.  So this is incremental costs.  


MR. MILLAR:  So there is no managerial-oversight costs except to the extent you may have hired a new manager, there is no managerial-oversight costs?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  What about liability insurance, is that included in the 1.3 million?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think Mr. McGill had talked about the fairly rigorous indemnifications that we have in our contract.  We have budgeted $50,000 for claims in the 1.3 million.  


MR. MILLAR:  That's the costs of defending claims?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  


MR. MILLAR:  That's increased insurance costs?  Premiums, I'm sorry.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Settlement costs.  You know if we've got a customer who gets mud on their floor and we have to help settle that, we have put aside $50,000 for those kinds of -– 


MR. MILLAR:  That's not an insurance cost.  That is a cost that Enbridge would pay out of goodwill or something like that?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  And have you had any discussions about the EnergyLink program with your insurer?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We have had discussions with risk management.  


MR. MILLAR:  Pardon me?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  With risk management.  


MR. MILLAR:  But not with your -- I assume Enbridge has an external insurer for all sorts of things.  Has EnergyLink been brought up with your insurer?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I am unaware of the conversations our risk-management group has had with them.  All I can say is we've had those discussions and involved them through all stages of the program design.  


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't know if there is any increased premium, increased insurance payments as a result of EnergyLink?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm not aware of any.  


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask for an undertaking just to check with your risk management department, to find out if there are any increased premiums. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Certainly. 


MR. MILLAR:  So the undertaking will be J11.3, and it is to check with your risk management department to determine if there are any increased insurance premiums as a result of the EnergyLink program.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.3: to check with THE risk-


management department to determine if there are any 


increased insurance premiums as a result of the 


EnergyLink program


MR. MILLAR:  Again, looking at the, what is captured in the O&M expenses.  Is any of that dedicated to analyzing the data that's generated as a result of this program?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That would be the staff that we've hired who would be doing the data assessment and reporting. 


MR. MILLAR:  So that is included?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  And you've spoke with some other people.  I confess I can't recall who, but something about a complaints resolution process or ensuring that customers are satisfied with the contractors.  


Are any -- are those costs included in the 1.3 million?


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  We have approximately $100,000 set aside for what we call technical advisors, so they would be staff in our operations group who could work with the customer and contractor, you know, and this is really the end of that process, but to try and get some resolution on a particular problem. 


MR. MILLAR:  So they are included?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  What about advertising costs?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We have approximately $400,000.  


MR. MILLAR:  So about a third of the total budget is for advertising?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  Sorry it's probably between four to six -- sorry, 400,000 to 600,000.  


MR. MILLAR:  So between a third and almost half, I guess.  


And that includes, I guess there are print ads; is that correct?  


MR. GREEN:  That would be one of the mediums, Mr. Millar.  It could be print - 


MR. MILLAR:  Billboards and radio are the three that I am familiar with.  Are there TV ads?  


MR. GREEN:  Not with a budget of $600,000. 


MR. MILLAR:  No I didn't think so, I just wanted to make sure.  But this $400,000 to $600,000 is inclusive of all advertising expense?  


MR. GREEN:  Yes, sir.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Is there anything I am missing, anything else included in that $1.3 million?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We have budgeted approximately $100,000 for incremental sales calls. 


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, there is the air-conditioning. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Sorry.  We have budgeted approximately $100,000 to cover sales calls, coming in, associated with EnergyLink.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Millar, sorry, could I just interject.  Would it be possible to get a detailed budget of the capital and O&M for EnergyLink?  


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not opposed to asking for that.  Can that be provided easily?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  So that will be J11.4.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.4: TO PROVIDE A detailed budget 
of the capital and O&M expenditures for 2007  


MR. MILLAR:  A detailed budget of the O&M expenditures for 2007.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I would think capital would be useful, as well.  


MR. MILLAR:  Is the company willing to provide the capital budget as well?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  We will include that in the undertaking.  Thank you.  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  


Let me turn quickly to - this is still on the costs - Exhibit I, tab 15, schedule 3, page 2 of 10.  You will see it is on your screen if you're having trouble pulling it up.  


Can you confirm for me that all of the $1.3 million is captured in the market development budget and the total for market development, you will see, is just over nine million.  Is all of the EnergyLink O&M budget captured in that?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, it is.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  


So there is no EnergyLink spending, for example, under energy opportunities or business development and strategy, or opportunity development administration?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  It is under the market development. 


MR. MILLAR:  Exclusively under market development?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  So no time is spent under these other budgets on EnergyLink matters?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Could I ask you to clarify, when you say "time spent"?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, the staff who are working on energy opportunities or opportunity-development administration, does any of the budget under these matters -- is it actually spent on EnergyLink‑related issues?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, they might be as part of management oversight.  Again, I will reiterate:  This is a utility service, and we do not, for our own programs -- you know, it could be EnergyLink, it could be a grill program.  We do not typically allocate or have time sheets for those kinds of programs.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So none of those costs are allocated to the EnergyLink budget?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I want to move on quickly to the increased load that you are hoping to see or predicting to see from the EnergyLink program.


If we can turn back to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 25, page 3.  That was the first exhibit we just looked at.  First, let me confirm that certainly one of the major goals, if not the major goal, of the EnergyLink program is to increase load; is that fair to say?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  That's where the benefits arise for the ratepayers, although I did hear you say increased convenience, as well, but certainly one of the big benefits is from increased load?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Increased load retention, and we did talk also about DSM and the customer service aspect, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If we look again at the exhibit that we have on the screen under EnergyLink, first of all, I see the increased volumes for 2007 are predicted to be 8 million m3; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  That's what -- the net present value calculation is based at least partially on that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It's based on the 8 million cubic metres, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Now, if I could ask you to turn to Exhibit C, 1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 8.


This is part of your prefiled evidence, I believe.  Table 3 is called "Factors Influencing The Changes In Residential Gas Consumption".


If we look down to growth initiatives or added load, I see a number of 3.4 -- 3.4 million m3.  I'm wondering if you can help me reconcile that with the increase in 8 million m3 that is expected from the EnergyLink program alone.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I can ‑- we probably have to take an undertaking to do a full reconciliation.  I will add, from my previous knowledge of volumetric budgeting, that these would be effective in that year.  So that would be partially effective.


The numbers for the 8 million are fully effective.


MR. MILLAR:  Normally you take -- I don't know how this works, but for 2007 you would take half the figure, is that right, about 4 million, half of the eight?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It depends on the program, but that is a reasonable approximation.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you confirm for me that the ‑‑ on this table 3, where it says growth initiatives or added load, EnergyLink is only a part of that; it is not the entire volumes?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That would be correct.  We would have to take an undertaking on that.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I will ask for an undertaking to, I guess, reconcile the 8 million ‑‑ the predicted 8 million m3 and added load from EnergyLink with what is showing on table 3 of Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 8.  That will be undertaking J11.5.


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.5:  RECONCILE THE PREDICTED 8 
MILLION M3 AND ADDED LOAD FROM ENERGYLINK WITH WHAT IS 

SHOWN ON TABLE 3 OF EXHIBIT 1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, 


PAGE 8

MR. MILLAR:  Just while we're on this, this table was used to -- as an input in calculating the revenue deficiency; is that correct?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's my general understanding of ‑‑ well, this is an explanation for the overall revenue forecast for the company, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That would have segued ultimately into the revenue deficiency?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That would be correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  If I could ask you to turn to Exhibit I, tab ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, could I stop you there.  Just to follow up on that before you move on.


If this table is used in the revenue deficiency, and for that purpose you are assuming a 3.4 increase in load, and if instead it was 32.3, which is at the other table Mr. Millar was referring to in the previous slide, what would be the difference in the revenue deficiency?  Can you give us an undertaking on that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, we could.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, just so we're clear, the difference you're seeking is the difference between 3.4 million m3 and 8 million m3?


MR. KAISER:  No.  The total m3 coming from this sector is 32.3.  Eight is just EnergyLink.  As she answered your question, the 3.4 is all growth initiative programs.  So apples to apples is 3.4 compared to 32.3.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if the witness panel understands, that's fine.  I don't see the 32.3 million, but maybe I'm --


MR. KAISER:  The 32.3 is the total increase in volume forecasted for 2007 for all of their programs.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If the ‑‑ I see the witness panel nodding, so we can give that undertaking J11.6.


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.6:  PROVIDE DIFFERENCE IN REVENUE 
DEFICIENCY USING 32.3 AS TOTAL INCREASE IN VOLUME 


FOR 2007

MR. MILLAR:  Is that all, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If I could ask the panel to turn to Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4, page 11.


I think we looked at this before.  This is ‑‑ but I am asking a different set of questions here.  There were some questions about the proposed financing program, and that's described very briefly in the second sentence where it says:  ~"In response, EnergyLink partners will be offered a non‑mandatory Enbridge Inc. financing program to provide them with additional sales tools to increase the penetration of natural-gas appliances."


You have been asked a number of questions about this topic before, but can you tell me, if EI is going to be the only financier, if I can call them that, that will be part of EnergyLink or is proposed to be part of EnergyLink?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No.  In fact, if I ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  I think your mike is off.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I will get the hang of this one of these days.


If I can just keep reading from that interrogatory, we do go on to say that:   ~"Participants will be encouraged to offer the customer with a wide range of payment options, including cash, debit, Visa, lines of credit, as well as their financing programs."


So I want to be clear that there is absolutely no limitation on the EnergyLink program with any financing option that they want to bring forward to their customers.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me exactly how this -- the financing program or option will work?  How does this fit into EnergyLink?  Do you just tell the contractors to present these options to the -- to potential customers, or is it mailed out to them?  How do they know that these financing options exist?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, Enbridge Gas Distribution will have no involvement in this program that's being proposed by the unregulated affiliate.  So to the extent of how they're going to be bringing forward that program, I don't know.  


We have not provided them a list of the EnergyLink contractors, as we have not provided that list to anyone.  So it will be up to them to, you know, find out who these contractors are and, if it's attractive for that contractor to, you know, offer that financing.


I'm assuming that as part of their competitive financing options, that they will offer that, but Enbridge Gas Distribution will have no involvement in that.


MR. MILLAR:  I presume you'll tell them who the contractors are.  That's the link, if I can put it that way, with EnergyLink?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, no.  We have not provided them a list.


MR. MILLAR:  So how will they provide financing options to people if they don't know who they are?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, they'll have to find out who those EnergyLink contractors are.


MR. MILLAR:  You're not going to tell them who the EnergyLink contractors are?  


MR. McGILL:  it will be the responsibility of Enbridge Solutions to approach the marketplace with whatever program they intend to offer.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, it says that EnergyLink partners will be offered a non ‑‑ the EnergyLink partners, I assume, are the contractors?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So they ‑‑ and the retailers and the participants in EnergyLink.  They will be offered Enbridge Inc. -- an Enbridge Inc. financing program.  So is it that you tell the participants about Enbridge, and then they can ‑‑ pardon me, Enbridge Solutions, and then they can contact Enbridge Solutions?  

MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well if it is helpful, and I can clarify the matter, we had been asked by Enbridge Solutions Inc., you know, would we provide them that list.  And we declined to provide them that list.  


So they will have to, again, find whatever means to, and it could be EnergyLink, it could be any other contractor as well, that they wish to approach in that regard.  


MR. MILLAR:  But you will be giving the EnergyLink participants the Enbridge Solutions name?  I'm just trying to make sense of what this sentence means. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, I understand that.  I'm not trying to be difficult here.  


We have obligations under ARC and we do take that very seriously.  If a contractor did ask for a name of, to contact an Enbridge Solutions Inc., we would provide that.  But no differently than, I think Ms. Cain talked about earlier -- sorry, maybe on last Tuesday, that contractors were starting to approach Enbridge Gas Distribution, Where can I find rental -- providers of rental equipment?  We were trying to come up with a list for those contractors.  


MR. MILLAR:  So where it says, “EnergyLink partners will be offered a non-mandatory Enbridge Inc. financing program”, does that mean offered only if they ask for what financing options are available?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, it will be offered by Enbridge Inc., and so it will be up to them to approach the contractors and to bring that program to market.  


MR. MILLAR:  But they won't know who the contractors are, will they?  It says EnergyLink partners will be offered a non-mandatory Enbridge Inc. financing program.  And you've said that Enbridge Inc. won't be given the names of the EnergyLink partners, so I just want -- I'm trying to square the circle here, to understand how this will work on the ground.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We would assume that Enbridge Inc. will have to approach the industry at large, whether it is HVAC contractors or retailers.  


MR. MILLAR:  So there will be no type of referral whatsoever through EnergyLink to EI or Enbridge Solutions?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  


MR. MILLAR:  Nobody will be given the Enbridge Solutions name from Enbridge Gas Distribution?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, if a contractor comes and asks us:  Can you provide us the name of -- someone to contact in Enbridge Financial Solutions, we would give them the name.  But we would not -- we wouldn't solicit -- 


MR. MILLAR:  So only if they -- sorry, go ahead. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We wouldn't solicit that kind of interaction.  


MR. MILLAR:  So only if they specifically asked for the phone number for Enbridge Solutions will you provide that to them?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  Yes, that would be fair.  A fair characterization, yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Even if they asked generally what some finance companies or finance options are, you wouldn't volunteer the Enbridge Solutions name?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm trying to be responsive to your question, you know, and appreciate that you're trying to offer a number of scenarios on how we might respond.  But the company's position is that the more financing companies that are available to offer access to the utility bill -- and that's really what the contractors have told us that they want -- I think the better.  So to the extent that we can, you know, make available a list similar maybe to what the rental -- the rental water heaters, maybe that is a good idea to do. 


MR. MILLAR:  So you may be providing a list of possibilities, one of which may include Enbridge Solutions?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That might be a way to approach it, yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Is that the way you're approaching it?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, no.  Not currently we just launched in December and we're talking about a hypothetical situation here.  But I think that a reasonable way to approach that would be to provide a list of those kinds of services.  


MR. MILLAR:  To the extent that you are providing any referral to Enbridge Solutions, is it contemplated that Enbridge Solutions or anyone else for that matter will be paying any type of referral fee to Enbridge Gas Distribution?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, I maybe take you back to the first part of that answer, is if Enbridge Gas Distribution would be providing a referral, and -- 


MR. MILLAR:  If the answer is no, I guess is there no fee. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well we're not, so there is no fee. 


MR. MILLAR:  No referrals and no fees?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's right.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I just have some kind of random clean-up questions that should just take a moment.  


I noted a couple of times there were questions from Mr. Matthews this morning and someone else the other day, I can't recall, the question was, something like the EnergyLink program is free, is it not?  And the answer from the company was "yes" but just to be crystal clear, I think we were talking about free for the participants in EnergyLink.  Is that fair?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  If -- 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  If a customer uses the web or calls the call centre and says:  This is a great program, can you give me three contractors, there is no charge for that service. 


MR. MILLAR:  But the program itself is not actually free, in that ratepayers are paying the O&M and capital costs?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We spoke earlier about the advertising budget and it was mentioned that there are some radio ads.  In fact some people may have actually mentioned those in their cross-examinations.  


Is it possible to get the scripts of those radio ads?  Can I ask for an undertaking for those? 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, that's fine.  


MR. MILLAR:  That's J11.7, to provide the script of any radio ads for the EnergyLink program.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.7:  to provide the script of any 


radio ads for the EnergyLink program

MR. MILLAR:  Another quick follow-up question on the complaint-resolution process.  


I thought I heard, and I may simply have been mistaken, in response to a question, the panel mentioned that if it was necessary, the company would inspect the installation or repairs of work done by contractors.  


Did I hear that right or is that not true?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That is correct, and I'm just going to turn up the program agreement which I believe is found at Exhibit I, tab 4 -- sorry, 26, schedule 4.  


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, could I have that reference again?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4, I believe.   


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a page number?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  This is attachment, it's 2C, I believe, the program agreement.  It's page 7 of that exhibit or that attachment, I should say.  


MR. MILLAR:  So attachment 2C, page 7?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4.  If you will just give me a moment to....


Is this the right page?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  I apologize.  I must have the wrong exhibit number.  Page 15 of 25.  There we go.  


MR. MILLAR:  Is this the -- okay, here we go.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  So it's the -- what's the actual page?  It's page 15 of 25.  That's right.  


So paragraph 8 sets out EnergyLink's dispute-resolution process.  


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  And I think what's pertinent here is that about the sixth line up from the bottom of that paragraph: 

~“The participant authorizes Enbridge to independently assess any customer complaint (including by inspection any installations and or contacting the customer) and make a final determination resolving the issue.  The participant agrees that any such determination by Enbridge will be final and binding upon the participant." 


MR. MILLAR:  So you can, if circumstances warrant, send an actual inspector to have a look at the work?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  An absolute last resort.  I think if you read that paragraph in the full context, we're making every attempt for the contractor and the customer to work together to resolve the issue.  We don't want to get involved in these kinds of disputes.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It's the last resort.


MR. MILLAR:  It seems to be the last resort.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have people on staff who are able to do this, or would you have to hire someone to ‑‑


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  If you will recall, when we were going through some of the budget estimates for EnergyLink and we talked about the technical advisors in our operations group and setting aside $100,000, that would be to perform this kind of ‑-


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that's included in the budget and these are people who are currently on staff, or the budget is there for them if ‑‑


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, the budget is there for them.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that a permanent person on staff, or is this just money set aside to hire, as needed, people to do inspections?


MS. CAIN:  Currently, it's people that are existing on staff.  There is no additional personnel required.


We didn't have an absolute figure, when we launched the program, as to how many complaints we might receive.  So we certainly didn't want to jump into this and start spending a lot of unnecessary money.


I can tell you, to this point in time, we have had absolutely zero call-outs.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Now, the role of this inspector, I assume it will be to assess ‑‑ is safety what they're looking at, or is it to make sure they tidied up the work space afterwards?  What would this inspector actually inspect?


MS. CAIN:  Like we said earlier, this will be an absolute last resort.


MR. MILLAR:  Of course.


MS. CAIN:  And it is to -- if everything else has failed and there cannot be any resolution between the customer and their contractor, only then will we go and try to take one final stab at getting the customer and the contractor on the same page.


MR. MILLAR:  So is this a mediation exercise, or is it related to the safety of the installation and the work?


MS. CAIN:  It would fall probably under -- to some degree, under mediation.  There are so many variables as to what a customer may potentially complain about.  Some of them may be technical aspects.  Each one will ‑‑ we'll have to utilize our resources or the most expert resources, depending on the situation, if and when it arises.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, normally matters of inspection and safety certainly are the responsibility of the TSSA; is that correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. CAIN:  Ultimately, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


You don't do ‑‑ unless there are complaints, you don't do safety audits or random inspections or anything like that, do you?  This is just as a complaint resolution process?  Of course, I mean as part of EnergyLink.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  On the initial design of -- and, again, I'm going to use the word Project Atocha.  That was kind of the predecessor.  We, again, thought about, Would we want to do QA/QC type of inspections?  That was certainly something that was on the table.


And we decided not to do any of those inspections, so that is not part of the EnergyLink program design.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, panel.  Those are my questions on EnergyLink.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  We will take the morning break at this point, 15 minutes.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:15 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. QUESNELLE:  On the matters related to EnergyLink, just a couple of things that I would like to, I suppose, categorize it as distilling the issue down a little bit from all I've heard in the last couple of days.  I want to focus on the -- what I would term as more than just the core rationale or absolute reason for doing this.  


There has been some discussion around the role of the distributor and how it pertains or doesn't pertain to the safety elements regarding what happens beyond the meter or part of the distribution system.  


I would like to go back, and perhaps it would help if we could turn it up.  I'm in the transcript from Day 9, Volume 9.  On page 94 – sorry, back on 92.  This was an exchange between Mr. Shepherd and Mr. McGill.  I just want to clarify, I guess what I'm going through here is kind of an exercise in saying what is EnergyLink not designed to do and maybe we can arrive at something that will identify the core purpose for it.  


This was related to the responsibility that the distributor may have in dealing with the installations or equipment within a premises.  I just wondered, Mr. McGill, if I could ask you.  You were talking about, on line 6, page 92, that we still have a requirement to inspect the installation of gas equipment before we provide service to a property.  


Now, in that -- and I would like to ensure that you do not see that that responsibility as one that has any requirement beyond that of the distribution company at the point of time where it adds a customer to the system, to put it that way, in that, that is separate.  And I use an analogy, that would be no different than a city water department turning on the water to the street and going in to making sure there is a tap inside they can turn off. 


MR. McGILL:  Basically -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Turn your microphone on. 


MR. McGILL:  Our responsibility ends at the outlet of our meter.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, okay.  


MR. McGILL:  But before that service is turned on, we need to make sure that whatever it is attached to is in a safe condition. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  And that pretty well goes with any utility that is distributing any kind of service, just running through them in my head.  Electricity, they will turn the electricity on but they will check to make sure there is a main switch beyond the meter, but they're not inspecting the internal wiring, that sort of thing.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. McGILL:  Well, we do other things as well.  We respond to safety calls.  If a customer calls in the event they smell gas or sometimes if a CO detector sends out an alarm, we respond along with emergency services people when there are incidents that may or may not involve natural-gas service at the property.  


And also when we unlock a meter to initiate service, that requires a licensed gas fitter in order to do that, to make sure that the appliances downstream of that meter are in good working order.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right, okay.  But you would agree with me that EnergyLink has no bearing on that function, that there is no requirement to have EnergyLink program put in place to enhance your ability to do those things?  


MR. McGILL:  No.  I think we want to make certain, though, that any parties in the industry that we associate ourselves with are undertaking their responsibilities to ensure that that there's safe installations.  If we're going to associate ourselves with a party, we want an undertaking from that party to make sure they're going to live up to their responsibilities. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  But just on this narrow issue - because that's a little bit circular, I would suggest, that without the association you don't have to worry about that.  


The fact that you're having -- this program is about associations.  This program is about partnership.  And therefore I could certainly see that you have to ensure that you're associating yourself to people that are in line with the requirements of the industry. 


MR. McGILL:  Yes. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  In the absence of the program, you're not bringing the program in place to ensure this.  Your requirements of the participants is, one, that they are following all of the rules.  Without the program, you weren't going out to ensure that everybody in the market was following the rules.  You're not taking, as you would put it to some of the other members, had mentioned the other day, you're not taking a policing attitude towards this?  


MR. McGILL:  No.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, that's correct.  The EnergyLink program is - again, just to go back to the objectives, you know - first and foremost to help connect customers who are calling or contacting Enbridge Gas Distribution, connect them with these EnergyLink participants.  And it's to increase our added load throughput and, as a corollary as well, the demand side management opportunities.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I guess what I'm trying to get down to is the ultimate driver in this, from what I understand -- just let me know if this is a fair statement.  It is about throughput, it is about load.  All of these other things the way we're going to get there.  You've analyzed there are certain things you have to put in place to ensure a program like this has safeguards, you're associating yourself with reputable businesses and all those things.  I want to eliminate the notion it isn't about safety at this point.  You want to do things in a safe manner, because – and exercise the program in a safe manner, but it is not the driver; you're not trying to improve -- 


MR. McGILL:  No.  I think the situation would be, is if our operations people saw a trend with respect to a certain type of appliance or a certain type of installation where there were recurring problems, they would work with the TSSA, the contractors, through other parts of the industry, to bring that issue forward and make sure that the industry, in some way, shape or form dealt with it.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  


MR. McGILL:  We are an industry participant, and our people do become aware of things.  But that would be the way that those things would be addressed.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Well, on that point and just to -- I'm just getting my mind wrapped around the amount of analysis that was done when you chose to go in this direction to increase throughput.  


You're familiar with the TSSA obviously.  Did they have a program in place, as well, which is a TSSA-qualified -- quality assessed contractor program.  I'm just wondering if you are familiar with that and how you would differentiate their program, I think you're answering this already, but what is that program doing that is distinctly different than yours as far as the TSSA quality-assessed contractor program?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  My understanding of the TSSA contractor locator Toronto, is it's a list for a customer who goes in and looks at that website, it provides a list of those contractors that have gone through the TSSA requirements.  So in that regard, there is that similarity between EnergyLink and TSSA and I believe that I spoke either on Day 9 or Day 10, in that with respect to the TSSA, our requirement is, we're checking to make sure that that documentation is in place.  We're not duplicating that role of the TSSA.  They regulate that aspect.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  This is not fair, but this is perhaps in that, TSSA did come up in the discussion.  


This particular program isn't just about listing the people that have TSSA qualifications.  It's a TSSA program which enhances, it's an improvement on the base, let's put it that way.  This is a program that TSSA operates where they give additional training and additional safety support and then people are on a quality-assessed contractor list which is not just the basic -- base licensing.  What I was attempting to link here was that in that your program assumes that everyone is qualified, and your association with them and your program attributes are all about the business processes, not safety processes of your entities, the business risk, the basic customer-care initiatives, those sorts of things; is that a fair statement?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, it is.  When it comes to the safety, I think it would be a fair characterization to say we're deferring to the TSSA.  That's the benchmark we're using.


What we're trying to put in place is, from a customer point of view, What are the other things that you should look at when selecting a contractor?  So we're looking at things like the financial health and the customer dispute resolution process, things of that nature.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Those are all of a concern to you because of the association you're making with Enbridge?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that's correct.  And, again, in putting forward a service for our customers, we want to make sure that they're getting good value and good service from this program.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess that's what I'm wanting to completely understand here, because one is as an outcome of the other.  I think that I would suggest, from what I have heard, that this is about increasing load.  This is about throughput.


To get there, you have to do it a certain way, and it isn't that there was a void in the marketplace of customers not knowing where to go on these.  We've just talked about a TSSA program.  The industry has its own referral programs.


It's a means to an end for Enbridge Gas, that to increase load, this is an attractive way to do it.  It's an effective way to do it, but because the program itself has some issues around association, you're going to ensure that those partners have good business practices so that your customers aren't being sent to someone that could come back and basically harm your reputation, and also it's not ‑‑ it wouldn't be ethical?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, that ‑‑ I think that is a very fair characterization on what these standards are trying to represent here.


If I may, as well, just maybe put forward for the record that Enbridge Gas Distribution is more than willing to continue to work with the industry and other partners, such as TSSA, to refine these standards or to look at how can these other entities assist Enbridge Gas Distribution in the selection of these partners.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, I think we're in agreement, then, that this is about load, primarily.  All of the other elements of this are because -- to increase load, there is a program that is being identified as being useful, and it has its inherent issues, and all of the customer care issues and what have you are to deal with the program characteristics. 


It is a means to an end, but the end is to increase load?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Now, if ‑‑ can you also agree the reason Enbridge is interested in load and it has risk associated to load is because some of its fixed costs are paid for with volumetric flow-through?  The returns on the volumetric also go to offset fixed costs.  Otherwise, load would ride costs and there wouldn't really be harm?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I think that's correct.  I think that to the extent we have fixed costs, the higher our throughput, the more units there are to recover revenue over.  So the unit rate associated with our service would decline.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.  So there is a rate-design element to this, which would either strengthen or weaken the business case for EnergyLink?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  In that if you had a total fixed ‑‑ just to speak to the extremes here, if your revenue model or the rate design was such that all of your revenues were on a fixed basis, you would be agnostic as to what the volume flow-through was and life would be good?


MR. McGILL:  To a point.


MR. QUESNELLE:  To a point, yes.  I'm just using the extreme to illustrate something here.


So was there any consideration in options -- when you are looking at this risk, you're looking at the flow-through, to what degree or was there any discussion on applying for higher fixed cost or higher fixed revenue, basically a rate design, rate movement in that area, when looking at the EnergyLink business case?


MR. McGILL:  I'm not aware of any consideration of comparing the option of increasing the fixed component of our distribution rates versus doing something like EnergyLink.  I don't think we ever considered that ‑‑ those as two distinct alternatives.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. McGILL:  I do know that in most instances I can recall, whenever we've come before the Board as part of a rate-design issue and attempted to increase the fixed component of the rate, it has been subject of a lot of discussion before the Board and it's not something that is well received.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Fair enough.


So if -- we're of, you know, agreement that it is about the flow-through, and thinking now of the design of the program, especially in the Phase 2 elements of this -- and I just want to get some thoughts from the panel on this.


I don't mean to use -- you know, it's not charged language here, but just to use some extremes to illustrate a point.  In the second phase, some of the lifestyle products that may be promoted - and there was some evidence this morning that they may be promoted through incentives and what have you - if we look at the current list we have now, and there's been some discussion as to the trade-offs, and you're looking for efficient use of the resource ‑‑ and that when doing TRCs or comparisons, there was some discussion on a barbeque versus the indoor electric range or what have you.  


Let me use another example that may not have the countering resource that's coming off the system, the camp fires and patio heaters, for instance.  And I think there was a comment made that, yes, even a camp fire might be displacing or replacing a wood-burning fireplace.


But given Enbridge's footprint and its makeup of its customer base, any analysis as to what the take-up might be on camp fires in urban areas that don't have, currently, the ability to burn wood?  Most urban areas are covered with bylaws that forbid the burning of combustibles outdoors where natural gas would be allowed, and that there may be -- throughput obviously would increase, and that's a good thing, but basically we're not looking at any counter-prevailing fuel coming off line.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Perhaps I can try and address it this way.


Enbridge Gas Distribution believes that -- it takes its demand side management responsibilities very seriously, and we believe that we brought forward a good portfolio of programs, and we believe that there is that balance between promoting gas and promoting its wise use of that natural gas.


With respect to the outdoor lifestyle products, the penetration with our customer base is fairly low right now.  Subject to check, it's in the 1 to 2 percent area.  But I think, you know, when we look at is the glass half full, half empty, certainly there is not a lot of penetration right now, because a lot of these products are, you know, fairly new and difficult to find.  And this is what the EnergyLink program is trying to do, is to make customers more aware of how to get them.


I can say that in other jurisdictions, where it's a little bit more mature, the penetration rates are higher, and when customers -- we do know from ‑‑ where customers are wanting to spend their money, from a home renovation perspective, the outdoor kind of patio area, it's sort of called the new outdoor living room, so to speak.  So there definitely is interest out there.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So to that extent, and to measure the value of the increase of that penetration, would you agree with me that there would be certain parties that would suggest that an increase is a negative thing?  And if we look back at the -- you know, I don't want to say fads, but certainly changes in lifestyle.  If someone would have said in the early '50s that eventually a lot of the population will have outdoor bathtubs, and that Jacuzzi, I think, did a great job of changing a market trend and hot tubs became quite a popular item.  They’re trailing off now, but there was a period of time where they were a very popular item.  That things like patio heaters and outdoor fireplaces could have the same success.  You mentioned the outdoor living room.  I think that is part and parcel of that.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  And I think that that -- that certainly is a possibility that there is a trend there.  Yes.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  So I guess ultimately where I am heading with this is, the balancing of those -- those two competing items but maybe that there is a way of finding the lowest hanging fruit here.  Would it be a fair statement that increasing throughput to existing customers with existing appliances, the largest benefit, I suppose, from a societal point of view, as well as the company, would be to have them utilize more natural gas within the conventional appliances that do have offsetting other uses, other energy sources.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm not sure if I can fully concur with that statement, with due respect.  


Again, what we're asked to do and I guess where you can sense some of my discomfort, is that we're asked to kind of judge on what's the overall good thing for society to do.  And that's perhaps where the role of energy-efficiency standards and government officials to say:  Okay, well maybe the best thing to do is not to ban fireplaces, for example.  But let's make sure that that product is as most efficient, from a combustible technology and it's cost-effective, let's use that approach.



And I guess that's my hesitancy here, that I would think that that might be something that Enbridge Gas Distribution, the route that we would prefer to go, let's work with the various efficiency agencies and make sure that these products are as energy efficient as possible, but I wouldn't want to predispose on customers what our values are.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  But would you agree that to the extent that, in the ratepayers' interests, the ratepayer is interested in the most efficient and effective use of the distribution asset, in that the rates are paid for, operation and maintenance of the assets, and what we're evaluating here is whether or not those dollars are being spent wisely from an asset-management and asset-care and control point of view.  I'm not asking you to revisit what you just stated, but that the revenue -- if we can develop a manner that the revenues coming in make wisest use of the distribution asset, that that would be something that we should explore, as opposed to the use of the molecule.  


MR. McGILL:  I think it's driven somewhat by the marketplace and what consumers want.  So to the extent that consumers want these lifestyle products, then the company is ready to provide service.  


It's no different than putting Christmas lights on your house in the wintertime.  That could be argued as an unwise use of electricity and we could talk about outlawing Christmas lights or I think Toronto Hydro was giving out coupons this winter to get people to change to more energy efficient lighting.  


So I think there is all kinds of examples where the consumer wants something, and then the company is in a position where we don't really see it is our role to tell a consumer that they shouldn't be able to have that.  


So to the extent that it's a valid use, a valid kind of gas use or appliance, then we don't see it as our role to make a judgment as to whether or not consumers should have access to it. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  To flip that, you do see it as your role because of the business case or the business that you're in, and the way your revenue stream is designed, that it is within your business to promote the use of -- in new ways and are efficient but in new ways, perhaps?  


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  And I think that is the reason why demand side management programs, by their nature, are so complex, is because they're trying to balance sort of two conflicting objectives within the utility.  One efficiency versus one further use.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Sorry.  I was just going to add and some of those complexities are why we, you know, have some of the specific regulatory mechanisms like the LRAM as well as the SSM, to overcome those rate-structure issues.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Within the -- we accept the situation that throughput, you rely on throughput to pay fixed costs as well as variable costs, that it's well within the business strategy to increase throughput.  


But again, to the extent where you can have the most bang for your buck, would you agree that the 110 - I think I've got the number right of non-consumers on main -represent the, probably the single area that would have the most return, if 110,000 customers all of a sudden became consumers that are on main?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that's certainly an important part of the group -- customers that we're targeting.  Subject to check, I believe that there is about a million electric appliances out there, whether it's gas ranges and dryers and water heaters.  


And, again, when you were talking about, for existing customers, and you know, if you want to target those customers that are coming from another fuel such as electricity or oil, and encouraging them to use the natural gas, I think in that vein, those would be the kinds of customers that we would be targeting. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  But from an economies-of-scale perspective, the customers that represent the largest missed opportunity are the ones that you have, have frontage and the mains are going past their place and the only missing component is the service into their homes, that that probably represents the largest missed opportunity, I suppose, from an economies of scale -- very little incremental cost to get a new customer in those situations. 


MR. McGILL:  I think another one would be a customer that is a heating-only customer where they're not using natural gas for hot water heating.  There the service is already in place.  So -- and again EnergyLink is designed to help get gas hot water heating into that kind of premise.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  To the extent that -- I just wondered what kind of analysis was done or how do you see the programs of targeting those non-consumers on main.  Any extra effort that you would put in those locations?  Or do you just feel that the initial hurdle of getting the service in is something consumers will just have to take into account when they look at all of these other programs in a generic fashion?  Or do you have a specific method of getting to those customers? 


MR. McGILL:  I was involved in designing non-customer on main marketing programs in 1982 and 1983 at the company   and that has been a constant, as far as I am aware, with respect to our marketing efforts.  And Kerry and Paul are in a position to speak to it in a more current basis.  


MR. GREEN:  I don't think I have anything to add from an additional analysis, Mr. Quesnelle, other than the fact that from that missed opportunity and what Mr. McGill has said, as the utility has increased the amount of plant in the ground from new communities or being able to pipe existing communities with gas, to the -- the point is that we still have that challenge of around that 100,000 mark of non-customer on main, to your point where we're aware of that lost opportunity.  But as Ms. Lakatos-Hayward also talked about, one of our other, if I could use that term, that missed opportunity that you are speaking about is with the customer that does have the existing use of natural gas, we visited some of the penetration rates that we have for dryers and ranges.  


So there is that opportunity from the utility to be out promoting all uses of natural gas and trying to enhance it, to be top of mind amongst consumers for whatever the energy need is.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  But nothing specific related to those promotions that's found its way into EnergyLink at this point?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  What EnergyLink allows us to do over time, and I think we all recognize this as a long-term investment that we're making and we're developing a channel that is, I'm going to call, biased to natural gas, but it does complement those efforts to convert those non-customers on main over time.  And we have an easy way to collect those customers now or potential customers with our business partners.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So it is an enhancement to something that is pre-existing, then?  You have market opportunity?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  That's correct.  We believe that it will facilitate that activity over time.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Not the driver for it, though.  You were operating those programs in advance?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  One final thing, and this is just, again, trying to establish the level of analysis that went into some of your program in here.


Have you put your minds to the -- I suppose, the ‑‑ what type of tests you would run on a comparison of the capital and operating costs of going to a gas water heater versus electric in the new ‑ well, new within the next few years - smart metering era, where we -- there could very well be electric water heaters that are all run offpeak as opposed to the competing costs now that you would be looking at?  


Any analysis of where that ‑‑ some of your trend lines go right through those things coming into place.  Now, recognizing there would have to be a compendium program to have timers put on these water tanks, the existing stock of water tanks out there, but that is something that has been happening for over 50 years.  Electric water tank timers are as old as ‑‑ some date back to the 1950s.


So that element and looking at the time differential that the province is introducing, are any of your trends affected by that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Our economic- and financial-analysis group, I recall, do analysis on this from time to time.  I recall seeing some analysis done a couple of years ago.  I can't state how current that is.  So, I mean, certainly we are aware of the trends in electricity, smart metering and those kind of use rates.


We believe that some of those trends will make it even more challenging with respect to natural-gas water heaters and maintaining our current share.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, just one question -- or questions in one area.


I was intrigued the other day by a statement that one of you made that the program is already approved by the Board, or some words to that effect.  I don't have the precise quotation.


I just want to make sure I understand the company's position on this.  Perhaps the person that spoke to this can recreate some of the statements made at that time.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We brought forward in our 2006 rate application the opportunity development O&M evidence, and unfortunately I don't have an exhibit number available.


But in that, we did talk about what are our marketing activities were projected to be for 2006, or the goals and objectives.  We did talk about development of strategic channel partnerships.


I would agree that there was no name, Atocha or EnergyLink, but in terms of the goals and objectives, we did speak about that, and also with respect to the development of the strategic part, channel partnerships.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, as far as you are concerned, then, the program has been approved and therefore this is maybe an academic discussion?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, our interpretation of the Board's ruling in 2006 was that the Board gave us an overall O&M amount to spend, and I'm not as familiar with the overall decision, but my interpretation was that with respect to the overall O&M, the other O&M, that it was to the company's discretion to spend that.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So maybe not directly linked to this EnergyLink, but if the Board were to give you an envelope budget of X amount and as part of that budget the company undertook an initiative to develop a program that would have a long life, then your view would be that that was already approved by virtue of the fact that the company received a blessing for a specific budget?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes, we did.  And if I could just follow up on that, when the Ontario Energy Board -- the compliance office did, I think, bring forward their response to the HRAI complaint on November the 8th.  We had not launched the program until that time, and then subsequent to that letter, we felt comfortable with launching that program with the EnergyLink program.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So it was a combination of the Board's decision for 2006 and the Board's letter, you're saying?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It certainly clarified, in our minds.  I mean, there was a complaint outstanding from the OEB, and I think getting what we thought was some resolution on the matter would allow us to proceed with that.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  And in your view, the reason that this issue is on the issues list is what?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Certainly it isn't the company's issue.  This is being brought forward by other intervenors.


MR. VLAHOS:  Quite often intervenors do bring issues forward.  The company does not need to accept them, or they would argue before the Board that this is out of scope, irrelevant, et cetera.  


The company has not done so in this case.  I'm just curious why not.  Mr. Cass, maybe I am getting ‑‑ I don't want to take the thunder away from your legal argument, so ‑‑ but if you know anything that happened to this stage, that would be fine.


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Vlahos, I will do my best to help.


First, there are, as I understand it, test-year expenditures related to this program that are in issue in this proceeding.  I don't think the company has any basis to contend that those are not properly in issue.


Beyond that, on the issues list, as the Board is aware, there is this broad issue phrased in the words Is the EnergyLink program appropriate, or something like that.  The company does not believe that that is an issue appropriately within the scope of the proceeding.  


Perhaps the company should have contested it at Issues Day.  The fact is, though, that, Mr. Vlahos, that intervenors bring forward issues.  The company doesn't necessarily accept that they're issues, but does not want to cut off intervenors because of its own view of what's an issue or what is not an issue.


This was brought forward and, you're right, the company did not oppose it on Issues Day, but certainly it has always been company's position there is no need for the Board to approve the program as a program; that the issue is related to the expenditures of the program.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


Mr. Shepherd --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You saw me reaching for the microphone?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, I have, and I didn't mean to open this up but ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  May I make one comment?


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chairman, should Mr. Shepherd ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Well, you started it.  


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will be brief.  Our position is Mr. Cass cannot say at this date that this issue is not an appropriate issue for this Board to consider.  He had his chance at Issues Day.  That's all I have to say.


MR. CASS:  Of course, Mr. Vlahos, we can leave that for final argument.  I don't think we need to resolve that today.


MR. VLAHOS:  And we will.


MR. KAISER:  Well, if it's not an issue, we've wasted an awful lot of time.


MR. VLAHOS:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, I want to follow up, before I get into my questions with you, a question that Mr. Quesnelle raised, which I think is a very important one, and that is this:  


We're forecasting volumes here, volumes that we think we can acquire through different programs, and yet we know on the horizon there is a monumental project which is going to put smart in the homes of every man, woman and child in this province, which will benefit certain applications and many of those applications can be moved from peak to off peak.  


He asked you whether you had considered it and I think you said well, we've sort of thought about it.  But I want you, by way of undertaking, if you can, to see if you can put a little more analysis to it.  I'm looking at K9.4, which is an exhibit that one of the counsel introduced that basically broke out these fuel-switching initiatives between Direct and EnergyLink programs and all of this is from K6.3.  


So by way of example, if we look at all programs, some 25,000 participants out of a total of 75,000 relate to range, dryer, front-load washer, which is one of those things that people believe this new program will shift, people can do their washing or drying at off-peak hours.  But it only represents 2 million of the 31 million cubic meters in volume.


The big volume is nine million for high-efficiency furnaces and I'm dealing with the total and the 10 million for interior construction of new heat, that's of a total volume of 31 million.  So it's a substantial portion of it, almost two-thirds of the volume that your programs hope to pick up in this one year, relating to those two technologies, those two programs.  


Could you ask somebody in your shop to give some analysis as to those two programs, whether smart meters -- the smart meters develop this plan by the government, your forecast would have to be materially downgraded, maybe they will say, no, for those applications.  We don't think smart meter is going to have any impact.  Because I think it is an important variable a forecaster should take into consideration.  So can I leave that with you? 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, you can. 


MR. KAISER:  It may be that they can't do it.  It may be that they can.  But I think it is something that a forecaster would want to do.  


I want to start with table 3 that Mr. Millar put up -- 


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if we may, we could give that an undertaking number, J11.8.  Does the panel understand the undertaking?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, we do. 


MR. MILLAR:  Is there any need to summarize it further?  


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.8:  IMPACT OF SMART METERS ON 


FORECAST 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, if you could put that up.  That is table 3.  


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.


MR. KAISER:  Tab 3, schedule 1, page 8 of 18.  It is in the prefiled evidence.  I know Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, I think you gave Mr. Millar and I both an undertaking with respect to that.  I just want to ask you a couple of questions.


This was in your prefiled evidence.  You indicated that in the 2007 test year budget, you expected to add 3.4 million cubic metres.  


My first question is:  Was Enerlink in there –EnergyLink.  I'm starting to sound like Mr. Quesnelle.  EnergyLink.  Was EnergyLink in the 3.4?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I apologize.  I am going to have to go back and speak to Ms. Chan about -- 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Because it doesn't make much sense because EnergyLink alone was 8 million cubic metres. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  We didn't prepare this exhibit.  Again, from my prior knowledge in volumetric forecasting, I could probably see where some category -- where some of the volumes are going to sit.  For example, the construction heat, because that is a year -- a life of one year, that probably is embedded in some of the historical actuals on which the models are run.  


But as to other aspects, I'm not sure where they are located.  So I will have to speak to Ms. Chan.  


My understanding is that the -- from the opportunity development and development of our growth programs, we would have provided her the numbers 32.3 million and how she has translated it in this table will have to follow up with her.



MR. KAISER:  Is the 11.8 reduction in volume due to DSM, is that what you're forecasting in the 2007 test year?  Or do you know?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That number doesn't look similar to what we have.  Again, there would be a partially effective component, and, again, going back through time, I know that what the -- the average-use model tries to do is, they run it without the impact of DSM and with the impact of DSM.  


This adjustment for the DSM initiative is really just to net out the, what the model does not pick up by way of the historical DSM activity.  


I think that is the, what I can recall, the explanation for the difference in the DSM, but I can certainly confirm that with Ms. Chan.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let me go, then, to your business case.  This is part of K9.8.  You are familiar with that document.  It's the document dated May 2006.  Do you have it?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, we do. 


MR. KAISER:  Just starting at the first page.  This is dated May 2006.  Would I be right that as of May 2006, the corporate management had not approved this program?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We were going through various phases of development and design of the program.  This business case was developed to support the final capital expenditures in relation to the build-out of the Aprimo leads-management system.  So there were expenditures prior to this point that was involved in the design component, the package evaluation and assessment for the Aprimo component of the EnergyLink referral system.  


MR. KAISER:  Let's go to page 4 of 17, then.  


This is your 10-year forecast.  Mr. Millar and others have been through these.  So we see, for instance, in 2006, that you are forecasting operating and maintenance costs at 500,000 and capital expenditures in that year of 3.3 million.  What would the situation have been at May of '06?  Had you already spent some of that money?  Or was that money to be spent following corporate approval?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I can't recall precisely the amount that had been spent by 2006, but I can confirm that a component, in relation to the package evaluation and the design had been spent as a prior scope of work related to EnergyLink.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  But this -- and I presume I’m right that you were presenting this to management for some type of approval.  Would that be correct?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. KAISER:  Who was making the decision?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We have an executive steering committee for the EnergyLink team, and that is comprised of some of our senior management, including, at that time, Lino Luison, who is the vice president of opportunity development; Arunas Plekaitis, who is the vice president of operations.  We had Scott Player who was vice president of finance.  His role in the executive committee was because he had accountability for IT, and IT is a big component of, obviously of the EnergyLink system.  


When that responsibility shifted to Glenn Beaumont, who is vice president of operations.  Scott Player was replaced by Glenn Beaumont on this team.  


Just to round out, Mark Weil, director of IT, was also part of the executive steering committee.  


MR. KAISER:  I assume a decision was made to proceed and your plan was approved, as set out in this document; is that right?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes, it was. 


MR. KAISER:  What was the date of that?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I would have to go and check.  


MR. KAISER:  Well was it in May?  Or was it in June?  Or July?  I don't know the exact date.  You don't remember?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I apologize.  I don't remember.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  In any event, do you know if you actually spent in '06 3.3 million in capital?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We were fairly close to spending 3.3 million.  We didn't spend any more, and I believe the variance was quite small.  If you will just bear with me one second, I thought we answered a question on that.


Yes, Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 4, page 11.  We were looking at this table earlier today.  Part of that table was the 2006 forecast actuals, and the capital amount is 3.287 million.


MR. KAISER:  So you were able to spend 3.2 million in six months?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, this is ‑‑ a large component of this is in relation to development and purchase of the software system.


MR. KAISER:  All right, I understand.  Staying on page 4 of 17, you will see that the distribution margin in 2006 was forecasted to be $52,000.  Do you know if you achieved that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No, we did not.  When we initially developed this business case, we were hoping that we would be able to launch the program earlier.  We did not actually launch the program, and this was a soft launch to the marketplace until December of 2006.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Do you know what you did achieve in distribution margin in 2006?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It was probably fairly negligible, and, again, it was ‑‑ there was no media advertising or campaign of the program in December of 2006.


MR. KAISER:  Then in 2007, looking at the same page, forecasting that you're going to pick up, by added distribution margin from the additional volume, some 493,000.  How did you forecast that total distribution volume -- distribution margin?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Yes.  I'm hoping that the undertaking that we will file by the end of the day, J10.7, will be able to provide some additional clarity on that.  


But just to speak contextually on that, what we did was, for each of the burner tips, we looked ‑‑ or burner-tip applications, we looked at what was the opportunity available.  So, for example, with the water heaters, how many electric water heaters are there out there in the marketplace?


With -- the marketing staff looked at what they thought a reasonable market-penetration uplift would be with respect to each burner tip.


MR. KAISER:  Then in 2008, you forecast that you are going to triple that distribution margin.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  If I can perhaps clarify so it doesn't look like we're expecting an undue increase in market penetration.  With these kinds of activities, what we're doing is evaluating what would the business ‑‑ what would the business have looked like without this investment and what would the business have looked like with that investment. 


So with respect to the volumetric throughput, we take a cumulative volume approach to that, so -- rather than an incremental.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So the volume that you gained in 2007 is part of the volume that is used to calculate that number in 2008?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  And similarly in 2009.


MR. KAISER:  All right, I understand.


Now, one of the things on this financial plan that you were presenting to your management that is intriguing is the -- in 2006 and 2007, what improves the results is this negative taxes of $700,000 in each of those years.  What's that all about?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I'm certainly not a tax accountant.


MR. McGILL:  I believe what it is is since a portion or a significant portion of the initial capital spending has to do with software, which can be written down for tax purposes effectively over two years, you're seeing the impact of the capital cost allowance in 2006 and 2007.


MR. KAISER:  So a significant part of the deposit return comes from the capital cost allowance you achieve as a result of capital expenditures?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  That would be true for most investments the company makes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Now, with respect to both the operating and maintenance expenses and the capital expenses, you run along and spend money until 2010, and then you stop and there is nothing spent for the next five years.  But when you do the rates return, you calculate it on the ten years.  How is it you can run a program like this for ten years and stop spending half way through?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  What we're doing in this case is you see after 2010, that there is no more increase in the actual penetration of volumes.  So what we're doing is we're taking it until 2010, and then we're saying there is no incremental activity, so no incremental costs and no incremental volumes after that point.


What would be the return of the program?


MR. KAISER:  But does it make sense to say that ‑‑ I guess you say, We're stopping this program after five years, for some reason.  You have decided -- I guess you've run out of growth opportunities, would be the reason; would that be right?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No.  What we're saying there is we're trying to take a reasonable financial time frame over which to evaluate the program.


I think that when I look at this and if you were to do kind of the trend line of the margin and the costs and where the crossover point is, if we were to continue ‑‑ I understand what your point is.


If you were to continue extending out the distribution margin and the costs, I think what you would find is that the net present value would be higher, because the volumes are accumulating.


MR. KAISER:  I am just trying to understand, then.  The ratepayers are being asked to contribute something like $6 million, give or take, front capital expenditures, and then there is operating and maintenance costs, which are probably another 4 or 5 million.  


Then according to this document, the program stops.  There is no labour.  There is no more capital.  It just stops.  It goes to zero and it runs on air for the next five years, but the revenues continue on very nicely.  Is that realistic?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, the revenues are from prior year activities.  So we would get those regardless of whether the program stopped or not.


But perhaps if I may offer, if this could be helpful, we could redo this analysis out to 2015, assuming that the program continues to that point.


MR. KAISER:  No.  I'm just trying to understand why you built that in.  It's a strange business plan that has a ten‑year revenue stream, that the revenues will continue on regardless of what we do.  I guess that is because you hooked up the customer and that's the end of it.  


But it also suggests that for some reason you're laying down tools, at least according to this plan, that you put forward to your management.  You said, Don't worry, Lino, we don't have to spend any more money after this after 2010.  That's the end of it.  It's not going to cost us a dime.  


Why would that be in here?  Is it just an oversight?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  It certainly was not meant to portray that perspective.  From our point of view, we think this is a great program and should continue to 2015.


What the intention here was just, again, to take ‑‑ take a five-year snapshot.  And if I -- maybe just as way of analogy, if we go back to that Pollution Probe exhibit where we looked at the market development volumes and net present value, what we do there is we look at a one-year snapshot of what is the market development program going to bring, and we look at that over the lifetime of that measure of opportunity.


But that really is in relation to the 2007 activity.  What we're doing here is that we're recognizing that this is a program that is going to take a few years to start to accumulate some meaningful distribution margin here.  


So we're evaluating it over a period from 2006 until 2010.  The volumes and distribution margin from 2011 -- 2011 and beyond, really relate to all of the activity prior to 2010.  


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand that.  And it's a big number.  There is 15 million, give or take, in distribution margin in the last five years without one penny of costs.  I'm just wondering whether that is realistic, whether you can maintain that kind of income coming in the door when there is no people and there is no capital being put in this program.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I think that the way that this analysis is done, it is reasonable from the point of view, in that if we capture -- if we use the analogy of a dryer.  Once that customer converts over to natural gas under this program, we have to look at what is the likelihood that that customer will, prior to that dryer reaching the end of its effective life - which is something in the order of 10 years - what extra effort would the company need to do to maintain that customer on natural gas?  


To the extent that our assumption, that there would be no incremental costs beyond attaching that, the initial end use, then, yes, I would agree with that, with your statement.  But we don't believe that that there is an incremental cost with maintaining that dryer in that example.  


MR. KAISER:  No.  But don't customers move?  Isn't there some attrition?  Can you assume all of the customers will stay there and keep consuming those same levels for the next five years?  That is not what your evidence shows us already.  We're looking at declining volumes for many group of customers.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  I think the average use declines.  Well, from our market-penetration rates, they are stable.  A couple of venues said they were declining.  I'm not sure if it was necessarily customers taking out a dryer midway through its lifespan, but would be where we would see that thread is the end of that, that end of that decision point for a customer.  


MR. KAISER:  So are you saying that, I guess just to wrap up on this point, either the analysis is incomplete or we didn't address ourselves to the next, to the five years after 2010?  We haven't thought about that?  Or we're only asking for approval for five years' worth of expenditures?  What are we to take from this?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  What this analysis was only meant to show is that from a five-year cost-and-benefit perspective, that this program had a positive net present value.  


What we're asking the Board here is for expenditures in relation to the 2007, to the extent that we're able to demonstrate that this is a good program and good for ratepayers, this is the evidence that we're bringing forward.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, there has been some discussion here about what the Board approved in 2006, whether it covered the expenditures that you made in 2006 -- as it turns out it doesn't look like you made very much in the way of operating and maintenance expenditures here, but you certainly did spend $3 million in capital.  I take it your position is the Board previously approved that.  


So if we're going to make a decision in this case on this program, is it your just position we just approve 2007 and don't worry about the balance?  Or should we take from this that we're not making any commitment to you to make any expenditures after 2010 because there wasn't a dime that showed up on page 4 of 17?  


MR. CASS:  I don't know if I can help, Mr. Chair, but I will give it a stab.  


MR. KAISER:  Sure.  


MR. CASS:  I believe that the company is requesting approval for 2007 expenditures.  In the context of the Board considering that, it's appropriate for the Board to look at information like this, about what the company foresees.  However, I don't believe that changes the fact that the company is requesting approval for the 2007 expenditures.  


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  But Mr. Cass, the Board isn't going to approve capital expenditures of $4 million in 2006 and 2007 if the program is not going to continue on beyond that.  


MR. CASS:  Again, Mr. Chair, I don't think anybody is saying the program will not continue.  I think Ms. Lakatos-Hayward is trying to explain a particular presentation that was done here to justify to management the capital expenditure.  I don't think she is in any way saying the program will not continue after 2010.  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  If I could just make one other point.  


With respect to the financial presentation, when you look at the cumulative cash flows for 2011, that is really the crossover point.  


So that was really why we looked at it over that basis, is to -- what would that crossover point be for the program.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  In that connection, there was some reference in your evidence over the last previous days about the sunk costs.  Am I right, from what you said now, that there is very little in operation and maintenance that's been spent.  But you have spent, and we can consider as sunk, the better part of this $3 million in capital investment that we see on page 4 of 17 under the '06 year.  That money is spent?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. KAISER:  And that is spent on the basis of the Board's decision in your last case?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  That's correct.  


MR. KAISER:  Now, help me on this.  We've got these capital expenditures here which go over, certainly over six million in operating expenses, which are five million.  So there is $11 million that the ratepayers are going to come up with for programs to increase volume.   


In the same application, we have DSM expenditures which are about $22 million.  Another $5 million for SSM, another similar amount.  So about $30 million that the ratepayers are going to fund in this 2006 year for DSM.  Eleven million, give or take, they're going to fund the increased volume.  $30 million they're going to fund to decrease volume.  Are the ratepayers going to start thinking we're nuts when we have a program here of $11 million to add volume, and a program here of $30 million to decrease volume?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  I'm not sure that customers would necessarily characterize it that way and maybe one way to look at it, again, if we kind of just boil it back to its basics, is that we're encouraging customers to use natural gas and to use it wisely.  


MR. KAISER:  So you would agree, it would only make sense – the context I may be put it in a little bit extreme terms but not too much - if your programs met the generally accepted efficiency goals, because otherwise we would have dollars fighting dollars.  You would agree with that?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Well, I guess we again have some discomfort here because what we're trying to do is ensure the distribution rates are as low as they possibly can be, and to the extent that there are some competing objectives here that we do have to balance.  So we're trying to keep distribution rates low.  And at the same time, we're trying to encourage customers to implement efficient energy measures.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, one thing we know, we're going to put distribution rates up by over $40 million by running these two sets of programs, we know that for sure.  We haven't got to first base in terms of volume, and we've got programs to decrease the volume.  


In any event, I think I have your answer on that.  


But on that, let me ask you something else.  I think it came out of a question that Mr. Buonaguro asked.  You have said that in order to make this thing work, in your view, you want to have the lowest barriers to the contractors.  You're going to give it to them free.  


You've heard my concern about what the ratepayers may think about this.  You say, Here's another program we have to fund, and these guys go off and look for increased volume.  We have another program to decrease volume.


We also heard at the outset you were reading letters how the contractors thought this was the greatest thing since sliced bread, understandably so, these leads, 25,000 leads that we're dropping on the floor.  No response given.  Go to the Yellow Pages.  Good luck.  We're now being turned into an efficient process through this modern software, and so on.


What is wrong with the contractors paying for that service?  Do you really think, if it is a good program, none of them will do it?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  My apologies.  I think with respect to ‑‑ could you just repeat your question one more time?


MR. KAISER:  Well, right now the proposal is that the consumers, gas consumers, your customers, should pony up the $11 million, or whatever it is, in round terms, it is going to take to get this program working.  


There is an alternative.  The people who are going to earn the profits from the sales from these leads could pay a fee, either in whole or part, to cover the costs of the program.


Your only response to that, when it was put to you by one of the counsel, was, Well, we want to reduce the barriers.  But all that does is shift the cost to the consumer.  


If the program is as good as you said - let's suppose it is, and I have reason to believe that it adds value; I mean, they wouldn't be writing all of these nice letters to you if it didn't add value - why don't you just get them to pay for it or pay for a part of it?


Did you discuss that with them?  Did they say, Oh, no, we would never participate if we had to pay for leads, or pay an annual fee or monthly fee?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  As I mentioned earlier today, we did -- in the earlier design of Project Atocha, which was the predecessor name for EnergyLink, we did explore, Would we charge for leads.  And I think there were a couple of considerations that we looked at.  


First and foremost, it's our understanding that to charge for any utility service, we would need Board approval to do that, and certainly we did not have Board approval to charge out for the leads of the program.  


I mean, certainly if that is something that you are encouraging -- I am not sure.  But I guess the other aspect was, in development of this program and where this industry has gone, I think that we wanted to develop the relationship with the contractors.


Since unbundling and some of the arrangements with Direct Energy, I think it would be fair to say that there was a certain level of distrust in the industry, and, in this regard, we wanted to have a very open and transparent program with the Board and with the contractors, and make sure that there were no barriers of entry for contractors.


We were concerned that if we did have barriers of entry, our good friend at HVAC Coalition would bring that forward as another ground to try and get this program prevented.  So we were again trying to create a level playing field here for the program.


MR. KAISER:  It seems to me the contractors are more concerned -- more distressed with your ability to terminate them for virtually any reason, if they're not maintaining the standards or not following your advertising, than they do if they simply paid a fee to participate.  But you felt ‑‑ if the Board were to say, We don't think this should be funded by rates, would you abandon the program or would you see if you could fund it through the contractors?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I guess to the extent that ‑‑ if I can just build on that, if the Board said, You can't fund this out of rates, but feel free to charge for the leads?  Would that be a fair ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Okay.  Then we would look at could we ‑‑ we would have enough critical mass with the contractors to be able to run a viable program and have sufficient coverage on our system, because that is also an important consideration for us.


MS. CAIN:  Sorry, Mr. Kaiser, if I could maybe just add to that.  From the ratepayer perspective, one of the reasons that we didn't charge a fee -- and we in fact do publish on the EnergyLink site the fact that none of the participating contractors are financing this.


We wanted to make sure that our customers and potential customers knew and know that because somebody is paying over here is the only reason that they're on the site.  We really felt it was important to keep it as open and transparent right across the Board, as Ms. Lakatos-Hayward says.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.


Now, you have two restrictions on this program, as I hear it.  One is you have created this logo that you can put on your windows and your trucks and business cards, I guess, but you have some kind of advertising restrictions.


As I heard the evidence, if Kaiser Air‑Conditioning decides to put a line below the logo, The lowest-priced Enbridge contractor in Toronto, you would kick me out of the program?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We would certainly have that option to, under the contract.  We would agree with that.  That certainly would not be our approach.


I mean, I will be clear that that kind of language, We're the lowest-price contractor ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  You did say you would take me to the woodshed and see if you could convince me to drop that, right, because you called it unprofessional?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We would work with you as a business partner to say, Look, you can't advertise in that way.  And we would work with you to find appropriate advertising that we don't think is going to be misleading to customers.


MR. KAISER:  You realize that if you did that, if you terminated me and I had that statement on my ad, you might be offending the criminal provisions of the Competition Act?  Did you ever think of that?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I'm sorry, I don't understand the reference.


MR. KAISER:  Well, the federal laws prohibit price maintenance.  You can't tell me the price at which I can sell my product or restrict my advertising as to price.  But as I heard your delicate explanation of this, you did not want any price advertising associated with this logo.  That's what I heard.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  I think that where it gets a little bit more complex in that is that with the EnergyLink program, we wouldn't have any restrictions.  If a contractor went out and said I'm the lowest HVAC contractor in the GTA, that's none of our business, but with respect to the EnergyLink program, you know, we would certainly have a problem with how that is characterized.


MR. KAISER:  The last topic I have, and I am reading from 11.17, the business plan that you say was used to get approval from corporate management at Enbridge, it says:  

~"The EnergyLink program is dependent on Enbridge Inc.'s financing program to deliver a critical sales tool and value-add for EnergyLink partners."


Yet today you have said you're not even going to tell Enbridge Inc. who the contractors are, and you seem to have a concern that that would offend ARC.  I'm reading between the lines from your testimony.  


What is wrong with you simply telling Enbridge Inc. or anyone else, Here's a list of the approved contractors.  They probably would be on your website, wouldn't they?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  There is a list on our website, but we're not providing a list to anyone specifically.  So it is there on our website.


MR. KAISER:  And the follow-up question would be -- and you have had some questions on this.  We know that there is a relationship agreement, or I guess you will come to that, between yourself and the financing arm of Enbridge.  I guess it is Enbridge Solutions, is it, or ESL, ESI?  ESI, I guess it is.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Enbridge Solutions Inc., and I believe the ‑‑ they're going to market under EFS Inc.  


MR. KAISER:  Oh, EFS?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Enbridge Finance Systems or something. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Services. 


MR. KAISER:  Or Services.  EFS, all right.  So you have a relationship with EFS, whatever that might be, I guess.  Is that contract in place?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  A contract?  


MR. KAISER:  Is there a contractual arrangement between EGD and EFS?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No, there isn't. 


MR. KAISER:  No agreement at all?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  


MR. KAISER:  Remember the other day I asked you if you had sent them a written proposal, either on or about May 6th when you did this proposal to your management.  Did you find anything?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  We have some financial analysis that was completed in December 2005 that we had shared with them and I believe that is J10.9 that we will be filing hopefully later today as well.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Then finally, if the parties and the Board was concerned that other financing entities have equal access to this customer base, if I can call it that, you wouldn't place any restrictions in the way of that?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Absolutely not.  I think an exchange with Mr. Millar and myself earlier today, we're still in our learning stage.  But to the extent that we could make a list of financing, third-party financing companies available to contractors and/or customers, yes, we would provide that.  


MR. KAISER:  Maybe I should note.  Is it the financing company that has access to the bill?  Or somebody else?  If the financing company is going to collect the money from the customer through your bill, I take it it's the financing company that makes an arrangement with you for that service. 


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  Our understanding of the typical business model, it would be the financing company.  It would really be the entity that holds that contract with the customer, that -- that conditional sales contract.  


MR. KAISER:  Right, right.  And I take it any of the settlement agreements or whatever we have seen wouldn't prohibit any licensed finance company from getting access to your bill?  


MS. LAKATOS-HAYWARD:  No.  There is no argument whatsoever with respect to EnergyLink participation, and in fact there were some restrictions placed on the affiliate.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you very much.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Can I just follow up. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Lakatos-Hayward, just to follow up with some of the discussion you had with the Chair about the possibility or the option that this program should not be part of the utility, but whether it be funding by the contractors, by the industry.  


Help me understand this.  I need a bit of help.  What is possible these days with the current undertakings?  I am not as clear as to how can this happen.  Can it happen and how can it happen?  So that I can understand that, any argument that may come in.  


If the Board were to say that the ratepayers should not be burdened, if you like, with this program, but rather find a different way where the industry would be funding this, is there such a thing as a non-utility program within the utility these days?  


MR. McGILL:  Yes, there is.  And that would be one of the ways we could pursue this.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  


MR. McGILL:  That would be subject to getting some kind of exemption under the undertakings because the undertakings apply to the entire corporate entity, not just the regulated portion of it.


MR. VLAHOS:  So give me another program that may exist today that has exemptions from the undertakings that may be considered a non-utility program. 


MR. McGILL:  Sale of system gas.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay. 


MR. McGILL:  It operates under an exemption under the undertakings, it’s not non-utility; and agent billing collection.  


MR. VLAHOS:  The way that it would be, I guess, visited in a typical rates case, then, we would look at the -- the money is part of the utility still; right?  The money is spent by the utility.  So there is certain capital expenditures, certain O&M costs, and there is a revenue that is coming from the contractors.  


So what would be the Board's preoccupation and the parties' at that stage, to make sure there is no cross- subsidy?  


MR. McGILL:  My understanding would be that if a program was to run as a non-utility program inside EGD, that the costs would be -- incurred by the company to undertake that program would be eliminated from the company's cost of service through the non-utility, as part of the non-utility elimination. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So there would be discussion as to whether the program undercontributes, if you like, or whether the ratepayer subsidizes that program.  That would be the extent of that discussion; right?  


MR. McGILL:  I think the extent of the discussion would be around what was the right amount of costs to eliminate from utility cost of service.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Eliminate?  Well, I see.  It would be just cost elimination.  It would not be a profitability thing?  


MR. McGILL:  That's right.  If it was non-utility. 


MR. CASS:  Mr. Vlahos, if I could jump out – jump in, in the hope that this -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  Don't jump out. 


MR. CASS:  Jump out might be better.  If you think back to the time when the company had the ancillary programs within the corporate entity, my recollection is in the later years that many of the businesses were ancillary businesses that went through the sort of analysis that you are describing, Mr. Vlahos, in relation to cross- subsidization. 


However, as I think I alluded to in a submission the other day, the company also, in those later years, had a merchandise-finance program which was not a utility program.  It was in the corporate entity, but not a utility program.  And I think the Board's consideration of that is consistent with what Mr. McGill is saying, it was just looking at a non-utility elimination.  


So there was the distinction between the ancillary programs and how they were treated, and this merchandise-finance program that was a non-utility elimination.  


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So in one case, in the ancillary programs would look at the profitability to avoid cross-subsidization.  In the case of financing program, it would look at the cost elimination that -- both programs were part of the utility, were they?  From the legal entity, were they?  


MR. CASS:  They were all in the corporate entity, but the merchandise-finance -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Cass.  By corporate, utility corporate or family corporate?  


MR. CASS:  All in at the time it would have been Consumers Gas, they were all in Consumers Gas as a corporation.  But merchandise finance was treated by the Board as non-utility.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I see.  So the discussion here now, Mr. McGill, you are thinking more of the finance program? 


MR. McGILL:  Yes, sir. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Or are you thinking more of the white-goods sales program? 


MR. McGILL:  No.  I think to Mr. Cass's point, at the time when these businesses were split out, some of them were being run as ancillary programs and, with respect to ancillary programs, the Board considered both the costs and the revenues of the programs and their underlying profitability.  With the case of the non-utility program, which at that time was the merchandise-finance program, to the best of my knowledge, all the Board looked at was the elimination of those costs.  For example, I don't think the Board ever considered what interest rate was being charged on those finance contracts when it was a non-utility program.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you very much for that.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will take the lunch break now and come back at 2 o'clock.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:53 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:03 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Perhaps I could start by explaining my understanding of how we will proceed this afternoon.  I had just a few questions for re‑examination of this panel on EnergyLink.  I thought perhaps we could deal with those.  


I think the proposal, then, would be that this panel stand down so that the HVAC panel can take the stand.  That would mean that this panel would come back later to deal with bill inserts.  In that regard, I don't think that Ms. Cain would be part of the panel or be needed on the panel for bill inserts, if that meets with the Board's approval.


Then there is one other administrative item that arises out of that.  It was my intention to have Mr. Green with me while examining the HVAC panel.  Now, I haven't been communicating with him because he's under cross‑examination, but I assume there would be no difficulty with him sitting beside me for the purposes of the HVAC cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, any problem with that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no problem with that, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  All right, let's proceed in that way.


MR. CASS:  As I said, Mr. Chair, just a few areas for re‑examination.


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  First, panel, one of the areas that was covered was the relationship between what the company is attempting to do on EnergyLink and DSM initiatives.  I wonder, could anybody on the panel comment on the extent to which gas DSM programs accommodate a fuel-switching element as opposed to being a fuel-on-fuel approach?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. GREEN:  Well, gas DSM, I think we have talked a lot about it over the last couple of days, the fact that we're in the core of trying to promote the use of natural gas and promote the use of it as efficiently as possible.


That being said, when we're talking about from a fuel-switching perspective, if it's a customer from an alternate fuel to natural gas, I think we see a natural -- or there's an opportunity of migration to the promotion of the high-efficiency equipment, which, in that regard, if we're talking about the high-efficiency programs, promoting the ECM, which is the electrically-commutated motors, is also a DSM initiative.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  Another area that was touched on a few times during cross‑examination was the Authorized Dealer Network that existed when -- I guess it was probably Consumers Gas at the time had the ancillary businesses.


Can anyone on the panel comment on the extent to which real or perceived experience with the Authorized Dealer Network tells the Board something about how EnergyLink will operate?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. CAIN:  Yes, Mr. Cass.  As you are aware, I wasn't here during the authorized dealer days.  However, one of the things that we have maintained throughout the process of creating the EnergyLink program was being very, very cognizant of all of the HVAC industry and the relationship or harm to the relationships between the utility and those same contractors back in the late 1990s.  


And to that end, we were very, very specific about making sure that it was open and transparent and that it is a partnership between ourselves and those self-same contractors.  It is not about policing.  It is not about one having some kind of control that the other doesn't.  


It really, truly is exactly what we've said it is, and that is something that will be of benefit to the ratepayer, to the contractors and to the company.


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  And, sorry, if I may add.  We did cover in Exhibit I, tab 26, schedule 5 on page 2 of 3, and I believe in that interrogatory we were asked to provide some information on the Authorized Dealer Network.


In development of the program, we wanted to ensure that we -- you know, this was ‑‑ it was a new program.  This was not an Authorized Dealer Network again.  And in this interrogatory, we do highlight some important areas that we believe make this a fundamentally different program.  


These are areas around customer choice, that this has customer choice.  The partner choice in this, that -- we're not telling the dealers which product or which municipality they should serve.  It is up to the partners to self-select which products and which municipalities they want to serve. 


There also is some flexibility for contractors or the participants to withdraw from the program or to self-suspend if they're in a busy period.


In addition, with respect to the financing, the Authorized Dealer Network partners were able to access the company's rental and financing programs, and as we have talked about today, that is certainly not part of the program, no.


MR. McGILL:  I have just one thing to add.  And a key distinction, I think, between what we're trying to achieve with EnergyLink today by partnering with the HVAC community, as opposed to the situation we were in prior to 1999, is that the company was a competitor in the HVAC marketplace, and certainly in the white-goods marketplace.


We had our appliance showrooms.  We financed those things on the gas bill.  We had a huge rental business that included water heaters and furnaces at some point, and conversion burners in prior years.  


So the company had a much different role in the HVAC marketplace prior to the end of 1999 than it does today, and I think that is something that needs to be considered when reviewing this.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  Now, Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward, you referred to financing, and that actually was one other area that I wanted to come back to quickly.  I think a fair amount of time has been spent on it already.


Insofar as how the EnergyLink program now operates and will continue to operate, what connection is there now to financing?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  Well, financing, we believe, is an important sales tool for contractors and customers to -- as a convenient way to finance natural-gas appliances on the bill.  But we believe, and the way it is going to operate now -- and if you look at the settlement on the open bill access, there is no link between access to the bill and access to EnergyLink.


All third parties who are willing to enter into that relationship with respect to the billing and collection service will be free to do so, and it has no links to the EnergyLink program.


MR. CASS:  To your knowledge, has the utility suggested to its parent or an affiliate that there will be any form of preferential treatment for the parent or an affiliate?


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  No.  We've made it very clear of our obligations under ARC to provide no preferential treatment to any affiliate.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Then just one last area.  There has also been reference to the market distinction program that is run by HRAC.  I don't know to what extent the witnesses are able to comment, but to the best of your knowledge, could you comment on how EnergyLink compares to the market distinction program, for example, in areas like customer complaints or resolution of disputes.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LAKATOS‑HAYWARD:  We certainly have summarized some of these elements in the business case.  In looking at the market distinction program, you know, certainly for trade association, it seems to work for them.  They like the program.  


But in assessing that, we did not believe that that was going to meet the needs of Enbridge Gas Distribution with respect to the added load growth and the demand side management.  In particular, it lacked some key components with respect to the tracking of the leads and the leads-management component.


In addition, there were some concerns that we did have with respect to the complaints dispute resolution process and certain other aspects of the process of the market distinction program.  


But that being said, and I guess I will reiterate that Enbridge Gas Distribution is more than willing to work with the HVAC industry to see how can we, you know, collectively pre-screen these contractors and we, as Ms. Cain has said on a number of occasions, believe that we are working in collaboration with the industry and with our partners.  So we certainly don't want to rule that out.  But at this time we do not feel that the market distinction program has everything that we need.  


MR. CASS:  Those are my re-examination questions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have five witnesses here and Mr. DeVellis will arrange for them to get up there and they will have to be sworn.  


While they're doing that, I have advised my friend and the Board that one of our witnesses for whom we filed a witness statement, Paul Messenger, is out of the country and we were not able to get him back for today.  


And so we have really two choices.  We can leave his evidence in and you will give it the weight that you would give evidence that has not been tested by cross-examination or, if the Board prefers, we would withdraw it.  


There is nothing in it that I think is critical.  Generally speaking, in this proceeding we've been a little more informal about that, but if the Board prefers, I will withdraw his written evidence.  


MR. KAISER:  What's your preference, Mr. Cass?  


MR. CASS:  Might I just have a moment, Mr. Chair?  I'm sorry, several things going on at once.   


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. Cass.  What's your position with respect to Mr. Shepherd's position with his missing witness?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  We can accept the proposition, Mr. Chair, that the inability to have the witness here for cross-examination would go to the weight of the evidence.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  That seems sensible.  Let's proceed on that basis.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Chairman, we have five witnesses.  I will introduce them to you quickly and then perhaps they can be sworn.  


To the far right is Roger Grochmal, then beside him Nancy McKeraghan, in the middle Martin Luymes, then Glen Leis and then Michael Latreille.  I wonder if they can be sworn.  


HVAC COALITION - PANEL 1

Roger Grochmal; Sworn 


Nancy McKeraghan; Sworn 


Martin Luymes; Sworn


Glen Leis; Sworn  


Michael Latreille; Sworn 


EXAMINATION BY Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, these witnesses have not -- I think one of them has appeared before this Board but none of them have appeared in this hearing room, so I am going to advise them of -- the little green button is your microphone button and they're tied together.  So you might as well just leave them on.  Let me start with you, Ms. McKeraghan.  


Your CV is found at page 46 of Exhibit L26; is that correct?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  What tab is that?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have tabs.  Tab 15.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes, I have it.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have psych BA from McMaster and you were a teacher before you became a co-owner of Canco Heating and Air-conditioning; is that correct?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are currently the national chair of HRAI. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I am.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And are formerly the national chair of the contractors division of HRAI. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  That is correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're here on behalf of yourself and your company or on behalf of HRAI? 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  No, I am here on behalf of my company. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me turn to you -- sorry, your evidence at Exhibit L26, page 27 and following.  Can you advise the Board what this evidence was prepared by you or under your supervision. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes, it was.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Then let me turn to you, Mr. Latreille.  Mr. Latreille, you're a CMA and a certified residential air designer.  What's that?  


MR. LATREILLE:  Yes.  Those are certification courses given by HRAI to perform different calculations to make sure that the house sizing is done correctly.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You are a part owner and vice- president of Holmes Heating. 


MR. LATREILLE:  That is correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've been doing that for 12 years?  


MR. LATREILLE:  Actually it's come coming up to, pretty close to 14 years now. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fourteen years. 


MR. LATREILLE:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's my math.  And you are also the current chair of HRAC. 


MR. LATREILLE:  That's correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your evidence today is in capacity as chairman of HRAC or owner and executive of Holmes Heating? 


MR. LATREILLE:  I am here representing myself and Holmes Heating only, and I don't purport to give any views of HRAC.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  The evidence in Exhibit L26, starting at page 32, with your name on it, can you confirm that this was prepared by you or under your direction. 


MR. LATREILLE:  Yes, it was.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to you, Mr. Leis.  


You have an MBA and have been in this business, including at Enbridge previously, and are now general manager of Oz Corporation. 


MR. LEIS:  That's correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oz is in the business of -- well why don’t you tell me. 


MR. LATREILLE:  Well, we're actually primarily a rental water heater business.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And can you confirm that the evidence, starting at Exhibit L26, page 36, with your name on it, was prepared by you and under your direction -- or under your direction. 


MR. LEIS:  Yes, it was.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then Mr. Grochmal, I will turn it to you.  You are an engineer and an MBA; correct? 


MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And after a number of years at Contractors and Manufacturers, Train, Black and Mac and State, you acquired a contracting company in 1986 which you continue to own? 


MR. GROCHMAL:  I do.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're a past chair of the HVAC Coalition. 


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes, I was. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your evidence today is on behalf of yourself and your company on or behalf of HVAC Coalition? 


MR. GROCHMAL:  No.  It's on behalf of the company.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And the evidence at Exhibit L26, page 39 and following, with your name on it, can you confirm that this was prepared by you or under your supervision. 


MR. GROCHMAL:  That was prepared by me.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Finally, Mr. Luymes -- if I can find your CV -- Mr. Luymes, you are actually a geographer.  


MR. LUYMES:  That's true.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And have been, after a number of other -- involvement in a number of other organizations, have been, since 1995, a senior executive at HRAI and HVAC Coalition. 


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you describe your current role?  


MR. LUYMES:  My current role is as senior director of administration and HRAC -- I have a range of tasks related to HRAI, the principal one being the care and management of HRAC, also known as the contractors division.  Contractors division is a part of the association that has roughly 800 contractor members across the country.  In addition to the contractors’ division, we have two others, manufacturers’ division and a wholesalers’ division, with 80 and roughly 40 members respectively.   So HRAI is the trade association covering the entire distribution channel across Canada.  


I should also add, we have an associate membership category which includes companies that provide services to the industry or have some relation to the industry, but are not in the distribution channel, and that membership includes a wide variety of companies, including utilities, and I believe including Union ‑‑ sorry, Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you confirm that parts 1 and 2 of Exhibit L26, starting at page 2, were prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me, then, start with you, Mr. Luymes.  And part 2 of the evidence of HVAC Coalition talks about a survey.


Can you tell us something about that survey?


MR. LUYMES:  When we were preparing or trying to, I guess, understand the scope and impact of EnergyLink, the HVAC Coalition board decided it would be helpful to survey the industry for their views on this program.  


The HVAC Coalition board had, upon review of the program, come to the conclusion that there were some serious, serious concerns about this program, but felt that we needed to hear from the industry directly via the survey.


So we solicited -- we developed a survey using a third-party consultant to make sure that the questions were objective and not misleading.  We did that, and then brought in -- actually distributed the survey to the roughly -- I think it is 275, or thereabouts, HRAC members that do business within the Enbridge Gas Distribution service area.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you select the people to whom the survey should be sent?


MR. LUYMES:  We didn't really select them, except based on geography.  We tried, as best we could, to correspond their service areas to that of the gas company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you briefly summarize for the Board what the survey results told you about the community's view of EnergyLink.


MR. LUYMES:  First, to no surprise, we found that there are a diversity of opinions within the contracting community.  That was not surprising, because if we surveyed 275 contractors, I would expect 275 different opinions.


That's the nature of the business, the industry.


We found that a little more than half of them had already signed onto the program.  It was also not a surprise.  We actually expected that number to be higher, since the program was already in operation for some time.


I say that because we, in our various discussions informally with contractors, knew there was a great deal of interest.  I guess the way ‑‑ what we assumed, in fact, there is some evidence in the -- I forget where it is exactly.  I think it is in the business case that we were reviewing earlier.  


There is a reference to some of the early responses from the Industry Council, and it was quoted that somebody said, Well, if you offer this program, you'll have a lineup outside your door.  There was -- I'll take credit or blame for that statement.  That's what we -- that's what I thought, and I think that is what the HVAC Coalition board assumed.  


The reason is that the program offers something that's of great interest to the industry, and that is free leads.  So whereas -- we know that there is a very, very competitive industry.  It is very difficult to acquire leads.  That's the nature of competition.  Contractors are used to fighting to get business.  


When someone comes along and says, We'll give you access to these leads free of charge, that's a very compelling draw.  So it was really no surprise to us that a great number of contractors would sign on to this program.


 MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask you, this morning you heard Mr. Vlahos and I think also Mr. Kaiser asking about the possibility that leads would be ‑‑ that contractors would have to pay for leads under the program.  


Do you have any thoughts on that?


MR. LUYMES:  Contractors are in the habit of paying for leads.  They pay every day for their leads through their marketing dollars they expend.  They obviously try to -- whether it is paying for something as simple as Yellow Pages advertisement or advertising in the newspaper, it costs money to generate leads.  


It is more difficult work to generate leads for your own company through developing of an independent brand, through promoting to a target base of customers, whatever that might be, depending on the type of company you are.  But it's a lot of work and a lot of investment.


So free leads are obviously pretty attractive in that context.  I can't say right now whether contractors in Ontario, in the Enbridge franchise area, would pay or how much they would pay.  That might be an interesting survey to put to the contractors, but it wasn't what was put to the contractors.  


What was put to them was, Here's the offer.  It is free leads.  There is no cost of signing up.  So, as I said earlier, there is really no ‑‑ it's no surprise that a good number of them would sign on.


I think it's -- you know, I mean it's hard to put a dollar figure on a lead.  I defer to the actual contractors at the table, but I would guess that $30 or $40 might be -- would not be out of line in terms of marketing costs to acquire a single lead.


So, like I said, just in comparison to that, a free lead is obviously very attractive.  There is also -- we found ‑‑ we found in the survey that a good number of contractors felt that signing on to the program was really -- you know, they may not have had any great personal objections, but it was more like, We can't really afford not to.  This is a program that we can't afford not to be part of.


Which leads ‑‑ that and a number of other direct comments lead to the -- create the impression among contractors that this Enbridge brand is very important, very powerful, and there is a concern that not to be part of the Enbridge family, if you can call it that, would be ‑‑ you would be paying a penalty in the marketplace.  


So we certainly heard that in anecdotal evidence from a lot of contractors, that there was ‑‑ there was fear on their part that if you choose not to be part of the company, you might be seen by your customers as being inadequate or not having met some very important standard, because it's tied to the Enbridge name.  The Enbridge name has a lot of weight in the marketplace.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Luymes, can I then ask you to ‑‑ I want to ask a couple of specific things.


The witness panel, the last witness panel, said during cross‑examination that the company was willing to work with HRAI in helping to screen contractors, but didn't, because HRAI was trying to control the program.  


Can you comment on that?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  I think that is a misstatement of what happened.


When -- you know, without going into the details of the whole history of this.  Ms. McKeraghan and myself both sit on a group called the Industry Council.  It's a council that was established by Enbridge, and I think the council that has worked very, very well over the last number of years as a vehicle for having productive discussions between industry and the utility around marketing programs, around operational practices and a number of other things.  


The council has had some good success in helping the company to improve its procedures for dealing with the industry.


It was at that council we first heard about this program.  I think it was maybe March.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  March.


MR. LUYMES:  March of '06, and the reaction from the council was, I think fair to say, quite strongly concerned, let's just say.  I won't say everyone in the council was automatically opposed, but there was a great deal of concern. 


One of the things that came out of that was a commitment on our part ‑‑ because part of the concern that people had was, Here is this existing program that exists.  HRAC has a program called the Marketplace Distinction Program.  Why are we reinventing the wheel here?  


Ms. McKeraghan, who had some closeness to that program and was involved in the development of the HRAC MDP program, and myself, we made a commitment to work with Enbridge to try to find some common ground, to try to see how the two programs might be reconciled.  


We did meet several times.  I would say probably four or five times we met, had some fairly extensive meetings in terms of time at a fairly detailed level.


And what we found consistently was, upon the conclusion of these meetings, we would have a sense of optimism about the company's willingness to adapt the program, and what we would hear, upon resuming the meetings at some later date, was that the changes we proposed were not acceptable to the company. 


So the program from start to finish, in the period of at least four or five meetings, didn't change in --substantively, whatsoever.


In terms of the word you used, "control", this really was not an issue of us wanting to control the program.  It was nothing to do with that, at all.  It was about the degree of control that the utility was looking to establish over the industry.  That's what we expressed concern about.


We don't have an objection, as an industry, to the utility marketing the use of gas and I guess the phrase these days is the wise use of gas.  Our industry supports that message very strongly.  This is the business that HVAC contractors do.  They sell high efficiency furnaces.  It's what they want to do.  So they understand, they get that message.  They're consistent with that.  


What they don't need is the utility to manage the relationship, their relationship with their customer.  And that's what we saw as the real flaw in this program, was that the utility was looking to step between the customer and the contractor by way of determining the contractors that the customer sees, that they have access to, in terms of holding that contractor accountable to the customer and of course to the utility, in terms of determining the requirements for being part of the program in the first place, and so on.  These are aspects we thought took too far of a step into the industry, too far of a step into the relationship between customers and contractors.  We felt it was not only unnecessary, but inappropriate.  So that's -- if you want to talk about control, that was the concern we had.  Not about us controlling it, but about the utility exerting too great a level of control.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could turn to you, Ms. McKeraghan.  Now, you're a co-owner of Canco Climate Care Inc.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  How long has that company been in business?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Since 1984. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you come to give evidence today?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I heard a little bit about the program, and have some grave concerns about the influence that is going to have in the marketplace and, in particular, with respect to the relationship that our company has with our own customers.  


Under the old system, if anybody remembers here that you saw a number of vehicles, for instance, that were HVACR but they were mainly identified as Consumers Gas Dealers.  If you look out in the marketplace now, you don't see anything like that.  You see logos and business company names.  So the industry has moved along.  We have created our own identities.  We have become successful or not, based on our performance in the marketplace.  


Our company has invested a great deal of money and resources to differentiate ourselves in the marketplace.  And I'm very concerned about the impact that that is going to have on our business in the future.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were one of the original designers of the Marketplace Distinction Program. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us about that program.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  The program, if you would, arose -- if you don't mind me giving a little bit of background -- our AGM has a opportunity for the industry to bring up issues that are of concern on an industry-wide basis.  


And it seemed that there was a dearth, if you would, in terms of consumers understanding the industry and the contractors that were in the industry.  


Prior to that, our association had built in some minimum standards, if you would, for membership.  And that took place over a variety of years.  So for instance, it was you know proof of applicable licences, proof of registration, proof of insurances and so forth, which is put forth in some of the evidence that has been given to date.  


And we wanted to make sure that the consumer out there understood that our members were different from, say, going to the Yellow Pages or Joe Blow's truck that is down the street that our members actually stood for something, that we had a minimum standard.  


And so what the industry suggested was that a task force be formed, a task group be formed to publicize to spread that, if you would, "qualified" contractor label and program out into the marketplace and, indeed, not only within the marketplace because we're beginning to do that a little bit better now, but within the industry itself, that the industry would know that there was a differentiation with contractors that were members of HRAC.  


Sorry, maybe I should just say and I chaired that particular committee.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Enbridge witnesses have said that the essence of the EnergyLink program is to increase throughput, to -- for load growth.  Do you have any thoughts on whether that's, that goal is achievable and on what things they should do to fill the pipes?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Absolutely.  I believe that there is a lot more that can be done, in terms of educating consumers.  They have very successfully, with the support of industry in the past several years, hosted some events, and I think some of them are referenced earlier; for instance Gord Cook has done some workshops in terms of encouraging contractors to understand and how to upsell high-efficiency equipment.  


I have attended some of the workshops with respect to boilers and tankless water heaters.  They have done some on natural gas fireplaces.  So I think that that is an excellent way to:  A, first of all, educate the contractors that, in turn the contractor can then educate the consumer.  


As well, they used to have a wonderful program and actually it was very interesting at the time, because in a lot of cases they were co-joined with another utility, so in other words Ontario Hydro at the time and perhaps Consumers Gas because it was under their auspices at the time, would run what we would call a community meeting.  So they would be wanting to expand the gas line into the area.  They would host a meeting where they would discuss what the advantages would be and what the process would be, in terms of signing up to natural gas and I believe that those types of facilities are very good.  


As well, I think that there is a lot more education pieces that could be done, in terms of if you want to tag it, bill stuffers, advertisements, articles in papers, that type of thing could certainly educate consumers out there in terms of some of the benefits of switching to natural gas or, indeed, increasing the usage of natural gas and going more high efficiency.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't mentioned EnergyLink in there.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I have not. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What do you think about EnergyLink as a method of achieving load growth?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I have some concerns.  As I said before, I have a very strong -- we work very hard to have a strong relationship with our customers.  I am concerned that because it is a regulated body, it has a presence that as a small -- we are a very small company.  We have ten employees.  We serve a small residential market, primarily in the York region.  


That has -- carries a lot of clout within the marketplace.  I can't possibly compete with that.  By extension, to a certain extent, there is approval by the Ontario Energy Board, because it's under the auspices, Enbridge runs under the auspices of that.  


If I am not part of this program, then potentially my customers are going to consider the fact that I am not qualified, that I am not a legal entity in the province of Ontario and I resent that.  We work very hard.  We -- in fact, just to comment earlier, we are a quality-assessed contractor through TSSA.   That's a voluntary program.  As I said, we want to differentiate ourselves in the marketplace and we took up on that.  In fact, we were the first HVAC contractor in our area to get that designation.  


So I feel very strongly that the impact, if you would, or the perception that will be out in the marketplace that if you are not an EnergyLink dealer, that A, you are not qualified, that you're not worthy of doing it.  


The other thing that I want to emphasize as well is that -- I will go back to my experience as a Consumers Gas dealer, back in the olden days, if you would.  


If there were three leads given out, the public perception and I heard that myself was that:  Well, you're all equal.  So I guess we'll go with price.  Well we're not all equal.  And the same value goes as well that, if there is a similarity or an equalness with respect to EnergyLink dealer, then there must also be an equalness, if you would, of an unqualified contractor who wasn't part of the program.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Let me turn to you, Mr. Leis.  What's your position at Ozz?  


MR. LEIS:  I'm the general manager of their Comfort Solutions division.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you briefly summarize your views of the EnergyLink program.  


MR. LEIS:  Well, just to give you a bit of background.  Ozz is a relatively small water-heater financing company.  And to put it in perspective, even though we're number 3, number 1 and 2 are about ten times my size.  


They had the benefit of growing underneath the utility.  Direct Energy now has the old Consumers portfolio and Union Energy has the old Union Gas portfolio.  When Enbridge has inklings of getting back in the HVAC business, I am naturally concerned and I also don't understand the need, because out of the customers that we had every year, penetration is complete.  It's all natural gas.


So I just wonder why they're getting into this program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Has Ozz taken any action to create or expand a brand?


MR. LEIS:  Yes, we have, actually.  We're a founding sponsor of Energy Star For New Homes, and we work very hard to improve efficiency in new homes.  To differentiate ourselves from our two big competitors, what we do is we offer free Energy Star consulting services to builders to help them build more efficient housing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What impact do you think the EnergyLink brands will have on Ozz?


MR. LEIS:  I think we will become ‑‑ we'll basically have Enbridge as a go-between between us and our customer, and what we have invested in our brand would dissipate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have raised the question of Enbridge's motivation for the program.  They have said that they get calls, 25,000 calls a year, that they need to deal with.  Do you have any comments on that?


MR. LEIS:  Well, I just ‑‑ dealing with builders, we get most of our business through the building community.  Builders are informed consumers, generally.  And I am always amazed at how often they refer to Direct Energy as Enbridge or even Consumers Gas.


The disassociation between the energy services company, which is now Direct Energy, and Enbridge never really happened.  And the EnergyLink program is going to further cement that confusion, I think, in the marketplace.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe I could turn to you, Mr. Latreille.  Tell us something about your company.


MR. LATREILLE:  Holmes Heating was founded in 1962 as a service contractor to Consumers Gas and, over the years, just continued to grow and get involved in other HVAC business, such as installation of furnaces and subsequently air‑conditioning units and so on.  And the company just kept growing and growing and growing.


The company was part of the authorized Consumers Gas network, as well as also an authorized service contractor as well.


In 1993, my father-in-law, who was the founder of Holmes Heating, wished to retire, and my partner approached me and said, I think we could grow Holmes Heating from where it is today into a real powerhouse, and we subsequently purchased the company from her dad and grew the company from approximately less than a million in revenues and eleven employees to a company that is well in excess of 6-1/2 million with about, as of today, 71 employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The company panel, the last panel, testified that the Authorized Dealer Network was terminated with six months' notice.  Can you comment on that?


MR. LATREILLE:  It certainly was not in our case, Mr. Shepherd.  We were asked to attend a meeting on January the 15th, 1999, and the reason I know the date so well is that was the date that the former mayor of Toronto, Mr. Lastman, decided to call out the Canadian Army to help with snow removal in Toronto, which never did come about.  


We were called to a meeting where Mr. Gary Highfield, who was the eastern Ontario sales manager for Consumers Gas at the time, indicated to the group of people, with no pre-warning, that the authorized dealer program was being terminated and that we had 30 days in which to get our affairs in order and that we were to discontinue the use of any reference or any logos or anything else concerning our affiliation with Consumers Gas.  


As I say, it was a 30-day period.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the impact on your company?


MR. LATREILLE:  It was ‑‑ we had already gone through somewhat the same thing when we stopped being a service contractor, where we had to go out and do our own brand marketing and actually not be so dependent upon Consumers Gas for leads and service work, and that type of thing.


So we were a little bit better prepared, but there were several of the contractors that were in that room that just -- they walked away and said, What am I going to do?  How am I going to live, because they were so dependent upon Consumers Gas to generate leads for them.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  The company's panel was asked on Monday, last Monday, whether they were aware of a number of contractors going out of business when the Authorized Dealer Network was discontinued.  They said they weren't aware of that.  


Do you have any recollection of what happened in the industry when the program was discontinued?


MR. LATREILLE:  I have direct recollection.  I remember there is very definitely two contractors that declared bankruptcy within about 14 months, and I don't know if it's appropriate to use their names.  I haven't checked the legality of doing so, but I can make it available.  And there was a third contractor that, as a matter of fact, my father-in-law asked me could I help, because he was going through a very rough time, and help him, show him how to start to regain his own company and generate his old leads, because he was an old friend of his in the industry, and we did so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Was this common knowledge in the industry?


MR. LATREILLE:  It certainly was common among the contractors.  And individuals that would talk to me about it, and that type of thing, were actually very upset.  They would have thought that there should have been some kind of a contingency plan, because some of these people had been authorized dealers for many, many years and all of a sudden they were just told, In 30 days, a very large part of your business that you depend on is now no longer available to you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us your view of the EnergyLink program, then?


MR. LATREILLE:  I have a couple of concerns with the EnergyLink program, and I think one of them, Ms. McKeraghan pointed out, is the fact that the perception in the Ottawa market, because I chose and our company chose not to sign an expression of interest or to become necessarily an EnergyLink contractor, the perception that we're going to have from some of our customers is that we're less than some contractor who has signed up as an EnergyLink contractor.  


The Enbridge brand name is extremely powerful and there is no two ways around it.  Even though they have not been actively involved in the HVAC industry, it is so powerful.  As a matter of fact, it is scary.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why didn't you sign up?


MR. LATREILLE:  I felt that there was -- when they first came to us and discussed the program, I felt that the program had already been designed and there was not a whole lot of input.  This was going to be the program.  And they were ‑‑ they didn't have any details to be able to explain to me where the program was going, where it was going to be in three to five years down the road, and I felt, as did my partner, that we would be ill advised to sign any document, including an expression of interest, unless we ‑‑ unless we actually knew what it was that we were signing and what we were getting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The company's witnesses have said that this program is about load growth, about growing the overall pie by having a motivated channel and a brand around natural gas.  Can you comment on that?


MR. LATREILLE:  I can tell you, Mr. Shepherd, I'm motivated every single day, and the motivation is called survival.


We are 100 percent natural gas, as far as our fuel part.  It would behoove me to ensure that I go out and look for ways of having clients change from an alternative fuel to natural gas.  It's in my best interest.


If I don't have a lot of new customers on natural gas, then I can't grow my business.  So automatically I think that the motivation among most of the contractors in the industry is that we will promote the use of natural gas wisely, as well, because we're all involved in the programs, as well.


So from that perspective, it would be like shooting myself in the foot if I didn't promote the use of natural gas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to ask you about a couple of comments that the company panel made.  One was a comment that retailers, and in particular they named Sears, don't offer installation of gas appliances, but just tell the customers to call the ‑‑ to call the gas company.  Can you comment on that?


MR. LATREILLE:  I know for a fact that Sears in Ottawa -- and, unfortunately, I cannot speak about any other locations in which Sears are involved, but Sears have a network of sub‑contractors that they actively refer installations to, because they know that at the end of the day, a client is not going to buy a natural-gas range or a natural-gas dryer or a water tank and not have anyone to install it, because physically they cannot do it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The company panel also testified that they believe, through EnergyLink, they can increase the market share of gas ranges and dryers from 20 percent to 30 percent in one year.  Can you comment on that?


MR. LATREILLE:  The only thing I can say, Mr. Shepherd, is that part of the problem getting the increase load is the price difference between the basic appliances.  If you go out and you look at the cost of, say, an electric range or electric dryer and compare it to a natural-gas range or a natural gas dryer, in some cases with dryers there's about a $300 difference between the two appliances; not only that, but you have to take into account the cost of extending gas piping, and the venting requirements and the additional labour to do all of that.


So a client is looking to replace their -- say their dryer, and they're looking at it and saying, Am I prepared to spend -- at this point in time, to spend as much as maybe $5- or $600 more for an appliance that I'm still going to have for about 15 years?  Does it make sense to me to do that?  


The only way that you're going to increase the throughput is if you offer incentives to customers to do that.  But if you're just asking them to do it on their own, economically, it's very hard to justify.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Finally, with respect to rental water heaters we heard from the Enbridge panel that: "We have a lot of contractors that aren't sure who to approach in what company." 


And so they put together a list so that the EnergyLink contractors would know who to call.  Can you comment on that?  


MR. LATREILLE:  Again, I can only comment in the Ottawa region, but I can tell you quite frankly, every wholesaler that provides plumbing and HVAC supplies to the industry all carry a full complete line of natural-gas water tanks from 40 gallon conventional units all the way up to 75 gallon power vented.  I did a poll shortly before I was asked to appear, and the five contractors that I spoke to, three were of a sizeable size, and two were relatively small ones, they all knew exactly where to go and purchase water tanks for their clients.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Grochmal, finally let me turn to you.  How long has Atlas Air been in business? 


MR. GROCHMAL:  We’re celebrating our 75th year this year. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You acquired the business in 1986. 


MR. GROCHMAL:  I did. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What's your experience with the old Authorized Dealer Network?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  We were, what I would call a Tier 3 dealer.  You had the service guys, you had the guys that took leads.  I didn't want leads.  I found that that process to be not very acceptable.  Because we found when we went to most of the leads, they had already been sold.  It seemed to me some people were getting preferential treatment in terms of timing of leads so we didn't bother to pursue that. The reason we were a dealer was because you really had to be.  You had no option.  You had to have that logo somewhere in your representation so that the marketplace would see you as being -- somebody said “worthy,” I think that is a good expression.  It allowed us to put on-bill financing, and allowed us access to rental water heaters because, quite frankly, at that point in time, very, I don't know of anybody that ever sold a water heater.  The only way you could put a water heater when you were changing a furnace was a rental.  So you need to have access to that pool of rental water heaters and we had to have access to on-bill financing to compete in the market.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had an incident with the Authorized Dealer Network; can you tell us about that.  


MR. GROCHMAL:  I did.  I don't know that I can specifically tell you the date.  But we do a lot of direct-mail marketing and I produce a newsletter that talks about the things that we do, technologies, trying to educate our customers.  And one of the people that happened to receive this was a former president of the company, Mr. Monkley, who then saw something in there we made a claim that we were a quality above the other people working in the Enbridge area.  


And as the chair suggested earlier, I was taken to the woodshed and given a severe verbal, a reprimand and a six-month suspension from the program.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is your impression of what's happened to the industry since the Authorized Dealer Network was discontinued?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  Sorry, I didn't hear that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is your impression of what has happened to the industry since the Authorized Dealer Network was discontinued?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  Oh, I think it's been pretty exciting.  Our experience has tracked what Mr. Latreille has said.  We've been able to grow our business.  


When somebody is controlling the business and they're dealing out who gets what, it's very hard to grow your business and obtain market share when almost all of it is being channelled through this particular avenue.  


So once the business was separated and we were all free to compete equally in the marketplace, you're now in a position where you can grow your business.  And our business over the last few years has tripled in size and we expect to triple it again in size, over the next couple of years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What has been the impact of that open market on your customers?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  It's -- I think it's been very, very good.  There is more true competition.  It's different competitors.  It is bigger competitors.  It is well financed.  People who know how to market.  


Homeowners are much better educated.  We find that they're making better choices.  They're buying high efficiency, much more than we used to.  The product offerings were basically, in the old days, a standard water heater and a standard- or mid-efficiency furnace.  Today we're offering things like tankless water heaters.  We're able to go to high-efficiency furnaces, with ECM high-efficiency motors.  


And homeowners are getting, I think, great value, great choice in the marketplace today.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  The company witnesses talked about the customer satisfaction test in their contract.  Ten percent complaints for three months would be -- you would fail the test.  


Can you comment on that test? 


MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, I just have one question.  Was this 10 percent that would reach to Enbridge?  Or are these 10 percent internally in the company?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is 10 percent that they would know about. 


MR. GROCHMAL:  They would know about.  That means you have a lot more you are clearing up before you got there.  That's one of the reasons we chose not to join the program.  This quality standard is far too low.  


We went out a couple of years ago and secured an ISO 9001:2000 registration which requires us to have very high quality standards.  And we couldn't belong.  ISO would not condone us belonging to a program that would have such a low-quality standard.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can any of the other contractors on the panel comment on that quality standard?  


MR. LATREILLE:  Absolutely.  I think if anyone in our industry ever had a 10 percent complaint rate, in other words, you've tried to resolve it -- and, as Mr. Grochmal mentioned, those are only the ones that are being brought to Enbridge -- if I had a 10 percent level that had to be brought to someone for arbitration, I would be out of business very shortly because that would mean that I'm not doing very good quality work and I'm not capable of satisfying our clients.  


Most of the contractors I talk to have a customer survey that they use continuously with their clients when they do an installation and they ask pointed questions.  We, ourselves, have had one for in excess of ten years.  Every complaint that is brought up, any one of the items  in that survey that comes up that is a negative comment gets addressed by the president of the company. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you aware of any other complaint rates that are used in the industry?  


MR. LATREILLE:  In all of the courses that our people have attended with both Brine Corporation and Lennox Industries, they all emphasize the simple fact that ultimately you are always going to have a rate of somewhere between half a percent and one percent.  If you're over one percent, then that means you're doing something very seriously wrong or some of your people are not doing what they're supposed to be doing.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  If I could just comment as well.  Quality control is extremely important to us.  And consequently, every employer -- every employee that we have does a minimum of two weeks' training every year to maintain standards and upgrade their skills as well as their technical knowledge.  


We employ no one that is not fully licensed and most of our mechanics are multi-licensed.  We have 100 percent satisfaction guarantee, put it in writing with every installation.  If there is any problem, at all, whatsoever, in the customer's mind, it hasn't performed, it hasn't done what we said it was going to do within the first year, we will either give them their money back or replace with an equal or higher product.  


In five years, we have never had had to ever do that.  


Because we have our own employees and they're not sub-contractors, we can train them, we can guarantee that our work is going to meet a consistent standard, it doesn't matter what the installation is, a consistent standard.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Final question.  Mr. Grochmal, back to you.  How much do you spend on marketing?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  A considerable amount.  We have a budget this year of about $350,000.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if the EnergyLink program goes ahead -- you haven't signed up; right?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  I have not. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  If the EnergyLink program goes ahead, what would be the impact on your business?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, we're going to have to spend time, additional time trying to differentiate ourselves from this program.  


We already spend time differentiating ourselves in the marketplace from our other major competitors and I think we have established our niche in the market.  


With our existing customers it is not an issue.  It is when you're trying to get those new customers to grow your business, and if somebody has a path that is really simple and easy to use, it's going to take them through the Enbridge call centre or their website or whatever, it's going to cost us a lot of money to have to get out there and compete with that.  As a matter of fact, we just launched a major advertising campaign today, that is a little cheeky, hopefully it will have some impact in the marketplace.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  How is it cheeky?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  Well...


MR. SHEPHERD:  It’s the first I heard of this, obviously.  Dangerous question. 


MR. GROCHMAL:  The theme of the program is “Ask Roger.”  You will hear it on radio and you will see it if you're at Union Station or various other venues around town.  We will ask – it is sort of the equivalent of call-in show where people will ask me questions about whether it is a fashion question or maybe about the birds and the bees or whatever, and we have solutions that draw them to Home Comfort.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, my witnesses are available for cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry about the long direct, but I thought it was just helpful to have them say their piece.


MR. KAISER:  What's the order, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  I don't know if any other counsel have cross‑examination, but if they do, I would hope that they would precede me.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Ms. Crain, do you have anything?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAIN:


MS. CRAIN:  Thank you, yes.  I just have a handful of questions for Mr. Leis.  I'm Kirsten Crain.  I am here for Union Energy.  I am just looking at your CV, and I notice from 1998 to 2000 you were with Enbridge Home Services?


MR. LEIS:  Yes, I was.


MS. CRAIN:  It says here you were the manager acquisitions and planning?


MR. LEIS:  Yes, I was.


MS. CRAIN:  So you were at Enbridge during the time of the Authorized Dealer Network; is that right?


MR. LEIS:  Yes.  When it ended mainly, yeah.


MS. CRAIN:  Right.  Sir, are you familiar with the following companies:  21 Degrees, Bridlewood, Campbell?


MR. LEIS:  Yes.  They are former contractors for Consumers Gas.


MS. CRAIN:  So they were all authorized dealers under the Authorized Dealer Network?


MR. LEIS:  Yes.


MS. CRAIN:  And are you aware of the fact that they were bought, then, by Union Energy?


MR. LEIS:  Yes.


MS. CRAIN:  And what happened after they were purchased by Union Energy; do you know?


MR. LEIS:  Well, eventually, I think it's public knowledge that they were delisted as contractors and the rental water heater service calls no longer went to them.


MS. CRAIN:  Do you know why they were delisted?


MR. LEIS:  At the time ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just going to interrupt, because I know the question that is coming and I don't want Mr. Leis' answer to get in before the Board has had a chance to deal with what the question and answer are.


Mr. Leis was an Enbridge employee at the time, and, as I understand it, was in the room at the time the decision was made to terminate these three contractors.


He, I believe, subsequently signed a confidentiality agreement and, thus, there is some danger that he will say something that would be contrary to that agreement.  The reason I am raising it is because it's our view that he should be allowed to answer these questions, and the reason is, because if he were an Enbridge employee, he would be required to answer them before this Board.


This all happened while he was an Enbridge employee.  So I am raising it now so it doesn't get in the record accidentally.


MR. KAISER:  I'm not sure he has a confidentiality agreement, but he wants to answer the questions, anyway, and you're worried that Mr. Cass would object; is that it?  Do you have an objection, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I am not sure which Enbridge organization is even being referred to that Mr. Leis was an employee of at the time.


I can't comment on whether he's in breach of some confidentiality obligation to an employer if he answers the question.  I had no objection to the question before Mr. Shepherd spoke up, but I am not in a position to comment on Mr. Leis's confidentiality obligations, or -- I don't even know what company he was employed with at the time.


MR. KAISER:  Which company were you employed with at the time?


MR. LEIS:  I was with Consumers First.


MR. KAISER:  Consumers Gas?


MR. LEIS:  Consumers First, which was the predecessor of Enbridge Home Services.


MR. KAISER:  Does that help you?


MR. CASS:  It doesn't sound like he even was an employee of the utility at the time, Mr. Chair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair --


MR. KAISER:  That company I guess is long gone, is it?


MR. CASS:  I believe that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That company at the time was a wholly owned subsidiary of the utility.


MR. KAISER:  Well, if it was, it was.  I guess it comes back to you, Mr. Cass.  To the extent that company has any rights here, I guess you acquired them somehow?


MR. CASS:  Again, Mr. Chair, I'm not objecting to the question.  I can't comment on what confidentiality exists.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.


MS. CRAIN:  I'm afraid I've lost the thread of my question.  It was quite exciting, though.  


I guess what I was coming to, Mr. Leis, is I gather that you were in the room when that decision was made, and can you help us with whether that decision to remove these companies from the Authorized Dealer Network had anything to do with the fact that they had been acquired by Union Energy?


MR. LEIS:  Well, I think I can just comment what is on the public record.  What was actually stated in that room is one thing, but the fact is is that at the time, Consumers First was set up to bring in Enbridge Home Services, which was going to take on all of the ancillary programs that were in the utility.


The fact is that Union Energy would have been a direct competitor to that.  So it's logical that they would not fund their competitor.


MS. CRAIN:  Well, now you have just piqued my curiosity.  What was said in that room?


MR. LEIS:  I won't comment on that.  Basically, the end result is what was said in that room; right?  What was said in that room resulted in the decision.


MS. CRAIN:  Right.  I take it it was a competitive issue, and a decision was made to remove these companies from the list because of the acquisition?


MR. LEIS:  Naturally.  They were planning to get into the business and Union Energy was a competitor.


MS. CRAIN:  Thank you.


MR. LEIS:  You're welcome.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have anything?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Matthews?


MR. MATTHEWS:  We have some questions, but we weren't prepared to go at this time.  I wondered if we could ask to follow Enbridge.  Our questions are not related to EnergyLink.  They're related to the bill insert, which we're supporting with Enbridge.  So on that basis, I wonder if we could go after Fred -- Mr. Cass.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory to you, Mr. Cass?  


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  That's fine with me, Mr. Chair, if the questions are not on EnergyLink.


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Panel, if I may, I would like to start just by making sure that I understand some of the organizations you have referred to, if you don't mind bearing with me on that.


First, one organization that's been referred to is HRAI.  As I understand it, that is an organization that represents manufacturers, wholesalers and contractors in the HVAC business; is that correct?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And it includes wholesalers ‑ and correct me if I'm wrong ‑ through a separate organization called Canadian Heating, Refrigeration and Air‑Conditioning Wholesalers?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct, yes.  Now, it's not a separate organization.  I think the right term would be HRAI is -- it's a single sort of constituted, I guess, incorporated body that has three divisions, each representing different elements of the distribution channel.  


So the manufacturers division is distinct from the wholesalers division, also known as CHRAW, and is distinct from HRAC, the contractors' division, by virtue of the fact that they each have separate budgets, separate board of directors, and those boards all have representation on the HRAI board, which I guess, for lack of a better term, could be seen as the administrative board for the overall organization.


HRAI provides services to each of these three divisions, which are presented to their constituencies as kind of quasi-independent organizations.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  And you had anticipated my next question, which was that the contractors' part of HRAI is what is represented through HRAC?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I just wanted to get a sense of numbers.  Please correct me if I am wrong, because I think the number I have seen was wrong.


I looked at the website, and it appeared to indicate that HRAI has over 900 members in Canada and the United States.  Is that an accurate number for HRAI?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  The actual number today is more like about 1,100 companies.  We don't have any members in the United States.  It is strictly Canadian.  And I think they gave the breakdown, rough breakdown earlier, but it would be approximately 80 manufacturers, 40 wholesalers, roughly 800 contractors, and the balance being associates, who are non‑voting members who are not part of the distribution channel.  


I should just add that the contractor membership is comprehensive.  It ranges ‑‑ there is some evidence that was filed previously, I guess - I think it was an Enbridge filing - that said there are a number of conspicuous companies that are not members of HRAI or HRAC, and I want to correct the record that that is not the case.  


In fact, Sears Canada is a member.  All of the companies owned by service experts, also known as Lennox Industries, are members.  Direct Energy is not a member today, but we are in discussions about membership, and they would be the only ‑‑ I would suggest the only conspicuous absence, in terms of larger companies who exist in the marketplace.  


The balance of our members are obviously, you know, the great many smaller contractors that exist across the country.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  So for clarity, then, Direct Energy is not a member of HRAC or HRAI?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right, corporately.


MR. CASS:  Pardon?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, I guess to be completely accurate about it, Direct Energy some years ago acquired a number of companies who were previously HRAC members.  And a decision made by our board at the time was, the reason Direct Energy is not a member is that they were, for lack of a better term, barred from membership by our board of directors as long as the billing arrangement that existed with Enbridge prevailed.  


Our members felt that that was inappropriate arrangement and it was a violation of our code of ethics which includes that members cannot benefit unfairly from unique competitive advantage, by virtue of a relationship with a utility.  


So Direct Energy was barred from membership.  But an exception to that decision, our Board said that if the company was previously a member and they were acquired by Direct Energy, we would not penalize them by expelling them from membership.  So there is some halfway between kind of companies out there, probably a dozen or so who are -- franchisees too, yes, sorry.  I should be clear.  Direct Energy franchisees.  There is a half dozen of those who are members of HRAC.  


MR. CASS:  So when you made the comment the Board had barred Direct Energy, that –- 


MR. LUYMES:  The HRAC board of directors, yes.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now you referred to 800 contractors who are members of HRAI.  So would they all be members of HRAC?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  How many of those would be in Ontario?  


MR. LUYMES:  Approximately 500.  


MR. CASS:  Now, do you have an idea of how many HVAC contractors in Ontario are registered with the TSSA?  


MR. LUYMES:  I would say last time I heard an estimate it was around 3,000. 


MR. CASS:  I heard something more in the order of 6,600.  So you don't think that that would be a more accurate number?  


MR. LUYMES:  I don't.  Not as registered contractors.  It may be a number -- I don't know what that number is.  It seems quite high.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  But your number then would be 3,000 TSSA-registered contractors in Ontario. 


MR. LUYMES:  Right, right.  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  And of those do you have a sense how many would be in the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise area?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  I would only guess that it would be proportional to the share of market.  It's -- the distribution of those contractors -- I should note that of 3,000 contractors when we did a survey some years ago, using the best available data, we found that something like 75 percent of those companies have fewer than five employees.  In other words, it's predominantly very, very small companies.  


So the distribution of those companies is pretty widely spread across the territory.  So if you wanted a number, you would probably just do, what's the Enbridge share of the Ontario population?  Do the calculation, you would probably get pretty close to the right number of contractors. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  So it is fair to say it is probably in the 1,500 to 2,000 range at least. 


MR. LUYMES:  Fair to say.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  So the total number of HRAC members in Ontario is only a small proportion of the total number registered with the TSSA; right?  


MR. LUYMES:  That's true, in terms of the number of companies.  It's not true in terms of the share of the business in the province.  I would guess that our membership probably accounts for two-thirds of the business being conducted in the province.  The vast majority of the companies who are not members of HRAI or HRAC are very small contractors, typically one- or two-man operations.  


Our own studies show that these companies don't join any type of association, so we don't even – well, not that we wouldn't welcome them, but we accept that the majority of them just are not in the habit of joining industry associations.  So in terms of share of the market, I would say our membership is pretty representative.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well you did express your view that many of them are small.  I heard that already.  But just to be sure, in terms of the numbers of them, the numbers of HVAC contractors in Ontario, the proportion that actually belongs to HRAC on the basis of the number of contractors is relatively small.  Isn't it?  


MR. LUYMES:  As a share of the number of companies?  


MR. CASS:  Yes. 


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, that would be fair to say.  


MR. CASS:  I did just want to clarify something in your evidence if you don't mind.  It is just two different references if I could take you to them so that you could help me understand why I am not totally able to reconcile them.  


Do you have Exhibit L26 there with you?  


MR. LUYMES:  L26 being our prefiled evidence?  Yes, I have it.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  First I'm looking at page 3 of L26, in paragraph 3.  Paragraph 3 says that: 

~“All members of HRAC who operate within the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise areas were asked by e-mail to participate in the survey.” 


Next sentence appears to indicate that this is 269 members of HRAC.  Right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes. 


MR. CASS:  I just wanted to reconcile that with the response to interrogatory number 16 from Enbridge Gas Distribution; that would be Exhibit I, tab 30, schedule 16.  


MR. LUYMES:  I'll try to find that.  Sorry, could you give me the reference again?  


MR. CASS:  Yes, yes.  Exhibit I beings tab 30, schedule 16.  It is interrogatory number 16 from Enbridge Gas Distribution.  So if you could keep your finger at page 3 of L26. 


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  Now this answer says there are at least 269 members who operate in the EGD franchise area, it says:

~“This is the number who choose to communicate via e-mail and there are another 30 to 40 who communicate by other means.”  


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  


MR. CASS:  So I am just trying to figure out, which is the right number, is it the 269 in paragraph 3 on page 3 of L26?  Or is it something more than 269 as in this interrogatory number 16?  


MR. LUYMES:  It's -- the number would be slightly higher than 269.  I guess the statement that is missing maybe in paragraph 3 is it should say:  “All of those contractors who have access to e-mail.”  The survey method we chose to use we've had some success with in the past, it’s called Survey Monkey.  It can only be conducted online via e-mail so we did a bit of a calculated risk, I guess you could say, by limiting the survey to only those members who have access by e-mail.  And that meant that we effectively would have left out probably about 30 or 40 contractors.  


MR. CASS:  But I take it you would know precisely how many HRAC members you have in Ontario, would you not?  


MR. LUYMES:  In Ontario?  


MR. CASS:  In Ontario. 


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Roughly 500. 


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  Would you know precisely how many you have in the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise area. 


MR. LUYMES:  That would be the number.  Yes.  That plus the number -- there was 269 that we sent the e-mail invitation to.  Being the number of our contractors, to the best of our knowledge, who fit within the Enbridge franchise area who have e-mail addresses.  


MR. CASS:  Okay. 


MR. LUYMES:  That's where that number comes from. 


MR. CASS:  Aside from the number who have e-mail addresses, what is the total number of HRAC members in the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise area?  


MR. LUYMES:  I would have to look that up.  


MR. CASS:  Can you do that?  


MR. LUYMES:  Sure.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Can we have an undertaking number for that, Mr. Battista.  


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J11.9.  


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.9:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF MEMBERS 


OF HRAC WHO OPERATE WITHIN THE ENBRIDGE GAS 


DISTRIBUTION FRANCHISE AREA


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  


MR. BATTISTA:  Could you restate it, please. 


MR. CASS:  Yes.  The numbers of members of HRAC who are within Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise area.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cass, can I ask, “who are within”, does that mean that their head office is in the franchise area, they do business in the franchise area?  I want to make sure we clean this up before we get into any problems in the future.  


MR. CASS:  That's a good question, Mr. Vlahos.  I meant operate within.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Operate within, all right.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  


MR. LUYMES:  Just so you know, that's a bit of a judgment call on our part.  We have to make some assumptions about contractors, where they're located and what they tell us their service areas are.  In some cases, they may closely, you know, impinge on the territory.  They may be doing some limited business within the franchise area.  We have to make some judgment.  So we may over or under state slightly, I would suggest, it's possible.  We don't have a precise definition.  We don't ask the question of our members what franchise area they service, so we have to make some best guesses. 


MR. CASS:  Well, am I right in thinking no one on this panel actually has a mandate here today to speak on behalf of HRAC?  


MR. LUYMES:  Other than myself?  


MR. CASS:  Do you have a mandate here to speak -- 


MR. LUYMES:  No.  I have a mandate to speak on behalf of the HVAC Coalition. 


MR. CASS:  That's what I thought.  So on behalf of HRAC you don't have such a mandate?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  


MR. CASS:  So I will move on then.  If you had had the mandate then I would be more interested in how you obtained it from those people you have referred to, but I will move on.  


Then there is another organization called the Ontario Refrigeration and Air-conditioning Contractors Association. 


MR. LUYMES:  Correct, yes. 


MR. CASS:  What is that organization?


MR. LUYMES:  That's a group of commercial HVAC contractors who operate within Ontario who are strictly commercial, industrial contractors and unionized, so their main bond of association as a group of contractors is by virtue of their participation in the collective agreement with Local 787 of the United Association, so basically the definition of ORAC would be unionized commercial industrial HVAC contractors in the Province of Ontario.


MR. CASS:  All right.  No one on the panel here is speaking today on behalf of that organization?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  So then that brings me to the HVAC Coalition.  Are all members of the HVAC Coalition also members of HRAC?


MR. LUYMES:  That's a good question.  I don't know that for a fact, but I would hazard a guess that the vast majority of them are members of HRAC.  I can't say with certainty that all of them are.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, you did indicate that you have a mandate here to speak on behalf of HVAC Coalition.  How do you know who it is you're speaking on behalf of, if you're not able to determine who they are in relation to HRAC?


MR. LUYMES:  Okay, we don't ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, sorry.  I have let this go on, but I am starting to have some doubts about the relevance of this.


If Mr. Cass has a point, perhaps he could tell us where he's going, because it's not normal that you ask witnesses, Do you really represent the organization that has presented you as witnesses and is paying the bills?


MR. KAISER:  Well, I thought where he was going is he was trying to find out how the witness got his instructions.


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  There obviously are a lot of HVAC contractors in Ontario.  Whatever the number may be, there is a lot of them in the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise areas.  I'm just trying to be sure for the record on whose behalf these witnesses are speaking, particularly in relation to these various organizations, and I think it's been quite clear so far, but ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  It sounds like there is a board of directors.


MR. LUYMES:  I don't mind answering that.  The HVAC Coalition does have a board of directors, and if you're asking about our membership, the membership of the HVAC Coalition is distinct from that of HRAC, in that membership depends on paying a form of financial support to the HVAC Coalition.  So there will be some HRAC members who choose not to be members of the HVAC Coalition.


It is one of the reasons the HVAC Coalition is separately constituted from HRAC and HRAI.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, that is useful.  So then in respect of HRAC, you had indicated that the numbers within Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise areas were 269 plus 30 to 40, and you're going to get a more precise number, to the extent that you can.


I take it from what you've just said, then, that the HVAC members within Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise areas would be something less than that?


MR. LUYMES:  It's probably something less than that, yes.


MR. CASS:  All right.


MR. LUYMES:  We don't have 100 percent support from every HRAC member.  There was no automatic signup.  It's a voluntary -- separate voluntary membership by way of payment to the HVAC Coalition.  We have substantial ‑‑ I would guess probably 80 to 90 of that number support from that group, plus beyond.  


We have membership in the HVAC Coalition that extends beyond the Enbridge Gas Distribution territory.  We have contractors throughout Ontario who support our initiatives, even though they aren't necessarily directly affected.


MR. CASS:  Right.  You said, I would guess 80 to 90 percent.  Do you not know the number that you purport to be speaking on behalf of?


MR. LUYMES:  I guess I can look that number up.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Could you do that, then, please?


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  No, we haven't filed that into evidence, I don't think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, maybe I could assist.  HVAC Interrogatory No. 3, Exhibit I, tab 30, schedule 3, which my friend has, says the Coalition currently has 375 members.


MR. KAISER:  Some of which, I take it, are not in Enbridge territory?


MR. CASS:  Yes, exactly.  It must be ‑-


MR. LUYMES:  I didn't realize -- sorry, I forgot that we filed that into evidence.


MR. CASS:  As the witness has already said, it must be something less than 269 plus 30 to 40.  It can't be 375.


MR. LUYMES:  No, no.  Wait.  That's not what I said.  I said those that are within the Enbridge franchise area, but I also said that we have members of the HVAC Coalition who conduct their business outside the franchise area.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  My question had to do with the franchise area, of which you have 269 plus 30 to 40 who are HRAC members.


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  I thought you agreed with me that the number in the franchise area for HVAC would be something less than that.


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Am I right in understanding that the HVAC Coalition was established by basically the same ‑‑ oh, was there not an undertaking number for that?


MR. LUYMES:  Do we need one if that evidence is on the record already?


MR. KAISER:  I think he agreed with your proposition that the number is somewhat less than the number referred to.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I was hoping that the witness ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Do you want the exact number?


MR. CASS:  ‑‑ would provide the number, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Can you provide an exact number?


MR. LUYMES:  Do you mean the number other than the one we have already filed?  I'm asking what number you are looking for now, I guess, other than --


MR. KAISER:  He wants the number that is in the franchise territory.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  That's already been asked for.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, I guess we would have to maybe ask some ‑‑ we have supporters.  It is not just contractors who support the HVAC Coalition.  We have manufacturer and wholesaler supporters, as well.  Do you want those?


MR. CASS:  No.  It is really the contractors.  I am interested in the number of contractors in the Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise area that support the HVAC Coalition.


MR. MILLAR:  That's J11.10.


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.10:  PROVIDE NUMBER OF 


CONTRACTORS IN THE ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION FRANCHISE 


AREA THAT SUPPORT THE HVAC COALITION.

MR. CASS:  Now, am I right in understanding that the HVAC Coalition was established by much the same people as HRAC as a public policy arm?


MR. LUYMES:  It was established by some of our members roughly 12 years ago, I think, maybe 13 years ago, yes, and those companies were HRAC members -- HRAI members, I should say.


MR. CASS:  Now, how was the mandate to speak on behalf of the HVAC Coalition given to you for the purposes of coming here today?


MR. LUYMES:  We have a board of directors.  That board of directors every year evaluates what proceedings are taking place.  The last few years I have to say it's been pretty thin.  We haven't had a lot of involvement at the Ontario Energy Board; haven't felt the need.  But that Board does meet periodically when issues arise.  


When this hearing was called, we knew that we had to be involved, because -- simply to follow up on the open bill question, which was based on the Board's decision of last ‑- at the last rate hearing.


In addition, our Board felt that we should make some representation in relation to the EnergyLink issue after reviewing the program.


The input to the Board of the HVAC Coalition came from a number of areas.  Number one, I guess the first group that alerted the HVAC Coalition board to the concern was the Industry Council; that's Enbridge Gas Distribution's industry council.  There are a number of -- in fact, I think all of the ‑‑ all but one of the companies that sit on that council are members of HRAI, and they brought this issue to the HVAC Coalition.


The HRAC has a board of directors, as I mentioned.  They reviewed the issue and felt that it was important that this issue be brought to the attention of the Ontario Energy Board and so provided that input to the HVAC Coalition.  


We have a council, which we call the Council of Large Residential Service Companies, I think, which includes -- it's a smaller group that includes representation from service experts, Union Energy, Ozz, Sears, Climate Care.  


They felt strongly that this issue should be brought to the attention of the Energy Board.  All of those inputs ‑‑ sorry, one other I forgot to mention is the HRAC has a council within Ontario called the Ontario Regional Council.  It has representatives from 12 -- our 12 chapters across the province, one of which is ORAC.  You mentioned ORAC earlier.  It also includes nine, I guess, residential -- ten residential company‑based chapters across the province, including one in the GTA and one in Ottawa, and a group in Toronto called the Toronto Residential Air Handlers Group.  


That group felt unanimously that this issue should be brought forward to the HVAC Coalition and to the Ontario Energy Board.  So that is where the impetus came from for the Coalition board.  They met.  They debated it.  They decided we needed to do the fundraising, as usual, to cover the costs of being at this hearing, and provided direction for myself and our legal counsel.


MR. CASS:  So the mandate comes from the Board as opposed to the membership at large?


MR. LUYMES:  Of the HVAC Coalition, that's correct, yes.  I assume that ‑‑ you know, our membership is elected by ‑‑ sorry, our board is elected by our membership on an annual basis.  Most recently, they were re-elected in November of 2006.  So I would suggest that - it was at our annual meeting that was held in Toronto - that if the Board was not in keeping with the wishes of the membership, they would not have been duly appointed as they were.  So I don't think there is an issue with our board representing the interests of the membership.  


MR. CASS:  I just wanted to be sure that in terms of what you're bringing to this Board, the Ontario Energy Board today, the mandate came from the board of directors as opposed to generally from the membership of HVAC.  


MR. LUYMES:  I don't see them as being one or the other.  I see them as the same.  


MR. CASS:  Well, did you go to the membership of HVAC and put it to a vote?  


MR. LUYMES:  We're not in the practice, neither at HRAC neither at HRAI nor the HVAC Coalition to put every vote to a membership.  Our vote is very simple:  We ask them to entrust their interests to a board of directors, which I think is perfectly normal practice in any organization, and I guess our form of asking for a show of support, we have a fundraising campaign which we have done very well on.  And that would indicate that the industry supports the position that the Board has taken. 


MR. CASS:  How many different HVAC contractors have contributed to that?  


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not at liberty to say. 


MR. CASS:  Why not?  


MR. LUYMES:  Because we have a policy within the HVAC Coalition that we do not reveal the sources of funding.  


MR. CASS:  I didn't ask you for their names, sir.  I just asked you how many different HVAC contractors have contributed to that.


MR. LUYMES:  The number would correspond precisely to the number that I provided earlier, that I undertook to provide earlier because membership is based on providing financial support.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  I'm talking here of HVAC contractors who specifically provided funding for the purposes of the issues that you're bringing here today.  And that number would be, what?  


MR. LUYMES:  That number would be the same number I undertook to provide earlier, so I will get that number. 


MR. CASS:  Okay.  


MR. KAISER:  Can I just be clear on that, Mr. Luymes.  I thought I heard you say that for the purpose of this proceeding, you had gone back to the membership to raise a special fund, as it were, to fund this legal costs.  Is that right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  It was a separate levy or whatever you want to call it. 


MR. LUYMES:  No.  It's not separate.  With respect to the HVAC Coalition, there is only one way we raise money, is we go to the industry cap in hand.  It is completely separate from HRAC, HRAI and all of the other organizations referenced. 


MR. KAISER:  So all of the members of the HVAC Coalition are contributing financially to this proceeding?  


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.  


MR. KAISER:  I have a question for you, I don't know whether this is where Mr. Cass is going, but this is just an interesting comment or interesting observation.  


A number of the people who are with you on this panel appear to have done very well, no doubt through a lot of hard work, when Enbridge exited the field, they saw an opportunity and they were skilled business people and they have grown their business.  


Now Enbridge gets back in.  And the question I want to put to you is as a trade association person, is it possible that the smaller members of your organization see a benefit in this program, but the larger members, the larger companies think it's just going to cost them market share?  Do you have any sense of that as being a trade association manager?



MR. LUYMES:  I think it is a plausible theory that smaller contractors who invest less in marketing themselves as contractors within the marketplace probably have more to gain.  And would express a greater level of interest.  Yes, I think that is fair to say.  


MR. KAISER:  It's not usual in trade associations to get splits in membership. 


MR. LUYMES:  We sometimes do get a split in membership.  I would say on this issue, as I indicated in the reference to the evidence we filed, the survey we did of the industry, there are differences of opinion.  And there are some small contractors, some probably some large contractors who say:  This is fine.  We're comfortable with it.  We didn't expect 100 percent unanimity on this issue.  


MR. KAISER:  Would this be a convenient time to take the -- 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I was just going to say, if I can comment as a small contractor.  As I said, we have a company of ten.  In terms of the EnergyLink program, I really think it brings little to the table.  We already participate -- our customers already get the benefit of incentive programs through the utility, through the manufacturers, as well through government programs.   


We already have access.  It is an open marketplace.  There have been wonderful financial options for us to share with our customers that are very convenient that they have enjoyed being able to have access to, and as I say, in terms of our company, we already have a satisfaction guarantee.  


So there is not a whole lot per se for our small company to go to this, other than the fact that I may, at some point, on a business decision, be forced to do so. 


MR. KAISER:  Just on that point.  Enbridge has made much of their view that bringing financing to the table was critical to getting the industry moving.  It sounds from what you're saying there is plenty of financing out there. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  There are plenty of financing.  I would tell you that in the days that we were a Consumers Gas dealer, as part of the authorized network, I would tell you that on average maybe 75 percent of the contracts were financed.  


This year -- well, let me back up.  I would say probably in the last seven months, we've done four contracts, financed contracts.  A lot of customers choose to go with a line of credit, because the interest rates are a whole lot lower.  A number of them tend to like to use their credit cards, because they get the points and the, you know, the toasters and all of that kind of neat stuff that they get.  But our call for financing, on every single contract that goes out in terms of a sale, there is a space at the bottom of contract for our comfort consultants to talk about what the options are with the customers.  


Very, very little call for it today, compared to what it was.  Plus the fact that the financing that's now available is at much better rates than what the original was through the Enbridge territory -- or through the Authorized Dealer Program.  And as well, they have some better benefits that weren't available as part of that.  We've got, you know, “Don't pay.”  We've got buy-down rates.  We have a number of different options for our customers that didn't exist on the -- 


MR. LEIS:  I would like to add to that.  Ozz has actually gone through two different – we’re actually on our third finance provider this year and the competition out there has really benefited us and the consumer, as the finance rates we can give to our customers have dropped, thanks to competition in the marketplace.  


MR. GROCHMAL:  Can I just clarify the one comment for the fact contractors were clamouring for financing.  We heard a lot about this in this hearing.  It's not that we were clamouring for financing.  I think the rationale here is we had a competitor, Direct Energy, who has exclusive access to the bill.  We were looking for an equal playing field.  That is the motive for the clamouring.  Not just because if they weren't on the bill, we wouldn't be clamouring to be on it because as we said there is lots of financing options available.  It was a purely competitive thing.  They could close, close the sale, put it on the gas bill, and it's a convenience that they offered that was unique to their situation.  


MR. KAISER:  So is it fair to say that getting on the bill is really the big competitive issue?  The rest of this is all window dressing?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  Well, everybody is on or nobody is on.  I mean at the end of the day, it has to be equal and fair to everybody.  


MR. LUYMES:  Mr. Chair, could I make one other clarification.  You talked about small contractors and their interest being distinct from larger companies that are maybe more marketing-focussed.  I think it should be said -- two things.  One thing is HRAC, the association that pays my salary, has made a great part of its business, I guess, or its mission to help bring the small contractor up.  


So I guess it causes me some pain to see that small contractors so easily flock to what I guess free leads.  I find it completely understandable that contractors would do this, but having said that, part of what our objective is in the association is to help build up small contractors to become more profitable, independent contractors who earn the business on the same level as the larger companies with larger marketing budgets do.  


I should also add that, I don't know if I said it earlier, I don't think I emphasized it enough is that neither HRAC nor the HVAC Coalition are opposed to the utility marketing.  It's not an issue of whether or not they should be assisting small and large contractors in acquiring new business in the natural gas area.  


It's really just a matter of how.  And I guess, as I said earlier, the feeling is now that this program exacts a great price from the small contractor in giving over, kinds of control over their customer relationship to the utility.  


MR. KAISER:  Can you explain that?  I was going to ask you about that, because this is a voluntary program.  They don't have to join but they chose to join and we heard from Mr. Shepherd the other day that his concern was, yes, they would join but they would somehow lose their identity.  The customer would no longer think he was dealing with the individual contractor but with Enbridge. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  If I could comment on that, if you don't mind.  The only relationship, I guess, is to go back to the old days.  I know it's not the same, but to go back to the situation that happened there.  


We were a Consumers Gas authorized dealer.  We would go out and we would put a furnace in Mrs. Jones' house.  Mrs. Jones would be thrilled with the job, and Mrs. Smith next door would come over to Mrs. Jones and she would say, Wow, great job.  Wow, this is really efficient.  They did a beautiful job.  Who did your work?  Consumers Gas.


MR. KAISER:  But the difference in those days --


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Now, today, if we go out and we do a job, it's, Who did that wonderful job?  It's Canco Climate Care.  We get that lead back.  We have that opportunity to create that relationship with that customer.


MR. KAISER:  I understand.  How would that change if your company had got that lead through the Enbridge program?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  If we do potentially a good job here and the job's done and they find us through the EnergyLink portal, the next time that they want a service, they may or may not be aware that we do that.  One of the things that I was hoping that would be available on the EnergyLink site is that if we did a job, that our existing customers would be able to go to the site and type in Canco Climate Care.  Yes, there is a member.  There isn't an availability for them to do that.


My name may not come up for another 300 rotations, in terms of that particular customer looking for that.  So I don't have that ability, if you would, to maintain that connection with my customer that I do when I'm an independent.


MR. KAISER:  But to use your example, if you did the good job and Mrs. Jones from next door came over, in the old days she asked her neighbour and the neighbour said Consumers and you didn't get the referral, notwithstanding the fact you did a great job, today your name would be on the furnace.  So it's not as bad as it was in the old days.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  That's true, but I would hazard a guess that next year it would be an EnergyLink contractor.  EnergyLink came.  It wouldn't be Canco Climate Care.  It would be EnergyLink.


MR. LATREILLE:  If I might, Mr. Chairman, one of the other points that I think has been touched on very briefly, but I don't think people understand what a significant impact it can have on medium-size contractors, and there are quite a number of us in Ontario.


As Mr. Grochmal had referred to earlier, his company spends $350,000 a year in marketing and advertising and Holmes Heating spends 275,000 to maintain its brand image.


I do that, Mr. Chair, out of Holmes Heating's pocket.  The EnergyLink program to get it up and running is being asked -- the Ontario Energy Board is being asked, Please fund it to the tune of $5 million plus.  I find that very, very unfair, as an independent contractor operating in Ontario, that I don't have access to that same pool of money that Enbridge Gas Distribution has because of its monopoly position.  


And I don't think ratepayers in Ontario should have to pay for that.


MR. KAISER:  Are you really saying you're not going to get your fair share of leads?


MR. LATREILLE:  I'm not going to get my fair share of anything, Mr. Chairman, because I am not a member of the EnergyLink program.


MR. KAISER:  But you could be.


MR. LATREILLE:  I could be if I so chose, but I think I indicated earlier my reasons for not doing so.  But the point I would like to make is that because I have chosen not to be part of the EnergyLink program, then I don't have access to that same pool.


MR. KAISER:  That was the point I was raising earlier.  Those of you that have spent your own money to develop your own brand out of your own funds have now got an investment in a brand.


MR. LATREILLE:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  You don't like somebody else coming along to develop an even more powerful brand that will water down your brand.


MR. LATREILLE:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  I'm sort of getting the ‑‑


MR. LATREILLE:  Absolutely, and in order to protect it, Mr. Chairman, I may have to now go back and go to my company board of directors and say to them, We need to set aside another $150,000 worth of additional funds in order just to maintain where we are today, while Enbridge under the program is being subsidized to some extent by the ratepayers.  


That leaves me in a very unfair competitive advantage.  I couldn't continuously do that on a year-to-year basis, Mr. Chairman.  I would be out of business or I would have to lay people off.


MR. KAISER:  You have to make a business decision either to market under the EnergyLink brand going forward, or to continue your own brand.  Is it Home ‑‑


MR. LATREILLE:  Holmes Heating.


MR. KAISER:  Holmes Heating, and throw some more money, because there is more branding dollars in the marketplace?


MR. LATREILLE:  Correct.


MR. GROCHMAL:  It's not just as you said, somebody with a competing brand.  The message out there is that the brand that you're competing against is superior.  It approves contractors, and the corollary to that is you're not at the same standard and that -- you know, I can compete head to head with anybody on a positive straight.  I can compete with Direct Energy even though they're 100 times my size, but trying to compete with somebody who is approving, who -- somebody I think I heard say the Good-Housekeeping-Seal-of-Approval process in this marketplace is the offensive part.


MR. KAISER:  If it didn't have the Good-Housekeeping-Seal-of-Approval aspect, you wouldn't be as concerned?


MR. GROCHMAL:  I personally might not be as concerned.


MR. KAISER:  One of the reasons for the Good-Housekeeping-Seal-of-Approval aspect to this is -- although the company was reluctant to really say this, but there was the suggestion at least that there was a quality-control problem.  There was reference to trunk slammers and other people.  Is there a quality-control problem?


MR. LUYMES:  There is an issue with that in the industry, and that issue will never go away.  Our solution to that has been - and I'm thinking of the Marketplace Distinction Program here and programs that other organizations have put out there, including the quality-assess program that TSSA has done - is to do a better job of educating the public.  


The marketplace is best served by a really well-informed, educated customer who knows what they're looking for, who knows it is important that when they're installing a new air‑conditioning system, that person has a refrigeration mechanic's licence.  Most people in the market don't know that.  


We have worked really hard to try to educate the consumer about that.  We don't want ‑‑ I guess what we're trying to avoid is that there is an automatic kind of fallback or really simple solution out there, which is if they're authorized by Enbridge, then that's all you need to look for, because it eliminates the ability of individual contractors to differentiate on their own, I guess, competitive ‑‑ competitive advantages, advantages which they invest in themselves to develop.  So that is our concern.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Let's take 15 minutes, Mr. Cass.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:50 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 4:13 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  


Before we took the break, I had been asking some questions about the mandate from the HVAC Coalition.  I just had another area to cover there before I move on.  


Mr. Luymes, I wanted to ask you, what is the mandate that you've been given by the board of directors of the HVAC Coalition?  Is it to oppose EnergyLink at all costs?  Is it to make a case for improvements?  Or is it something else?  


MR. LUYMES:  Well, the Board has instructed us to pose -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, I wonder if you could turn your microphone on.  


MR. LUYMES:  Is that better?  The instructions from our board were to oppose it in its current form.  So I think it would be fair to say that there might be some room for consideration of how the program might be improved, but we don't have any specific instructions on what those improvements should be.  Just that the program in its current form is unacceptable.  


MR. CASS:  And you didn't seek instructions from the board as to what sort of improvements might make it acceptable?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, I think there's been some reference, at least once, to something called the Industry Council, perhaps more than once.  Am I right in thinking there is something like eight contractors that are on the Industry Council that's been referred to?  


MR. LUYMES:  Subject to check, I think that's probably about right, yes. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  Of those eight contractors on the Industry Council would you also take it, subject to check, that other than Canco, Ms. McKeraghan, that they've all signed up for EnergyLink?  


MR. LUYMES:  Subject to check, yes.  I think that is fair to say.  Mel did.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Mel did, under duress, if you would.  


MR. LUYMES:  Yeah, I mean if you want editorial comment on that we can say some of the people that we know well, that I know well did sign up but all did so under protest.  In fact, some of them submitted letters to the company expressing that.  


MR. LEIS:  That would include me.  


MR. CASS:  Are you on the Industry Council, Mr. Leis? 


MR. LEIS:  No, just that people that signed up for EnergyLink, signed in letters of protest. 


MR. CASS:  So the people on the Industry Council to whom you have referred, they haven't come forward here to express a complaint about EnergyLink.  


MR. LUYMES:  To the extent that they support the HVAC Coalition, they have, yes, I would say.  


MR. CASS:  I see.  Well, have you got specific instructions from them in that regard?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  The HVAC Coalition is not accountable to the Enbridge Industry Council. 


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Can I take you now to Exhibit L26, please, that's, again, the evidence. 


MR. LUYMES:  Yes. 


MR. CASS:  As Mr. Shepherd had you confirm during Examination-in-chief, Exhibit L26 starts as at page 2 with an introduction and there are a number of pages related to an industry survey.  I believe that extends from page 3 to page 26 of Exhibit L26.  Would you be the witness responsible for that aspect of the evidence, Mr. Luymes?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, yes. 


MR. CASS:  Has all of the documentation relating to the survey been produced?  


MR. LUYMES:  I believe so.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, let me just take an example for you, if you don't mind.  


If you would turn to page 15 of Exhibit L26.  You will see there something called open-ended results detail.  


MR. LUYMES:  Right. 


MR. CASS:  I believe there are four of these areas in which open-ended results detail has been provided; right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  


MR. CASS:  And these relate back to particular parts of the survey, I believe the parts they relate back to are numbers 6, 8, 9 and 11 in the survey; right?


MR. LUYMES:  That sounds right, yes.  


MR. CASS:  So if one were to go back and look at any of those 6, 8, 9 and 11 in the survey, one would see that there is a tab there called "view."  So for example page 10, there's where you see questions 8 and 9 and for each one there is a tab called "view."  Are you with me?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes. 


MR. CASS:  That's where the open-ended results detail comes from; right?  


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  But there is a tab called view, for example, at question 3.  If you want to look at that, at page 8, and we don't have any open-ended results detail.  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  That would be, appear to be an oversight on our part.  It looks like there were 16 responses who specified some other method of contact and I guess we didn't break out that result.  


MR. CASS:  So it does appear that there are other elements of this that we haven't got here in front of us. 


MR. LUYMES:  That would be one, and I don't know the reason it's not there.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, let me just take you, then, to page 8 of Exhibit L26, this is where that item 3 appears.  


MR. LUYMES:  Hmm-hmm.  


MR. CASS:  You will see at the top, towards the top on the left-hand side, this is called a results summary.  I was wondering, if this is a result summary where is the complete set of results?  


MR. LUYMES:  Sorry, where do you see results summary? 


MR. CASS:  L26, page 8, just up towards the top on the left-hand side, results summary.  


MR. LUYMES:  This is the format of the results summary, that's correct.  Everything that follows, the results details, if you were to drop down that menu - I am just doing this from memory - using Survey Monkey, you could get individual company results, and we didn't think it is appropriate to report individual company results.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  So there is a drop-down menu beside results summary that one could click on.  What would one see to choose from there, if one looked at that drop- down menu. 


MR. LUYMES:  Sorry, the results summary would show, right now it says “Show all pages and questions.”  You could drop that down and, say, jump me down to question five or six, or whatever section you wanted to go to.   This is all on an online screen, as opposed to page format like this, so we just drop you down however far you want to go.


MR. CASS:  I just want to understand what we haven't seen.  There has been company-specific information -–MR. LUYMES:  The only thing not revealed in here other than the oversight you just mentioned, which is just that, there is no reason we have to hide whatever the reasons that contractors would say how they received the information, is individual company responses.  That's the only detail that is not shown here.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  


MR. LUYMES:  Of course we gather information on the condition of confidentiality. 


MR. CASS:  Aside from what you have gathered on the condition of confidentiality, I take it there would be no problem producing the rest of what we haven't seen here?  


MR. LUYMES:  You mean the section in question 3?  


MR. CASS:  Yes. 


MR. LUYMES:  Not a problem. 


MR. CASS:  Can the other information be provided subject to confidentiality?  


MR. LUYMES:  I don't see how that is possible, no.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, sorry, I am going to interrupt here.  My friend is asking for what individual companies answered in the survey.  This is supposed to be an anonymous survey.  So what purpose could he possibly have for having this information?  


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. Cass, why do you need the individual company data?  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, yes, it is supposed to be an anonymous survey.  That is part of the difficulty of dealing with it.  It is very hard to get at what this is all about when everything is being provided on an anonymous basis.  I don't intend to press the point.  I was simply asking whether it can be provided confidentially to the Board.  If the answer is, no, that that is a difficulty, I am not going to press it.  


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think that is their position, that they don't want to release individual company data.  Is that correct?  


MR. LUYMES:  That's our position.  I wouldn't feel comfortable releasing information that companies have provided to us when we promised them confidentiality.
MR. CASS:  Aside from that, anything else that we haven't seen can be produced?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  The – well, specifically, I mean I would have to look through to see if there are any view buttons that we didn't display.  The ones we felt obviously were important were the detailed open-ended responses, obviously we had no reason to hide those.  There is no reason to hide any of the responses in here.  The view, the detailed responses under question 3 are really just in case we didn't think of all of the methods of communications that might have -- that contractors might cite.  Obviously a number of them cited some other form of communication.  We can provide that information. 


MR. CASS:  In that answer, you referred to producing things that you thought were important.  Was there anything else you didn't produce because you thought it was important?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  Everything, every bit of information that can be released without compromising confidentiality is in this report. 


MR. CASS:  Where is question area number 1?  


MR. LUYMES:  These are actually, these numbers don't really correspond to questions.  They correspond to pages.  Page 1 would be the introduction page.  That's my understanding.


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, but the copy that I see doesn't appear that way, Mr. Luymes.  On the first page, it starts at number 2, and it has numbers 2, 3 and 4.  It does not seem to coincide with pages at all.


MR. LUYMES:  Can I look into that?


MR. CASS:  Certainly.


MR. LUYMES:  That's a good question.  My guess is that the reason for this, for starting at 2, if that is page 2, the way the survey was structured is each new set of questions came up with a new page.  Again, it is an online environment as opposed to a paper survey, so it is a little bit different.  This is just our best attempt to capture it on paper.


So I think the answer to that is that page 1 is the introductory page.


MR. CASS:  I see, but you will check into that?


MR. LUYMES:  There is no question on page 1, so there are no results to report.


MR. CASS:  Do we have the introductory page in front of us?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure if you have a copy of the...  I don't think so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could just assist Mr. Cass.  If he looks at the nature of this, the structure of this, you will see that the headings have a page number.  Page 2 is "Awareness of Customer Referral Programs", and then the questions on that page are numbered.  On that page there is only one, but, for example, you will see page 17 has more than one question, and so on.  


That is why it is split up that way.  This is not something that HVAC did.  This is how the Survey Monkey is structured.


MR. CASS:  That's fine.  I just want to be sure that we're looking at everything that HVAC was looking at.  It sounds like, at a minimum, there was an introductory page.  If we haven't got that, it sounds like there's not a difficulty producing it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No problem.


MR. CASS:  Can we have an undertaking, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J11.11.  And that is to provide the introductory page, or page 1, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Actually, it is to provide anything that is missing, other than the material that Mr. Luymes is claiming there is confidentiality over.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.11:  TO PROVIDE MISSING MATERIAL 

MR. CASS:  I just wanted to switch to a slightly different area.  I want to be sure that I understand the context of this evidence.


Now, other than Mr. Luymes, each witness has provided a witness statement as part of Exhibit L26.  I want to be sure I understand correctly, from examination-in‑chief.  Each of you, other than Mr. Luymes, who has provided a witness statement, you're speaking on your own behalf or on behalf of your company in the witness statement and not on behalf of anyone else; is that a correct characterization?


MR. LATREILLE:  That's correct.


MR. LEIS:  That's correct.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  That's correct.


MR. GROCHMAL:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  So in terms of any evidence that would be not for your individual companies but the HVAC Coalition evidence, that then, Mr. Luymes, would be the survey evidence?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Now, that survey evidence was paid for by Union Energy, wasn't it?


MR. LUYMES:  No, that's not correct.


MR. CASS:  It's not correct?


MR. LUYMES:  No.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Isn't that what was said in the response to Enbridge Gas Distribution's Interrogatory 

No. 14?


MR. LUYMES:  Enbridge -- sorry, Union Energy initially brought to our attention the survey contractor, I guess the consultant who developed the survey for us, and the initial payment was made by Union Energy, but the HVAC Coalition then paid the ‑‑ actually, I don't even think that is true.  I think we paid directly the contractor, subject to check.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, let's try to sort this out, then.  So probably the best thing would be if we went to the interrogatory response.  It's Enbridge Gas Distribution's Interrogatory No. 14, Exhibit I, tab 30, schedule 14.  


Once you're there, then I will take you to the page that I would like to look at.


Attached to that interrogatory response is a proposal.  Could you perhaps, Mr. Luymes, just explain what this proposal is that's attached.


MR. LUYMES:  This is the proposal from Synergy Marketing to prepare -- I guess our interest was in doing a survey of the industry, and rather than relying on our own faulty survey expertise, we thought we should employ the services of a surveying company who could ensure that the survey was objective, fair and could stand the test of, I guess, cross‑examination.


MR. CASS:  But that isn't here for cross‑examination, right?


MR. LUYMES:  Pardon me?


MR. CASS:  There is nobody here from this survey company ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  No.  It was our feeling that we should have some -- we didn't want to be accused of biassing the survey, so we brought in a firm who had expertise in putting together survey questions that were unbiassed, that could generate a fair kind of representative survey of the industry.  That was our interest in contracting with Synergy Marketing.


MR. CASS:  Can I take you to the last page of that document, then, please, sir?  They don't seem to be numbered, but it appears to be the fourth page.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  It appears from the last page that the parties to the document were Synergy Marketing and Union Energy; is that correct?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And just further up on that page, under "agreement", it says that the fee is $7,000 and Synergy Marketing fees will be paid by Union Energy.


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.  This is probably not the last version of the contract, because ‑‑ this is a proposal, I guess, not the contract, because if I'm not mistaken, the final amount that we paid the company was less than that.  We didn't ask them to do all aspects of the -- what they proposed.  The original proposal was to Union Energy.  


We felt it was more appropriate that the fee be paid directly by the HVAC Coalition.  So while it was initially sought out by Union Energy - Rob Jutras happens to be the chair of the HVAC Coalition - it was felt to be more appropriate to have the fees of this company paid by the HVAC Coalition, so that's what we did.


MR. CASS:  It also says here that Union Energy was to be responsible for any additional payments caused by changes in the scope of work.  Did that continue to be the case?


MR. LUYMES:  There were no additional payments beyond -- I believe the final amount that we settled on was $4,000, subject to check, but there were no additional payments, no.


MR. CASS:  I wasn't asking you if there were additional payments.  I was asking if it continued to be the case that Union Energy held the responsibility, in the event that there were any?


MR. LUYMES:  I don't think so.  I would have to see.  This is what the final contract looked like, but I don't believe that is the case.


MR. CASS:  I see.  Can you provide the final contract, then, please, sir?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J11.12:


UNDERTAKING NO. J11.12:  PROVIDE FINAL CONTRACT WITH 


SYNERGY MARKETING

MR. CASS:  Now, Mr. Luymes, quite apart from whether the ultimate amount ended up being paid by the HVAC Coalition, did it come from Union Energy?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  It came from the HVAC Coalition.


MR. CASS:  I see.  But was the funding provided by Union Energy to the HVAC Coalition?


MR. LUYMES:  You're asking whether or not Union Energy is a contributor to the HVAC Coalition.  Yes, they are.


MR. CASS:  I see.  And I take it, then, that Union Energy and HVAC Coalition must have been working together in some fashion on this survey, were they?


MR. LUYMES:  Only to the extent that Rob Jutras is an employee of Union Energy, and him having brought this to our attention, this company, and bringing them in as a potential service provider.  I would say that is the extent to which we worked with Union Energy.


MR. CASS:  I see.  Well, he at least initially had a contract drawn up that showed him signing it as a representative of Union Energy and not as the chair of the HVAC Coalition; right?


MR. LUYMES:  I think that was his initial intention.  After some initial discussion, we agreed that it would be more appropriate for the HVAC Coalition to fund this project.


MR. CASS:  Now, does Union Energy generally provide backup support to the HVAC Coalition for participation in cases before the Ontario Energy Board?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure what you mean by backup support.


MR. CASS:  Well, does it feed ideas or any other forms of assistance to the HVAC Coalition?


MR. LUYMES:  Only to the extent that they are a member, and, as chair of the HVAC Coalition, obviously Mr. Jutras has a fair degree of involvement, very active involvement.  So, yes, we welcome the involvement of Union Energy, but I wouldn't characterize it as backup support.


MR. CASS:  I see.  Well, does Union Energy feed ideas to the HVAC Coalition?


MR. LUYMES:  Feed ideas, yes, to the same extent that Ozz Corporation does and Climate Care and all of the rest of our board members.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  But in this case, Union Energy is represented of its own right; correct?


MR. LUYMES:  You mean in this proceeding?


MR. CASS:  That's correct.


MR. LUYMES:  That's right, yes.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  And does Union Energy assist the HVAC Coalition with development of arguments for OEB proceedings?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  We have no history of that.


MR. CASS:  No history at all?


MR. LUYMES:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, as the Board will be aware, nobody assists my clients with the development of arguments except the clients and me.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, also provided in response to an interrogatory from Enbridge Gas Distribution were some letters written to the Board.  You will see those at Enbridge Gas Distribution Interrogatory No. 10.  That's Exhibit I, tab 30, schedule 10.  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  The first of these letters dated August 1st, 2006 was written by you, Ms. McKeraghan.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  It was.  


MR. CASS:  And the second letter, dated October 24th, 2006, was written by you, Mr. Latreille. 


MR. LATREILLE:  That is correct.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, it may just be me, but I couldn't discern any difference in the writing style of these letters.  Who actually wrote the letters?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I did write the first letter with assistance from staff.  As it was a letter that was printed on HRAC letterhead, it does have to have approval, if you would, in terms of the writing material that's there.  So that did get -- that was written with the assistance of the staff.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Who is staff?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Martin assisted with that, as well as Mr. Healy, who is the president of HRAI.  


MR. CASS:  How was a mandate obtained from HRAC to write these letters?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  If I could respond to that.  That was as a result of several meetings that were held.  As Mr. Luymes indicated earlier, there has been some concern expressed through the Ontario Regional Council, through the large contractor group that we have that met, and it was felt that rather than wait, because of the speed at which the EnergyLink process was being pushed forward, we felt it would be advantageous to alert the Board that we did have some concerns about the upcoming program. So that was the intent behind the initial letter, was to, if you would, give a heads-up and ask whether or not it might be appropriate to deal with this outside of the hearing or whether it would be appropriate to hear it within the hearing. 


MR. CASS:  All right.  But it's clear, I take it, Ms. McKeraghan, that the letters were written before the survey of the HRAC members had been done; right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  The date, yes, on this letter is August 1st.  And the survey I believe was either October or November as it shows in the survey results.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Am I right in thinking that the letter of complaint was sent out to all of your members?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes it was.  Mr. Luymes could report on that.  From the standpoint that we had -- my understanding is, and Mr. Luymes can certainly confirm this, I certainly did have a number of phone calls from contractors saying:  We've heard about this.  We've got some concerns.  Can you tell us what's happening?  Are we going to do anything about it?  


I know that the HRAC office had a number of calls from contractors asking, you know:  What should we do?  Should we do this?  Should we not do it?  What do you think should happen?  


As I say, at the insistence, if you would, of the Ontario Regional Council, as well as the Council of Large National Contractors, it was determined that this letter should at least be written and in order to fill our members in so that we weren't doing a call after a call after a call, we would let them know in the meantime, this is what we have done, is that we have at least initiated a letter to the Energy Board.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  So my question -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, let me just interrupt Mr. Cass for a minute.  I didn't hear the witnesses say at any time this was a letter of complaint.  


MR. LUYMES:  I was going to ask to clarify that as well.  Initially, the August 1st letter came on the heels of discussions that we had with Enbridge where we felt that the outcome was, you know, there was no change in the program.  It was full steam ahead.  


We didn't really know, at that stage, how to proceed.  So we threw ourselves at the Board and said:  Please help us to figure out how we should deal with this.  


It was not filed as a complaint.  It was simply:  These are some concerns that we have, based on the input we received from numerous members.  I want to just clarify or reiterate, I guess, what Ms. McKeraghan said about communicating with our members.  


The HRAC at the time was being pressed by many of our members to ask, what's our position on this?  Are we in favour of it?  They were aware we were having some discussions.  And we said, well, probably the simplest, most convenient way of informing our members about a position, if you want to call it that, although I don't think the letter expresses kind of a final position, if you want to call it that, was to submit or share that letter with the industry.  That was the first communication we had with the industry on that matter.  


This was you know partly what we were dealing with was Enbridge employees meeting with members across the territory.  I don't know the number of channel reps that were doing this, but it was -- I think it was more than ten.  Certainly we're hearing from a lot of contractors they had personal meetings and there were group meetings being held.  So there was quite an aggressive communication campaign being conducted by the utility.  


And our members saw nothing coming from the association.  And we thought we should share this with them as a way of at least showing them that we had expressed our concerns to the Board.  


The second letter, just to follow up, was filed because we had no response from the Board after a considerable period of time.  


MR. CASS:  So I had just attempted to confirm that the letters were sent to your members and the answer to that, then, is yes?  


MR. LUYMES:  I think only the first one was.  I'm not sure that the second one was, subjects to check.  I think the first one was. 


MR. LATREILLE:  First one definitely, yes. 


MR. LUYMES:  But the second one, I don't know if we shared that one with the members. 


MR. CASS:  What about the OEB's response?  It was not sent to your members?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  I don't think so.  


MR. CASS:  In the first letter that you wrote, Ms. McKeraghan, as I think you have indicated here, you state that the HVAC industry is a highly competitive industry.  Right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  And an element of that would be, I take it -- correct me if I'm wrong -- in a highly competitive industry, there would be strong competition on price.  Is that fair?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  And strong competition on price, I take it, you would agree with me, is good for consumers; right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  It is, if there is relative value for the price.  


MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  Now, take a situation where, I think this would apply in your case, Ms. McKeraghan, you're on locator service or Canco is on a locator service for a particular product manufacturer.  


When you and others are identified to a customer on this locator service for a particular type of equipment from a manufacturer, how do you differentiate your company to the customer?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  A number of other manufacturers have what we call territorial geographical areas in which we operate.  And so that may impact whether or not there are a number of contractors that might be operating within that same geographical area.  


We do have an opportunity at that point to go out to that homeowner -- and by the way, what we do say to any customer that calls is:  You should get three quotes in writing.  I hope that they're going to choose us, maybe we're not the best company for them.  There might be another company that has services that better suit that particular client.  


But we're giving that option to the customer.  So I have an opportunity to go out as, for instance, a Coleman dealer or as an Aprilaire dealer to go out and put forward our products.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  By "out" you mean to the customers' location?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes. 


MR. CASS:  And the sale is made in the home, isn't it?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Occasionally it is made in the home.  It is finalized, generally, in the home.  We do not finalize anything without an on-site visit. 


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  In the circumstance where I described where someone went on to these manufacturer’s locators and got the name of several providers, including Canco, your company would be able to go to the home and attempt to make that sale opposite the others who also have appeared on the locator; right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  It's a competitive market, as you indicated.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  Thank you.  Can we come back, then, to the survey.  Sorry that was a bit of a digression, but if you don't mind.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Are you addressing this to me?  


MR. CASS:  It is probably going to be Mr. Luymes because there will be some questions about the survey.  So the survey results or summary results start on page 8.  Just by way of background, am I right in saying that the survey was conducted between November 1st and 15th of 2006?  


MR. LUYMES:  I think that is right.  


MR. CASS:  Subject to the difficulty I was having with the numbers, there are question areas from 2 to 17 that were put to the people who received the survey, some of which had –- perhaps not.  I was going to say sub-questions, but they're question -- areas 2 to 17, and each contractor was asked to answer all of those questions?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, all of them except that in some cases they would skip to other questions, depending on how they responded to an earlier question.  Some of them you will see the total number of responses is lower.  For example:

~"If you are aware of the Enbridge Gas Distribution EnergyLink program, please indicate how you learned about the program."


The total response is ‑‑ sorry, no, that's not a good example.  If you signed on -- I think one of them said if you signed on, then please respond to the next question.  Others would have skipped it.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, I'm not ‑‑ I just want to be sure I understand how this would work.  So the contractors would receive this by e‑mail.  All they would have to do was open the e‑mail, answer the questions and e‑mail back; is that how it worked?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  Upon completion, it automatically records the results in a website.


MR. CASS:  All right.  So I was correct, except for e‑mailing back?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  They receive it by e‑mail?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct, yes, the invitation.


MR. CASS:  All right.  And I think you indicated that all of the 269 contractors had the e‑mail capability to do that?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  But out of the 269 contractors, you only got 93 responses; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  Indeed, contractors were reminded on November 10th about the survey?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And we can see that in response to Direct Energy's Interrogatory No. 10.  So that is Exhibit I, tab 36, schedule 10.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  So it appears to me that what was sent to the contractors is the second page of the attachment to that interrogatory.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  That looks right, yes.


MR. CASS:  So in the third paragraph, we see that they were -- if they hadn't completed the survey, they were urged to do so; correct?


MR. LUYMES:  Correct. 


MR. CASS:  And you indicated that the hope was to use the results to guide discussions with the utility and the Ontario Energy Board; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  So even before getting the survey results, you knew that you were going to be coming to the Ontario Energy Board; is that right?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  And despite your urging of the contractors, your response rate was something under 32 percent; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I would suggest to you, Mr. Luymes, that this does not indicate a high level of concern about the issues addressed in the survey, that sort of response rate.


MR. LUYMES:  I wouldn't agree with that.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Do you have any statistical analysis regarding the response rate and the reliability of the rate of response that you got?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  And I'm not a survey expert, but I think a response rate of that sort is generally considered representative.  So we can assume that the balance of the non‑respondents would agree along the same lines and it would be -- the spread of responses would be roughly the same.


MR. CASS:  But the percentage that didn't take the effort to respond in a fashion that we have already described was something over 68 percent?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And there was no attempt to survey contractors who do not belong to HRAC?


MR. LUYMES:  No.


MR. CASS:  So if, based on what we discussed earlier, the number of HVAC contractors in Enbridge Gas Distribution's franchise area was in the order of, say, 2,000, the 93 that you heard from would be less than 5 percent; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Well, I guess that is right if those numbers are correct.  I'm not sure 2,000 is the correct number.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, can you provide me with a better number?


MR. LUYMES:  We suggested earlier maybe it was more like 1,500.


MR. CASS:  Are you able to provide me with a better number?


MR. LUYMES:  No.


MR. CASS:  Now, there is nothing in the material provided to us to indicate the position or title of the people who responded to the survey.  Now, I understand that you have some confidential information that we haven't seen.  How are we to know whether the answers were provided by people with authority and knowledge, or just whoever happened to receive the e‑mail in each office?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, that's a good question.  We don't have absolute certainty, but HRAC's approach to collecting information from members, contact information, is every company in the database for HRAC has a delegate.  That delegate is usually the owner of the company or the general manager, and that's the person who would provide us with their phone number, their fax number and their e‑mail address.


So unless the principals of these companies are providing e‑mails that belong to somebody else, which is possible, I suppose, we're pretty confident the e‑mail addresses that we have belong to those principal decision makers in those companies.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, do you have anything in writing that we haven't seen to confirm for us who the respondents actually were in terms of positions of authority with the companies that you sent the survey to?


MR. LUYMES:  No.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  Can I take you back, then, to page 8 of Exhibit L26.


MR. LUYMES:  I'm there.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  That was very quick.  The item number 2, which starts the survey as we see it here, is "awareness of customer referral programs".  The question is:

~"Before today, had you ever heard of the following customer referral programs?"


The first one referred to is the HRAC Marketplace Distinction Program.  That's the HRAC referral program that's been discussed already by this panel?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  All right.  And those who had heard of the HRAC program out of your respondents were only 63 percent; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And I want to be very clear about this.  This is not customers who are responding.  This is your own members, HRAC members.  


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  And out of your own members, roughly 37 percent had not heard of your own program?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  Well, at least if I could qualify that.  One of the things we heard subsequently from some contractors is that they are not in the habit of calling it the Marketplace Distinction Program, that perhaps if we labelled it the Contractor Locator, or something else -- that terminology, which we assumed that they knew, not all of our members are familiar with that terminology.


MR. CASS:  Well, are you telling me these survey results are reliable the way they appear, or not?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, they are.  I'm not disqualifying the response.  I'm just saying that I guess I'm providing an explanation of maybe why that recognition rate was lower than ‑‑


MR. CASS:  But whatever explanations you have heard, there is a sizable part of your membership that apparently has not even heard of your own program?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right, that's right.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Could I perhaps respond to that?


MR. CASS:  Well, I'm not ‑‑ I think I have an answer to my question, so, no, I'm not ‑‑


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Just from the standpoint that our MDP program, if you would, has an extremely limited budget and we do some marketing.  One of the things that we do choose to spend that money on is we do News Canada articles on, you know, Why should I hire a qualified contractor?  


We use the very minimal dollars that we have.  We have a call centre.  We have the website.  So we don't have an unlimited budget in which to go out and knock door to door on our behalf.  


However, if I may wear another hat for a moment, last year ‑‑ the last two years, as chair of HRAC, I did visit a number of chapters throughout the province and talked to the contractors about the MDP program and how they might be able to use that to their advantage.  We did get a very positive response from our members with respect to that.


So I would say a lot of this has to do with just staff, timing ability and budgeting processes.


MR. CASS:  Well, thank you, Ms. McKeraghan, but can we be perfectly clear here?  When you talk about a limited budget, all we're talking about here is making your own members aware of the HRAC program, not the general public; correct?


MR. LUYMES:  Mr. Cass, if I can just respond.


MR. CASS:  Can I have an answer to that question first?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes, I agree.  Also from the standpoint that our membership has grown tremendously in the last few years, we have gone from a reasonable membership to a very large membership, particularly within the province of Ontario, and so a number of those members not be -- may be as aware of it as some of our long‑term members might be.


MR. CASS:  Sorry, go ahead.


MR. LUYMES:  I was just going to say, as a person responsible for HRAC, I was a little bit distressed to see that number as low as it was.  Having said that, I think it is also important to note that we do not sell HRAC membership on the basis of access to leads or the MDP.  It is a very minor, ancillary benefit of membership.  


People join the association for a multitude of other reasons.  For some, marketing support is not important to them, at all.  So it doesn't really -- you know, I mean, for example, the ORAC membership that you referred to earlier, that is roughly 80 commercial contractors.  They derive very -- at the moment, very little benefit from the MDP, which is primarily residentially-oriented programs.


So there are a number of our members -- I wish they were all fully aware and fully aware of the benefits.  Every now and then, we will sit down with a member and they will be surprised to find out how many referrals they have received because I mean our referrals we don't track the way that EnergyLink proposes to do in terms of you know actually documenting the number of leads.  However, we can document the number of contractor searches – sorry, homeowner searches on the website.  And contractors, occasionally, when they hear, you know, they might pose a question, what have you done for me lately?  We will see how about we look at how many times homeowners have seen your listing on our website.  We can look that up.  


In some cases they're astounded to find out what kind of visibility they have had on the sight.  So there is a low level of awareness.  We don't have an aggressive marketing campaign to our own members.  It is not the main basis on which we go out to the marketplace to promote HRAC membership.  So in that context, I guess, I would say that the 63 percent awareness rate maybe isn't all that surprising.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, you say it is a minor ancillary benefit for your members.  Mr. Latreille, you say you're getting thousands of leads from this MDP, don't you?  


MR. LATREILLE:  No.  What I said, Mr. Cass, is that I have received about 2,000 hits on our own website since the inception of the program in 2003.  So for Holmes Heating it has been an extremely good tool and I make use of the MDP program any time I can.  


MR. CASS:  So is it a minor ancillary benefit for you?  


MR. LATREILLE:  Would I say it was a major form of my leads in the Ottawa region; no, I wouldn't say that.  I would say:  Does it contribute a few good product sales and that type of thing; yes, I would.  Absolutely it does. 


MR. CASS:  Now, these 2,000 that you have referred to, are these what one might call click-throughs from the website for the MDP?  


MR. LATREILLE:  I would call them hits where a client has been referred to the Holmes Heating website.  They go into it and if they would like to receive a quotation, our website is user friendly, they provide a minimum of information to us, and those leads are then generated into the sales department.  


And of the total, we had received -- out of the 2,000 hits that we had, we have received 803 requests for quotation, either through e-mail where a customer wanted something done, just a ballpark estimate and we'll get back to you, or actually requested that one of our sales consultants would contact them and book a sales visit to their home.  Of that total, as best as we could find out from our records, we had 326 product sales and they were mostly furnaces and air conditioners.  


Now, on a regular annual basis, Holmes Heating installs in excess of about a thousand furnaces and air-conditioning per year.  So over that time frame, is it a large portion of our sales?  No.  Not considerably large.  But is it important enough?  Yes, it is.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, more than a third of your members, according to this survey, had not even heard of the MDP, right, Mr. Latreille? 


MR. LATREILLE:  According to the results, sir, yes. 


MR. CASS:  For those of them who haven't heard of it, it is pretty hard for them to even attempt to qualify, isn't it? 


MR. LATREILLE:  Qualify for what, sir? 


MR. CASS:  If they haven't heard of the MDP it is going to be hard for them to even attempt to qualify; right?  


MR. LATREILLE:  No.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I don't understand what you're asking about qualifying.  


MR. LUYMES:  All of our members in the program. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  All of our members are part of the MDP.  They have pre-qualified, if you would, with their membership criteria, their membership certifications, their licences, their insurances.  


It's, as we've said, the MDP program is not particularly why you would join HRAC.  You join it for the educational programs, for the discounts on member services, for the regulatory information that you get.  That's why you sign, if you would, and the MDP is just a side benefit.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, my point is that this can hardly be an equitable distribution of leads if Mr. Latreille, you're getting 2,000 leads from this market distinction program and over a third of your members haven't even heard of it.  


MR. LUYMES:  Mr. Cass, may I respond.  A third of our members who aren't aware of the program, that does not mean they're not receiving benefits.  There is no additional sign-on process.  You become a member of HRAC, you receive benefits from the MDP program, whether you're aggressively making it part of your marketing efforts or not.  


Your name will be listed on our website.  With all of the various types of services that are provided.  Homeowners or customers who come to the site may or may not choose your company and you may or may not be aware that the business is coming to your company as a result of being a HRAC member.  That’s what I meant earlier by the level of awareness.  It can be relatively low for some of our members because they may not be asking the question of a customer, you know, How did you come to know about my company?  But it could very well be the reason for the phone call is they found that contractor on our website.  We don't track that.  We don't -- I will tell you why.  We asked our members, our board of directors whether that was something that was important to them.  They said, no, it's not.  


I didn’t think of this when the question was asked earlier whether or not the industry would pay for these leads.  I suspect based on our own experience with our program, the answer is no, because we set a budget annually for the MDP program and it is a pretty modest budget.  Our board says, that's a fair amount to expend on a program like this.  If our members were clamouring for a system that generated leads for them, they probably would agree to pay substantially more.  We feel it is stretching it.  We get the support of our manufacturer members and wholesalers and even have had the support of Enbridge in paying for the MDP program.  The contractors have said it is not an important enough priority for us that we would spend a lot of our member dollars to support this program.  It's, as I said earlier, an ancillary benefit of being a member.  


Our association requirements were what came first.  We didn't establish a membership policy for the purpose of generating leads.  It was a nice kind of benefit, follow-up benefit.  We established a policy for sorting out contractors based on what we thought to be, what our board, I should say, thought to be appropriate minimum standards for contractors who want to be active in the HVAC industry.  It's a heavily regulated industry.  Many of the regulations that affect contractors aren't enforced so we thought, well, as an association, we can at the very least make sure that our members have qualified refrigeration mechanics, gas technicians, WSIB insurance and so on, so that when we represent ourselves to the government, we can be a credible body of contractors.  That was the reason for our membership criteria.  It wasn't for purposes of developing a leads program.  


But the leads program followed, because organizations, Enbridge being one of them, came to us at one stage and said, and actually I should add utilities around the country have come to the association and said:  We understand that your organization pre-qualifies members.  We think there is an important information gap among consumers and we think that this would be helpful.  So a number of consumers organizations and utilities around the country have said, We'll default to the HRAC because you're at least pre-qualifying your members.  So that's kind of the basis for it.  The industry -- I guess the marketplace kind of asked for it, we responded because we had this membership policy in place.  This was never devised as kind of an aggressive marketing campaign.  So again, you know, your question was about the low level of awareness.  That means -- all that really means is 37 percent of our members are getting a benefit that they're not even aware of, and still they choose to be members. 


MR. CASS:  Well, my question was about equitable distribution of leads.  There is no -- 


MR. LUYMES:  There is no -- 


MR. CASS:  If I could just ask my question.  I heard you say you don't track.  So I take it you have no tracking system to see that there is an equitable distribution of leads?  


MR. LUYMES:  We monitor – sorry, we track -- track isn't the right term.  We record the number of impressions that every contractor would receive.  But the control, if you want to call it that, over who gets what is entirely 100 percent in the hands of the customer.  When a customer comes to our website, if they want to look at five contractors, ten or 20, those are the three options.  Some people want to do a wide search some people want to do a narrow search.  They might want to do the search several times over.  The number of impressions that they view is entirely at their discretion. 


Who they follow up with, who they click through to, to go to, whether Holmes Heating in Ottawa or any one of Mike's competitors is entirely up to the customer.  They make the decision to follow through, and obviously the decision to make a follow-up phone call is entirely at the discretion of the customer.  We don't determine who of the contractors gets selected.  It is entirely in the hands of the visitor to the website.  


So in terms of equity, you know, the distribution of leads, I would suggest that if you want to call them leads, although I use that term advisedly, is not based on any mechanism that we have devised.  It is primarily based on, I would suggest, the greatest number of, amount of business that we've seen on the website has been in the Enbridge franchise area and it's been around time periods when Enbridge was promoting one of its high-efficiency furnace programs, rebate program where they directed homeowners that came to the Enbridge website to go to the HRAC website to find a qualified contractor.  


Whenever that has happened, we see a spike in activity on the website.  So the contractors presumably that are in the Enbridge franchise area, within our membership area, have seen a disproportionate number of leads come their way.  


MR. CASS:  Well, whether you call them leads or referrals whatever you want to call them, if Mr. Latreille is getting 2,000 and there is in the order of a third of your members who apparently don't know that they're getting any leads because they're not aware of the program, would you call that an equitable distribution?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, I think I just explained the ‑‑ there is no -- we don't have a mechanism that we put in place to determine who gets what.  So it's responding to the marketplace.  


So if the marketplace -- if some contractors are getting more business than others, there's two things that have an effect, obviously.  It's where is their marketing going on to drive business to the website, and I guess we have some control over that, because, as Ms. McKeraghan said earlier, how we try to get business, how we try to attract interest is primarily through services like News Canada, where we place advertorials out through News Canada.


Newspaper articles appear around the country, and the pay-off message is always:  You're looking for a qualified contractor.  Here is where you can go to find one.  


The story will always be something around buying an energy efficient product or making sure your equipment is tuned up once a year, that sort of thing.  


The pay-off, though, is, If you do nothing else, make sure you use a qualified contractor, and here is the help we can provide.  Go to this website or go to this call centre.


Who they choose, we can't determine.  So there is no way that we can determine or ensure that Mike's going to get more or less than his competitor.  So one factor is the limited bit of marketing we do.  As I said, we get spikes in activity whenever Enbridge does some promotion.


The other factor is whether or not the company that is listed on our website has a website or not.  We have always suggested to our members if they don't have a website, they're probably missing opportunities.  Their company may be listed.  They may be listed and viewed by a home owner, but if that home owner is looking for more information and wants to go to a website and they don't have one, they're probably missing an opportunity.


MR. CASS:  So, Mr. Latreille, you're the chair of HRAC, are you?


MR. LATREILLE:  That is correct.


MR. CASS:  So what is your incentive as the chair of HRAC to get out there and see that the sizable proportion of the membership that is not aware of the program can realize the type of benefits that you're seeing from it?


MR. LATREILLE:  Well, I guess the best way of answering that is that when we have our HRAC board of directors meetings, we always review the Marketplace Distinction Program, always look for ways to enhance it and make it better and make it more accessible to people.


And, obviously, based on the results of the survey, then we at our next meeting will have to deal with this issue and perhaps many of the ‑‑ many of our new contractors that have just signed on, as Ms. McKeraghan had indicated, may not be fully aware of what the Marketplace Distinction Program is. 


So we have a little bit of a job to do in getting back to our membership and saying, you know, We just want to remind you what the Marketplace Distinction Program is all about.  So I would agree with that.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Just by way of one final question in this area, you can confirm for me that the results here indicate that more of your members knew about manufacturer dealer locators than knew about the market Distinction Program; right?


MR. LUYMES:  I would confirm that, yes.


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, how much more do you have?


MR. CASS:  I still have a considerable amount, Mr. Chair.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, I think the reporters have been going long enough.  What's our scheduling, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, there are two issues.  One is Mr. Grochmal is on a plane, I think, either tonight or tomorrow morning, first thing, and so he is not available tomorrow morning.  


The second is I believe we have scheduled Mr. Booth, the expert on equity thickness, as a date certain tomorrow morning.  So I am in your hands.


MR. KAISER:  Could these witnesses come back tomorrow afternoon?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think the other four are able to come back tomorrow afternoon, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Well, that sounds to me like that is what we will have to do.  Mr. Matthews, you have some questions for these witnesses, I assume?


MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes, we do, Mr. Chair, and our counsel will be available tomorrow.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Gentlemen, ladies, let's proceed on that basis.  We will start up at 9:30 tomorrow morning with Dr. Booth.


MR. LATREILLE:  Mr. Chair, excuse me.  Do we have any idea what time we would be coming back?  I have a train booked back to Ottawa tomorrow at 3:30 in the afternoon.  Would it be early afternoon, sir?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think you have to re-book that.


MR. KAISER:  Will we likely get through Dr. Booth in the morning?


MR. CASS:  I think so, sir.


MR. KAISER:  I would have thought so.


MR. CASS:  I believe I am the main cross-examiner, and I wouldn't expect to be more than an hour to an hour and a half.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there is also the bill inserts issue, but that may be pushed to March 1st.  I'm not sure what the intention is there.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have questions for this panel on bill inserts?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Let's see if we can fit them in.  We don't want to bring this panel back, if we can avoid it, so we will sit late tomorrow, if we have to, unless ‑‑ to accommodate the witnesses, we may want to ‑‑ see if you can get a 6 o'clock train.


MR. LATREILLE:  Not a problem, Mr. Chair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can I ask one other thing?  The normal rule is that I cannot talk to my witnesses during the cross‑examination.  I do have some other things that I wish to talk to them about, not about this.  Unless Mr. Cass objects, I would like to be able to have dinner with them and talk about those things.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  No objection, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  9:30 tomorrow.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:09 p.m.
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